Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Agenda
Place

To Be Held Remotely

Date

Wednesday, 30 June 2021

Time

7:00 PM
This meeting is open to the press and public and they are
entitled to take photographs, film or record the proceedings.

Councillors
Chris Lloyd (Chair)
John Fahy (Vice-Chair)
Mark James
Clive Mardner
Gary Parker
David Stanley
Ivis Williams
Nigel Fletcher
Matt Hartley

Labour
Labour
Labour
Labour
Labour
Labour
Labour
Conservative
Conservative

Education
Representatives
Monsignor Rothon
Pauline Sheath

Roman Catholic
Representative
Church of England
Representative

Members are reminded that officer contacts are shown at the end of each
report and they are welcome to raise questions in advance with the
appropriate officer. This does not prevent further questioning at the meeting.
If you require further information about this meeting please contact the
Head of Corporate Governance and Democratic Services:
Veronica Johnson
Telephone: 020 8921 5004
Email: corporate-governance@royalgreenwich.gov.uk
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Agenda
1

Apologies for Absence
To receive apologies from Members of the Committee.

2

Urgent business
The Chair to announce any items of urgent business circulated
separately from the main agenda.

3

Declarations of Interest
Members to declare any personal and financial interests in
items on the agenda. Attention is drawn to the Council’s
Constitution; the Council’s Code of Conduct and associated
advice.

4

Minutes
Members are requested to confirm as an accurate record the
Minutes of the meeting held on 19 April 2021.
No motion or discussion may take place upon the Minutes
except as to their accuracy, and any question on this point will
be determined by a majority of the Members of the body
attending who were present when the matter in question was
decided. Once confirmed, with or without amendment, the
person presiding will sign the Minutes.

5

Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL) Annual
Performance 2021
To note the Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL) Annual
Performance 2021 report.

6

GS Plus Ltd and GSS Ltd – Annual Report 2019/20 and
Interim Report 2020/21
To note the Annual Report and Audited Accounts 2019/20 and
Interim Report 2020/21 for the Council’s wholly owned
companies: –
i)
Greenwich Service Solutions Ltd (GSS); ii) GS Plus Ltd
(GSP); and note the contents of this report outlining the
transformation activities and the response of the companies to
the Covid-19 pandemic and the updated timescale for the
transformation agreed by Cabinet on 20 December 2020.
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Date of Issue
Tuesday, 22
June 2021

7

Review by the Community Safety & Environment
Scrutiny Panel – Royal Borough of Greenwich’s CCTV
Services
To endorse the recommendations arising from the Review by
the Community Safety & Environment Scrutiny Panel (listed
below at Section 8); and agree that the Review report and its
recommendations be submitted to the Chief Executive.

8

Safer Neighbourhood Panels Review Report
To endorse the recommendations arising from the Review by
the Community Safety & Environment Scrutiny Panel (listed
below at Section 5); and agree that the Review report and its
recommendations be submitted to the Chief Officer of Police
of their crime and disorder functions.

9

Forward Plan Report
To note the upcoming executive decisions set out in the
Forward Plan for the period June 2021 – September 2021, as
set out at Appendix 1, and to determine any items for scrutiny.

Debbie Warren
Chief Executive
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Filming and Recording Meetings
This meeting may be photographed (without the use of flash), filmed or audio
recorded, except where the public is excluded because confidential or exempt
items will be discussed. Any footage is likely to be publicly available.
By entering the room where the meeting is being held, you will be deemed to
have consented to being photographed, filmed or audio recorded, and that will
apply to any representation you make to the meeting. You will also be deemed to
have consented to the possible public use of any images and sound recordings.
If you have any queries regarding the recording of meetings, please contact the
Corporate Governance Manager on 020 8921 5134
Safety

Fire and Emergency Procedures

Users of the Committee Rooms and the Council Chamber are asked to note the
following fire and emergency procedures:When you hear the continuous ringing of the fire alarm bells, please make your
way out of the building in an orderly manner. The nearest exit from the Council
Chamber and the Committee Rooms is through the main exit leading to
Wellington Street (at the front of the building). Do not use the lift and do not
stop to collect personal belongings. Once outside the Town Hall please make
your way to the Assembly Point between Sainsbury’s and The Vista via Market
Street or Polytechnic Street
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OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
TITLE
Declarations of Interests
CHIEF OFFICER
Chief Executive
1.

ITEM NO:
3

Decisions Required
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is requested to:

1.1

Note the list of Councillors’ memberships (as Council appointed
representatives) on outside bodies, joint committees and school governing
bodies.

1.2

Request that Members orally declare any personal or financial interests,
including those detailed, in specific items listed on the agenda as they relate to
matters under discussion.

2.

Members’ Interests

2.1

Appended to this report is a list of the outside bodies, joint committees and
school governing bodies that each member of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee has been appointed to by the Council or the Leader. The list
does not include bodies with which a Member is involved in a personal or
private capacity.
Personal interests

2.2

A Member has a personal interest where any business is likely to affect:
(a)

them, or

(b)

a relevant person or a relevant body (where the Member is aware that
they have the interest);

more than a majority of those in the ward you represent.

ITEM NO: 3
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A relevant person is defined as the member’s spouse or civil partner, a
person who they are living with as husband and wife or as civil partners, or a
person with whom they have a close association.1
A relevant body is defined as (a) any organisation, school governing body or
outside committee or trust which they have been appointed to by the Royal
Borough or by the Leader, or (b) any other voluntary organisation, school
governing body or commercial organisation where you are a management
committee member, school governor, trustee or director.
2.3

Members must declare the existence and nature of any personal interest at
the start of the meeting, or when the interest becomes apparent. Members
must say which item their interest relates to.

2.4

A Member who has a personal interest may stay, speak and vote, except
where the business:
(a)

affects the financial position of the Member or any person or body
described in paragraph 2.2 above, or

(b)

relates to an interest that would be affected financially or relates to the
determining to any approval, consent, licence, permission or
registration in relation to the Member or any person or body described
in paragraph 2.2 above

Financial Interests
2.5

A Member has a financial interest where any business relates to or is likely to
affect an interest set out in paragraph 18 of the Code of Conduct, and which
is the Member’s interest or the interest of a person described in paragraph
2.2(a) above.

2.6

Members must declare the existence and nature of any financial interest at
the start of the meeting, or when the interest becomes apparent. Members
must say which item their interest relates to.

2.7

A Member who has a financial interest must leave the meeting, but may
attend to make representations, answer questions or give evidence relating to
the business, provided that the public are also allowed to attend the meeting
for the same purpose, and provided they leave the meeting immediately after
doing so. The Member must not participate in the discussion nor the vote.

1

See the guidance in Annex 1of the Code of Conduct
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General
2.8

The Code also requires Members to declare interests in relation to relevant
bodies for six months after ceasing from being a member and take the
appropriate action in relation to financial interests.

Background Papers
Agenda and Minutes of the Annual Meeting of the Council – 19 May 2021

Report Author:
Tel:
Email:
Reporting to:
Tel:
Email:

Veronica Johnson – Head of Corporate Governance and
Democratic Services
020 8921 5004
veronica.johnson@royalgreenwich.gov.uk
Stuart Godfrey – Assistant Director, Communications and
Democratic Services
020 8921 5124
stuart.godfrey@royalgreenwich.gov.uk

ITEM NO: 3
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Councillor
Fahy
Fletcher, N
Hartley
James, M
Lloyd
Mardner
Parker
Stanley
Williams, I

Organisation
Greenwich Co-operative Development Agency
Learning Disability Partnership
Greenwich Theatre Board
London City Airport Consultative Committee
Overview & Scrutiny Joint Health Committee
Middle Park Community Centre
Overview & Scrutiny Joint Health Committee
Overview & Scrutiny Joint Health Committee
Charlton Triangle Homes
Royal Greenwich Heritage Trust
Greenwich Theatre Board
Long Lane Football Club - Board
Walpole Estate Management Board

Role
Member
Member
Member
Deputy
Deputy
Member
Member
Member

Governorship

Ealdham Primary School

Abbey Wood Nursery School
St Pauls Academy
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
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Kidbrooke Park Primary School
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ROYAL BOROUGH OF GREENWICH
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
MONDAY 19 APRIL 2021 AT 7 PM
MINUTES
Present:
Members:
Councillor Chris Lloyd (Chair), Councillor John Fahy (Vice-Chair), Councillors Mark
James, Clive Mardner, Gary Parker, David Stanley, Nigel Fletcher and Matt Hartley.
Officers:
Chief Executive; Director of Finance; Director of Legal Services; Director of
Children’s Services; Director of Regeneration, Enterprise & Skills; Director, Health
& Adults; Director Housing & Safer Communities; Director of Improvement;
Scrutiny Manager.
Under Standing Orders:
Councillor Danny Thorpe, Leader of the Council
Councillor Linda Perks. Cabinet Member for Finance & Resources and Vaccination
Programme Lead.
1.

Apologies
Apologies for absence were received for Councillor Ivis Williams.
Apologies for leaving early were received from Councillor Matt Hartley.

2.

Urgent Business
There was no urgent business.

3.

Declarations of Interest
Resolved –
That the list of Councillors’ memberships as Council appointed
representatives on outside bodies, joint committees and school governing
bodies be noted.
1
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4.

Minutes of previous meetings
Resolved –
That the minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
held on 01 March 2021 be agreed and signed as a true and accurate record.

5.

Update on the impact that COVID-19 is having upon the Royal
Borough of Greenwich
The item was presented by Councillor Danny Thorpe, Leader of the Council
who stated that the Covid-19 response in Greenwich had been a true
partnership approach and thanked all those involved. He provided an update
on the Vaccination Programme in Greenwich thanking Councillor Linda
Perks, Cabinet Lead on vaccinations and volunteers at vaccination clinics. He
highlighted elements of the report:
Staffing – There was ongoing work with teams across the council and trade
unions around the working arrangements moving forward.
Health & Adults – The Royal Borough of Greenwich was the top performing
local authority in London for lateral flow testing and had piloted numerous
mass testing centres. The Greenwich vaccination response also secured the
most suitable model which included vaccinations at local community hubs and
a vaccination bus.
Children’s Services – Attendance at schools has generally been better than
the London average with 90% attendance in Greenwich schools at the
week ending the 26th March 2021. There is a need to keep an eye on the
hidden effects of Covid including the increase in Multi Agency Safeguarding
Hub referrals.
Communities & Environment - Some waste collections and bulky waste
collections had been affected by staff sickness and self-isolation. Parks,
libraries and leisure facilities had been reopened with no issues.
Finance – Future challenges around poverty was expected due to the
increased economic inactivity rate and increases in Universal Credit
applications.
Housing and Safer Communities – new issues were arising as a result of the
increased number of people working from home increasing the demand for
housing services. There has been increased digital engagement with residents,
elements of which will become a mainstay moving forward.
2
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Regeneration, Enterprise and Skills – the business team have launched The
Hospitality Recovery Grant which acted as a lifeline for businesses enabling
them to open safely.
In response to questions on staffing:
The Director of Regeneration, Enterprise and Skills confirmed that DRES
sickness levels had been impacted by staff with long health issues not directly
related to Covid.
The Chief Executive confirmed that staff were receiving support and flexibility
targeted to their individual circumstances and highlighted the work around
health and safety work and PPE.
The Leader of the Council highlighted the Royal Borough of Greenwich’s
track record of funding the local voluntary sector which enabled the
effectiveness of the community hub throughout the pandemic.
In response to questions on health and adults:
The Director of Health & Adult Services highlighted the success of the Local
Contact Tracing Function which was a corporate effort across the council
adding that its sustainability was dependant on the level of infections. She
stated that the vaccination uptake of care home staff in Greenwich was good
and higher then some neighbouring boroughs. She added that there was no
pressure on care homes places in the borough as current capacity was at
80%.
The Cabinet Lead on vaccinations stated that Greenwich was performing well
when compared to other London council’s in vaccinating Black and Ethnic
Minority groups. she highlighted the satellite clinics being operated within the
borough and the work with the Faith Leaders Network that had enabled the
council to reach the hard to reach groups.
In response to questions on children and young people:
The Director of Children’s Services confirmed that the Safeguarding
Children’s Board was monitoring the sudden unexplained death of infants and
there was a campaign to work with Midwives, GP’s and Health Visitors to
inform people of unsafe co-sleeping. She advised that mental of young people
of 16-25 was a growing concern across London and that officers had been
doing in well reaching out to care leavers. She added that the Council was
looking to extend the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services to the age
of 25.
3
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In response to questions on Communities & Environment:
The Director of Improvement confirmed that many local authorities were
experiencing delays with the vehicle supply chain and currently liaising with
the Mayor’s Office to discuss the Ultra-Low Emissions Zone extension and its
impact on non-compliant council vehicles.
In response to questions on Finance:
The Director of Finance provided details on the central government support
which included general Covid grants to provide mitigation against Covid costs
and additional funding to enable councils to continue reducing council tax
bills for those least able to pay. He advised members on the soft approach to
debt collection which responded to residents’ individual needs and recognised
the vulnerable members of the community. He confirmed that any
underspend in the Covid Hardship Fund would be utilised for the same
purposes that it was applied for previously and the Discretionary Housing
Payments would support residents who are in rent arrears and hopefully
minimize the risk of evictions going forward.
In response to questions on Housing and Safer Communities:
The Director of Housing and Safer Communities provided an update on
Operation Boundary and the support that the Council provided to the Police.
He confirmed that the emergency temporary accommodation provided to
rough sleepers did not differentiate between British and those with Nil
Recourse to Public Funds.
In response to question on Regeneration, Enterprise and Skills:
The Leader of the Council advised on the shop local scheme and the Royal
Greenwich Street Eats which provided support for businesses within the
borough. He added that the allocation of the Additional Restrictions Grant
Fund would be out shortly, and that the Council was awaiting government
updates before reviewing current social distancing measures.
Overview & Scrutiny members discussed the reports and possible
recommendations:
In terms of the Covid-19 response, scrutiny recognised the extraordinary
efforts of the Council’s staff, general management team and political
leadership in supporting Greenwich residents.

4
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Scrutiny also recognised the valuable contributions of the local voluntary and
community groups and recommended that the Council provide continued
support to the sector to maintain their resilience and infrastructure.
Scrutiny noted the future financial pressures faced by the Council and
requested regular reporting on how this will impact the Medium-Term
Financial Strategy.
Scrutiny welcomed the actions taken by the Council in response to the
pandemic, however they felt the focus should now turn to the recovery and
renewal of services.
Resolved –
That the update on the impact that Covid-19 is having upon the Royal
Borough of Greenwich be noted.
6.

Scrutiny Work Programme 2021-22
The report was presented by the chair of the panel who advised on the
previous 1-1 sessions and confirmed that one of the suggestions was to
receive an update on the Continuous Improvement Programme 2/3 times a
year.
Members agreed the following amendments to the programme before formal
submission to the Council Annual Meeting:
• That two Overview & Scrutiny items be retitled to “Cabinet
Performance Report – High Level Objectives” and “Reports from
organisations delivering services on behalf of the Council.”
• That the update from Metro GAVS be received by the Housing &
Anti-Poverty Scrutiny Panel.
Resolved –
That the work programme 2021-22 be noted and formally submitted to the
Council Annual Meeting.

5
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7.

Forward Plan
The report was presented by the chair of the Committee.

Resolved –
That the upcoming executive decisions set out in the Forward Plan be noted.

The meeting closed at 9.28 pm

_____________________
Chair
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Overview and Scrutiny Committee
TITLE
Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL) Annual
Performance 2021(Plus Appendix 1)
CHIEF OFFICER
Director of Communities and Environment

1.

DATE
30 June 2021
ITEM NO.
5
CABINET MEMBER
Culture,
Communities and
Equalities

Decision required

1.1. No decisions are required with regards to this report.
2.
2.1

Links to the Royal Greenwich high level objectives
This report relates to the Council’s agreed high-level objectives as
follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•

3.
3.1

3.2
3.3

A Healthier Greenwich
A Safer Greenwich
A Great Place to Grow Up
Economic Prosperity for All
A Great Place to Be
A Strong Vibrant and Well-Run Borough

Purpose of the Report and Executive Summary
The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the performance of
Greenwich Leisure Ltd (GLL) as Royal Borough of Greenwich contracted
provider of sport, leisure, library services and adventure playgrounds from
1 January to 31 December 2020. Further information has also been added
for January to April 2021.
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the services will be
addressed throughout the report.
In summary, the report informs members of how GLL through its
ITEM NO: 5
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leisure and library service has dealt with the impact of the pandemic
and what changes were necessary to make throughout the last 12
months.
4.

Introduction and Background

4.1. Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL) was formed in 1993 and is the largest
UK based charitable social enterprise delivering leisure, health, community
services and children’s centres, and have operated in Greenwich since
inception.
4.2 In 2012, a new 15-year contract between GLL and RBG was agreed. It
resulted in the seamless integration of 12 libraries, 5 adventure play
centres, outreach sport development service, and 7 current leisure
centres. This contract has been extended to 2031, through a new deed of
variation, with a lower management fee and improved surplus share to
RBG over the period.
4.3 The integration of services has brought a number benefits to everyone
who lives, works, and learns with the Royal Borough of Greenwich,
including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Greenwich One Card and Higher Saver Card (Concessionary Card)
with reduced pricing for residents.
Joined up offer across multiple services.
A key partner in Greenwich Get Active Strategy and Action Plan
2019-2023.
All employees paid the London Living Wage.
Working with RBG to open new facilities e.g. The Greenwich Centre,
Woolwich Library, Sutcliffe Park Sports Centre and the Plumstead
Centre.
Public health partnership through Healthwise exercise-on-referral,
helping thousands of residents manage long term health issues and
their recovery.
Highly successful Xplore weight management programme for families
and their children.

ITEM NO: 5
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4.4 The leisure service operates a host of activities for residents both young
and not so young, from the outreach sport development service,
Healthwise programme and GP referrals alongside the traditional activities
of gym membership, exercise classes, swimming and local clubs hiring the
facilities.
4.5 The library service is a tremendous asset for our local people with
traditional borrowing services, home delivery service, but also facilities
offering children’s learning and book clubs, free access to computers, as
well as rooms for hire by community groups and organisations – all free of
charge. In 2019 there were 2.4million visits to our libraries, with
Woolwich library the second most visited library in the country.
4.6 The COVID-19 pandemic had and is still having a profound effect upon
residents, businesses, staff and wider civil society in the borough and a
major impact on libraries and leisure facilities.
4.7 Libraries and Leisure Centres reopened on 26 July under strict
government COVID guidelines, restrictive use, limits on capacity, with
additional operating costs incurred through PPE, sanitisers, increased
cleaning regimes, signage and increase energy costs.
4.8 Throughout the summer and into the autumn, the leisure business
environment remained challenging, with capacity limitations, ever changing
restrictions such as no soft play and no team games indoors and low
customer confidence.
4.9 The number of visits to libraries and leisure centres in lockdown 2, and
Tier 3 restrictions dropped dramatically. When the new Tier 4 was rolled
out in December, everything was closed except for the holiday food
distribution programme.
4.10 The impact on visits are clear to see in the Appendices with leisure
reduction in visits by 66% compared to previous period in 2019, and even
greater impact on libraries with a 86% reduction in visits.
4.11 The Leisure Centres, Adventure Play Centres and Libraries re-opened
for indoor activities on 12 April, and further opening of activities such as
ITEM NO: 5
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exercise classes and soft play on 17 May 2021.
Performance - Leisure, Sport and Adventure Play
4.12 The COVID-19 pandemic has had a very significant impact on the contract
since early 2020 as outlined above. In the year to March 2021, the
services were only permitted to operate for four months.
4.13 As a result of the enforced closures, and other factors such as low
consumer confidence in the face of a pandemic, and falling household
incomes, usage contracted drastically year-on-year.
4.14 Leisure Centre usage fell to 34% of 2019 levels. Adventure Play usage fell
to 43% of 2019 levels. The monthly visits did recover to 70,000 in
October 2020 against the monthly pre-COVID levels of 120,000 a month.
4.15 Indoor leisure reopened on 12 April 2021, and usage vs 2019 has since
shown positive signs of recovery with usage levels around 50% of what
they were in 2019 and increasing. As of mid-May 2021, usage is at 65% of
2019 levels and the milestone of 100k visits has been achieved.
4.16 Despite the pandemic, there were several building improvements that took
place in 2020 including:
•

The Greenwich Centre benefitted from a revamp of the gym facilities
with a vibrant new ‘look and feel’ installed.

•

The Plumstead Centre, a brand-new leisure and cultural community
hub, opened in February 2020. Features include a gym, two
performance / dance studios, a sports hall, soft play facility, café, and
library.

•

During the first lockdown at the Waterfront, GLL in partnership with
RBG completed a joint £1m investment to extend the lifetime of the
centre. This included:
ITEM NO: 5
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▪
▪
▪
▪
4.17

Replacement / refurbishment of boilers, air handling units and
pool filtration.
Tiling replaced poolside and the reception area given a facelift.
Improvements to the changing facilities and decoration
throughout the pool hall.
Water features such as jets and fountains were reinstated and an
exciting new play feature for under-5s was installed.

GLL launched the ‘Better at Home’ portal, free to all residents, including
free virtual classes, plus home workout video guides and meal planners.
This was the first time they had rolled out these services in any of their
UK locations. Better at Home has since been enhanced further and now
offers free podcasts, plus daily streamed classes delivered by our very
own instructors from Royal Greenwich.

4.18 Since the start of the pandemic, GLL has supported the Council’s COVID
response in a number of ways including with PPE donations, sourcing
volunteers for the Community Hub and Project Hope initiatives and
providing Waterfront Leisure Centre as a COVID testing facility.
4.19 GLL’s Healthwise team delivered a telephone outreach service, supporting
hundreds of residents with advice on safe physical activity, healthy eating,
and signposting to Council services.
4.20 A 2020 recovery plan was implemented from July when centres were
permitted to re-open. Thousands of residents took advantage of the
following offers:
•

•
•

•

Free Swim Fridays – free swimming across the borough’s pools every
summer holiday Friday for Greenwich One Card holders. 3,470 free
swims were taken up by local residents.
Free swimming for two children with every adult ticket purchased.
4,900 free child swims were accessed.
Free holiday camps for children entitled to free school meals, with a
heavily subsidised price for everyone else. 590 attendances were
recorded.
Free sports activities across the borough’s parks and open spaces, led
by qualified coaches. 1,700 attendances were recorded.
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•

250 free sports packs distributed to families, each consisting of a
range of sports equipment to help get families active again after
lockdown. 830 residents benefitted.

4.21 Despite the success of the recovery plan and achieving over 200k visits in
the first restart, worsening case rates and local then national restrictions
continued to hamper recovery. The service remained closed until 29th
March 2021 (outdoor activities) and 12th April 2021 (indoor).
4.22 Since 29 March 2021, a new Recovery Plan has been rolled out with two
aims – to encourage residents to become more physically active after
lockdown, and to boost the performance of the service. The plan includes
the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Free access to Better at Home digital membership
Free fitness taster classes for all residents (whether members or not)
Free junior gym sessions for all young people with a paying adult
Thousands of free family swim vouchers for families entitled to free
school meals
Hundreds of free family sports packs for those entitled to free school
meals
Membership discount for existing concessionary members
First month from £5.50 offer for new customers
Give It A Go scheme pilot including membership discount for inactive
residents
Hundreds of low-cost / free spaces on sport and activity sessions in
parks, community centres and estates – including the Royal Borough’s
first Virtual Marathon

4.23 A communication strategy was developed with RBG to ensure that all
residents were well-informed of the offers available to them. Methods of
communication include:
•
Greenwich Info – cover wrap, adverts, features, and articles
•
Large-scale social media and digital advertising campaign
•
3-month promotion on the Woolwich Big screen
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•
•
•

Outdoor media (billboards and bus stop adverts)
Organic social media
Press releases and other PR

4.24 Early indications are that the Recovery Plan has been highly successful,
with usage in April at around 150% of that seen in the first restart,
membership sales 10% higher than 2019, and lesson sales 40% higher than
2019.
Performance - Sport Development Service
4.25 During 2019/2020 the Sport Development service continued to ensure
that the number of community sport and physical activity sessions
developed as part of the new Physical Activity and Sports Strategy and
associated Action Plan were growing in number and attendance.
4.26 From July to September 2020, 364 sessions were delivered, and 4470
residents attended physical activity sessions.
4.27 A number of major events and activities were cancelled due to COVID-19
including, Mini Marathon, Sportathon, and London Youth Games normally
attended by over 3,500 young people.
4.28 Following the 2020 lockdown, the service started to encourage residents
back to physical activity. There are several highlights from the Sport
Development Service in this period:
•
22 weekly interventions in outdoor venues.
•
17 weekly interventions on housing estates including Abbey Wood
Park, Barnfield Estate, Clockhouse, Meridian Estate, Plumstead
Common Gardens, Woolwich Common Estate – 816 visits.
•
325 sport activity bags were distributed to residents.
•
4 table tennis outreach roadshows on General Gordon Square.
•
151 community physical sessions in accordance with Public Health
England and National Governing Body guidelines.
4.29 From July to September 2020, 364 sessions were delivered, and 4470
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residents attended physical activity sessions.
4.30 The service made further adaptations to meet the needs of residents
during tightening restrictions and further lockdowns. These included:
•
Moving many activities from physical to virtual / online settings
•
Launching the borough’s first virtual marathon which took place in
April 2021
•
In partnership with MENCAP and Oxleas, delivering a ‘round the
world’ challenge with 60 young people with learning disabilities which
included free fitness trackers for participants
4.31 As restrictions loosen, the service is transitioning back to physical settings
with many sessions now operating across the borough’s parks, community
centres and housing estates.
Performance - Library Services
4.32 The COVID 19 Pandemic has had a significant impacted on libraries, like
leisure centres, and were only open for 4 complete months since the first
lockdown.
4.33 However, from the March 2020 lockdown library services quickly moved
online and offered an excellent range of e-books, e-audiobooks, enewspapers, e-magazines, together with music streaming and downloads.
4.34 The outreach Library Service continued to deliver books and DVDs to
people at home and in care homes. There were also pop up community
libraries in supermarkets in Abbey Wood and Plumstead.
4.35 In addition to these published resources, we moved library activities
online, recording rhyme times, story times and craft sessions in empty
libraries and sharing them on social media.
4.36 A number of activities went virtual on zoom: our knit and natter group
were able to chat with each other and listen to tutorials on knitting
techniques; the creative writing group also met virtually.
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4.37 During the pandemic, some customers discovered new hobbies: the online
family history resource, Ancestry, became very popular, with 15,143 uses
between April 2020 and March 2021.
4.38 From April 2020 to March 2021, library staff delivered:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

310 ‘baby rhyme times’
260 story times
280 craft sessions
280 ‘book of the day’ sessions
70-80 tweet chats (chats with authors)
50 ‘knit & natter’ zoom chats
50 knitting tutorials

4.39 There were over 140,000 viewings of these items on Twitter and
Facebook. Use of our expanded e-resources also hit record heights, with
more than 157,000 issues from April 2020 to March 2021, an increase of
242% on use in the previous year.
4.40 Despite the pandemic, the opportunity was taken to refurbish Eltham
Centre Library. Works were planned as a “green” project, designed to
minimise negative impact on the environment, and included new furniture,
desks, and new carpeting throughout. In addition, the children’s library has
been moved into a larger area at the heart of the library, adjacent to the
Enchanted Garden, a creative space for children that was designed to
enable them to stay and play longer in the library.
4.41 During the school holidays, GLL library teams have supported the delivery
of the ‘free school meal offer’ through a Feed and Read Programme from
Woolwich, Greenwich Centre, Eltham, Plumstead and Thamesmere
Libraries, with over 1000 free lunches distributed each week to local
families.
4.42 As libraries widen their offer, Greenwich libraries have now diversified
further and play equipment can be borrowed, including footballs, rugby
balls and basket balls from local libraries. The programme has been
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developed in partnership with the charity, Alive and Kicking.
4.43 In supporting and widening IT and digital opportunities, the Library service
has purchased a number of tablets which will be lent to families and to
mentors working with children. Greenwich Libraries are working with DG
Cities who will be launching a similar tablet service as part of its
Community Champions Digital Projects with Public Health.
4.44 There are plans to introduce virtual reality educational programmes as
well as fun sessions for families. The technology can be used to enhance
storytelling and educational programmes.
4.45 At the start of 2021 a new initiative was set up called Reading Friends,
which is a reading befriending programme that helps to start conversations
and connect people who are lonely and isolated. A small grant was
provided by the national Reading Agency of just under £10,000. The library
teams in Woolwich, Plumstead and Thamesmere facilitated sessions with
the three identified groups, Woolwich focused on dementia and carers,
Plumstead on socially isolated elderly members of the Asian community
and Thamesmere young families, over an initial period of ten weeks.
4.46 During June libraries will be launching “100 Tales of Greenwich” asking
people to share with us their tale of Greenwich through a single photo and
line of text.
4.47 From 12 April, libraries have been able to offer the following services in a
COVID-secure environment:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Browsing for books and DVDs in the library.
Click and collect reservations.
Study spaces in Woolwich, Greenwich Centre, and Eltham (with over
40 spaces in Woolwich).
People`s Network PC Access.
Printing, scanning, and photocopying.
Self-service issue and return, and cashless payments.
Outreach Service resumed to all housebound customers and to local
nurseries.
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4.48 The implementation of social distancing regulations, removal of furniture,
activities and restricted borrowing times did lead to a signification
reduction of visits to libraries, throughout the pandemic reopening period.
Visitor numbers fell from an average of 200,000 per month to 50,000 at its
peak in October 2020.
4.49 The number of items borrowed when libraries could reopen in July 2020
did reach 70-80% of pre-pandemic monthly levels, however, this became
much lower during click and collect and closed periods. The e-resources
were the only issues format that went against the general trend.
4.50 People`s Network PC usage pre-pandemic was on average 20,000 hours a
month, and since reopening under social distancing guidelines and time
restrictions, it’s now 2,200 hours a month on average. More PN PCs have
become available as restrictions ease, and GLL Libraries are looking more
at tablet provision in future service provision.
4.51 Following the opening of all indoor venues on May 17 it is envisaged there
will be a steady climb, in visits, borrowing and PC usage.
4.52 The leisure and library service have been tested through this period of the
pandemic, but we have seen over the last month that residents are
returning to our facilities. We look forward to welcoming back previous
customers, but also lots of new users to try something new and ‘Give it a
Go ‘.
5
5.1.
6.

Available Options
Not applicable to this report
Preferred Option

6.1 Not applicable to this report
7.
7.1

Reasons for Recommendations
Not applicable to this report
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8.

Consultation Results

8.1 Not applicable to this report
9.

Cross Cutting Issues and Implications

Issues
Legal,
including
Human
Rights Act

Implications
Members are asked to consider this report which
updates on the performance of Greenwich Leisure
Ltd (GLL) as the Council’s contracted provider of
sport, leisure and library services and adventure
playgrounds, in the period between 1st January
2020 and April 2021 a significant part of which was
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. No formal
decision will be taken. As such, there are no legal
implications directly arising from this report.

Sign Off
Eleanor
Penn,
Assistant
Head of
Legal
Services, 27th
May 2021

Finance and
other
resources

There are no direct financial implications arising
from this report.

Joanne Stark
Accountancy
Business
Change
Manager
25.5.21

Equalities

The information in this report has a remote or low Tim
relevance to the substance of the Equality Act.
Hetherington
There is no apparent equality impact on end users. Head of
Sport,
Leisure,
Libraries, and
Community
Services
27.4.21
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Climate
Change

No Decision proposed therefore no implications
to consider

Health and
Wellbeing

The facilities are available for all residents of the
London Borough of Greenwich.
The facilities provided for people of all ages, to
increase participation in sport and physical activity
and improve mental well-being.

Tim
Hetherington
Head of
Sport,
Leisure,
Libraries, and
Community
Services
27.5.21

Tim
Hetherington
Head of
Sport,
Leisure,
Libraries, and
The service provided by RBG, through the Leisure Community
and Libraries contract follows the Health and Well Services
Being Strategy and the Greenwich Get Active
25.5.21
Physical activity and Sport Strategy and Action plan
and4 key objectives
• Enabling Greenwich to Get Active and Stay
Active
• Improving the Health and Wellbeing of
Greenwich Residents
• Developing Greenwich People and Growing the
Local Economy
• Strengthening Greenwich Communities and
Facilities Infrastructure
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10. Report Appendices
10.1 The following documents are to be published with and form part of
the report:
• Appendix 1 – GLL Data information
Report Author:
Tel No.
Email Address
Reporting to
Tel No.
Email:

Tim Hetherington, Head of Sport, Leisure, Libraries and
Community Services
0208921 8290
tim.hetherington@royalgreenwich.gov.uk
Stuart Godfrey – Assistant Director, Corporate and
Central Services
020 8921 5124
Stuart.godfrey@royalgreenwich.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Katrina Delaney - Director Communities and
Environment

Tel No.:

020 8921 6106

Email:

katrina.delaney@royalgreenwich.gov.uk
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Appendix 1.0 – Leisure Usage
ACTIVITY VISITS
Activity
Fitness
Pools
Sports
TOTAL
2020 vs 2019
ACTIVITY VISITS
Activity
Fitness
Pools
Sports
TOTAL
2021 vs 2019
ACTIVITY VISITS
Activity
Fitness
Pools
Sports
Total

2019
Jan
Feb
Mar
Apr
May
Jun
Jul
Aug
Sep
Oct
Nov
Dec
TOTAL
56,354
53,978
60,179
56,066
54,526
51,489
53,572
44,407
43,550
44,438
40,499 26,276
585,334
61,711
57,827
69,365
62,552
68,379
72,888
72,614
46,902
67,011
71,352
66,663 41,023
758,287
21,801
22,058
25,947
21,347
25,782
30,983
33,562
19,568
19,995
21,599
23,268 25,429
291,339
139,866 133,863 155,491 139,965 148,687 155,360 159,748 110,877 130,556 137,389 130,430 92,728 1,634,960
92%

89%

52%

Feb
44,840
53,136
21,170

Mar
27,903
34,095
19,633

128,110 119,146

0%

0%

0%

6%

43%

41%

51%

9%

33%

34%

Aug
31,838
13,174
2,475

Sep
33,616
17,782
2,722

Oct
36,662
26,625
7,097

Nov
5,310
3,416
3,210

Dec
20,112
7,454
2,799

TOTAL
253,318
216,736
82,353

47,487

54,120

70,384

11,936 30,365

552,407

2020
Jan
45,713
59,494
22,903

0%

Apr

May

Jun

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

Jul
7,324
1,560
344

81,631

0

0

0

9,228

0%

0%

32%

Feb
0
0
0
0

Mar
53
0
144
197

Apr
24,136
11,895
8,894
44,925

2021
Jan
0
0
0
0

Total
24,189
11,895
9,038
45,122
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Appendix 1.1 – Leisure Usage continued
VISITS BY
CENTRE
Centre
Eltham Centre
Waterfront
Greenwich Centre
Thamesmere
Coldharbour
Sutcliffe Park SC
Thomas Tallis
The Plumstead Centre
TOTAL

VISITS BY
CENTRE

2019
Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Total

40,413
36,420
25,632
21,670
8,883
5,118
1,730
0

38,635
34,952
22,397
20,915
8,415
5,266
3,283
0

42,830
39,757
25,904
26,795
9,524
6,333
4,348
0

38,115
35,972
25,937
23,164
8,235
6,291
2,251
0

38,392
33,469
33,172
22,394
8,588
9,590
3,082
0

40,365
33,368
32,556
22,567
8,824
14,997
2,683
0

41,363
34,767
29,828
26,359
10,099
14,400
2,932
0

29,713
24,843
24,936
17,304
9,857
2,834
1,390
0

34,750
31,214
27,129
22,949
8,766
3,336
2,412
0

35,683
33,817
27,170
24,683
8,815
4,274
2,947
0

31,183
31,932
26,876
23,690
8,538
5,636
2,575
0

21,438
28,039
16,426
13,538
7,234
3,940
2,115
0

432,880
398,550
317,963
266,028
105,778
82,015
31,748
0

139,866 133,863 155,491 139,965 148,687 155,360 159,748 110,877 130,556 137,389 130,430 92,730 1,634,962

2020

Centre

Jan

Feb

Mar

Eltham Centre
Waterfront
Greenwich Centre
Thamesmere
Coldharbour
Sutcliffe Park SC
Thomas Tallis
The Plumstead Centre

36,470
29,540
24,033
20,639
8,970
5,517
2,942
0

33,883
24,804
23,704
18,982
8,716
5,661
2,312
1,086

20,681
18,670
13,018
11,681
7,443
5,470
2,360
2,308

TOTAL

128,111 119,148

81,631

Apr

May

Jun

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0

0

0

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Total

2,710
2,004
2,141
1,176
402
337
0
458

13,622
11,795
10,291
6,100
3,322
452
0
1,905

16,089
12,837
11,790
7,634
3,254
538
0
1,978

18,921
15,669
14,431
10,954
4,771
3,464
0
2,174

2,588
2,068
2,130
1,473
1,086
2,303
0
288

8,471
7,583
6,551
2,998
1,767
1,739
0
1,256

153,435
124,970
108,089
81,637
39,731
25,481
7,614
11,453

11,936

30,365

9,228

47,487
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54,120

70,384

552,410

Appendix 1.2 – Leisure Usage continued
VISITS BY CENTRE
Centre

2021
Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

Total

Eltham Centre
Waterfront
Greenwich Centre
Thamesmere
Coldharbour
Sutcliffe Park Sports Centre
Thomas Tallis
The Plumstead Centre

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
21
0
176
0
0

9,575
10,677
8,031
5,533
6,511
2,514
0
2,084

9,575
10,677
8,031
5,554
6,511
2,690
0
2,084

TOTAL

0

0

197

44,925 45,122
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Appendix 2.0 – Adventure Play Usage
Adventure Play Centre Usage
Coldharbour
Glyndon
Meridian
Plumstead
Woolwich
Total

2019
10,942
6,908
14,731
13,982
14,222

2020
4,601
1,980
6,672
7,248
5,413

2020 vs 2019
42%
29%
45%
52%
38%

60,785

25,914

43%
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Appendix 3.0 – Sport Development data
Period

July 2018 - June 2019

July 2019 - June 2020

July 2020 - September 2020

October 2020 – April 2021

Individuals

775

621

2,161

TBC

Total Attendance

comments

5,305

Service still operating
on the old structure,
which incorporated
focus sport sessions.

5,647

Moved to new
model. Individual
numbers lower but
more impact (plus
Covid impact)

5,187

No comparison to
anything previous.
Just gives a flavour of
stats in the most
recent quarter
including the
distribution of
activity bags and
increase holiday
provision.

TBC

The latest data is yet
to be processed and
analysed; we can
provide this by the
end of June 2021.
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Appendix 4.0 – Library Visits
January 2020 - April 2021
Libraries closed end of 20th March 2020. Libraries reopened July-August 2020.
The Outreach Service remained open until 19th December 2020.
All libraries closed at the end of 19th December 2020 and reopened 12th April 2021.
Prison Libraries were not open for visits from March 2020 onwards.
VISITS
Abbey Wood
Blackheath
Charlton
Coldharbour
Eltham
Greenwich Centre
HMP Belmarsh
HMP YOI ISIS
New Eltham
Plumstead
Slade
Thamesmere
West Greenwich
Woolwich
TOTAL

2020
Jan
1,954
8,418
1,653
1,374
31,609
22,447
1,723

Feb
1,777
7,921
1,585
1,297
41,206
21,986
1,539

Mar
1,136
5,312
1,100
822
25,844
12,122
1,161

Apr
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

May
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Jun
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

733

718

644

0

0

4,315
2,777
4,478
10,622
5,759
102,058

4,056
4,400
4,312
11,500
5,666
100,309

2,515
3,000
3,000
5,648
3,225
60,201

0
0
0
0
0
0

199,920

208,272

125,730

0

Jul
0
1,347
0
0
5,251
2,673
0

Aug
450
1,344
294
195
5,413
3,855
0

Sep
468
2,082
535
296
7,581
5,359
0

Oct
967
2,517
584
504
8,596
3,827
0

Nov
946
1,712
552
598
2,435
3,178
0

Dec
698
1,286
304
361
2,250
3,097
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

1,022
270
0
220
917
11,139

990
1,087
880
1,318
936
12,891

1,299
1,764
1,175
1,603
1,271
21,668

1,416
2,509
1,835
2,940
1,762
22,713

743
819
1,491
1,391
1,100
5,047

726
1,133
1,090
1,508
1,039
12,003

0

0

22,839

29,653

45,101

50,170

20,012

25,495
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Appendix 4.1 – Library Visits continued
VISITS
Abbey Wood
Blackheath
Charlton
Coldharbour
Eltham
Greenwich Centre
HMP Belmarsh
HMP YOI ISIS
New Eltham
Plumstead
Slade
Thamesmere
West Greenwich
Woolwich
TOTAL

2021
Jan
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Feb
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Mar
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Apr
668
1,351
624
408
3,340
2,810
0
0
1,031
2,289
1,460
1,968
1,535
19,003

0

0

0

36,487
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Appendix 5.0 – Library Withdrawals
ISSUES
Abbey Wood
Blackheath
Call point
(renewals)
Charlton
Coldharbour
Eltham
E-resources
Greenwich Centre
HMP Belmarsh
HMPYOI Isis
New Eltham
Outreach
Plumstead
Slade
Thamesmere
West Greenwich
Woolwich
TOTAL

2020
Jan
1,058
8,867

Feb
783
8,766

Mar
681
7,307

Apr
18
478

May
4
925

168
2,228
713
12,176
4,847
10,397
1,159
561
2,658
9,748
1,297
4,412
2,530
4,487
17,711

168
1,793
630
12,758
4,498
10,351
1,138
477
2,467
11,253
2,900
3,060
2,729
4,188
17,697

268
1,682
436
9,586
6,014
7,421
1,203
534
2,463
7,381
2,699
3,245
1,876
3,237
11,072

164
20
0
380
12,109
215
23
2
91
1,614
85
110
126
110
703

91
7
0
201
13,167
111
124
56
10
1,703
16
45
36
58
291

85,017

85,656

Jun
0
355

Jul
48
2,683

Aug
173
3,544

Sep
351
5,853

Oct
456
6,940

Nov
261
3,213

Dec
397
5,103

37
6
0
170
13,047
73
0
392
18
1,868
19
9
10
49
281

71
11
2
3,348
12,967
3,082
440
246
1,167
4,648
212
110
163
1,430
6,655

132
405
399
5,215
11,654
4,409
97
261
1,175
9,193
836
750
825
1,685
11,812

335
1,246
394
11,366
8,715
7,564
147
303
1,929
12,031
1,660
1,988
1,402
2,966
12,820

101
1,230
511
9,932
15,123
9,349
232
222
2,418
11,016
2,529
2,469
1,643
3,203
12,740

158
880
264
3,626
13,911
2,863
161
260
1,230
11,288
936
1,058
1,033
2,222
5,265

141
1,025
423
6,492
11,983
6,429
207
191
1,672
6,677
1,368
1,858
1,833
2,853
9,249

67,105 16,248 16,845 16,334 37283 52,565 71,070 80,114 48,629 57,901
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Appendix 5.1 – Library Withdrawals continued
ISSUES
Abbey Wood
Blackheath
Call point
(renewals)
Charlton
Coldharbour
Eltham
E-resources
Greenwich Centre
HMP Belmarsh
HMPYOI Isis
New Eltham
Outreach
Plumstead
Slade
Thamesmere
West Greenwich
Woolwich
TOTAL

2021
Jan
17
293

Feb
12
128

Mar
3
96

Apr
228
2,980

76
23
0
285
14,860
244
201
238
55
4
40
55
75
132
525

95
1
0
141
13,711
118
252
203
37
0
40
19
18
55
230

59
0
17
62
16,152
50
385
216
17
0
24
10
18
33
180

40
696
224
4,311
14,410
3,926
300
252
1,325
6,688
1,007
1,181
1,091
1,831
4,800

17,123

15,060

17,322 45,290
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Appendix 6.0 – Library PC usage
PEOPLE'S NETWORK USE
(Hours)
2020
Abbey Wood
Blackheath
Charlton
Coldharbour
Eltham
Greenwich Centre
New Eltham
Plumstead
Slade
Thamesmere
West Greenwich
Woolwich
TOTAL

Jan
319
684
153
107
3,450
2,645
600
814
217
996
838
9,098

Feb
312
657
141
102
3,492
2,807
577
1,030
219
999
713
9,693

Mar
210
447
98
70
2,314
1,817
392
615
145
665
517
6,264

19,921 20742

13,554

Apr
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

May
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Jun
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0

0

0

Jul
0
48
0
0
200
149
45
12
0
10
62
456

Aug
27
44
9
8
241
272
41
55
39
64
96
838

Sep
11
80
9
30
366
365
50
127
66
117
134
1,501

Oct
100
120
17
31
359
514
75
167
103
168
186
2,868

Nov
62
99
18
29
183
215
60
102
55
97
123
862

Dec
42
74
12
23
171
207
44
78
27
78
80
1,041

982

1,734

2,856

4708

1,905

1875
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Appendix 6.1 – Library PC usage continued
PEOPLE'S NETWORK USE
(Hours)
2021
Abbey Wood
Blackheath
Charlton
Coldharbour
Eltham
Greenwich Centre
New Eltham
Plumstead
Slade
Thamesmere
West Greenwich
Woolwich
TOTAL

Jan
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Feb
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Mar
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Apr
3
62
9
5
175
114
31
109
39
44
75
1,032

0

0

0

1,698
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OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
TITLE
GS Plus Ltd and GSS Ltd – Annual Report 2019/20 and
Interim Report 2020/21
CHIEF OFFICER
Director of Improvement &
Managing Director GSP Ltd & GSS Ltd
1.

DATE
30 June 2021
ITEM NO.
6
CABINET
MEMBER
Finance &
Resources

Decision required
Overview and Scrutiny Committee is requested:

1.1 To note the Annual Report and Audited Accounts 2019/20 and Interim Report
2020/21 for the Council’s wholly owned companies: –
i)

Greenwich Service Solutions Ltd (GSS); summarised in sections 4.4 to
4.9 and detailed in the Audited Accounts 2019/20 attached to this
report at Appendix A.

ii)

GS Plus Ltd (GSP); summarised in sections 4.10 to 4.14 and detailed in
the Audited Accounts 2019/20 attached to this report at Appendix B.

1.2 To note the contents of this report outlining the transformation activities and the
response of the companies to the Covid-19 pandemic and the updated timescale
for the transformation agreed by Cabinet on 20 December 2020, as outlined in
section 4.23.
2.

Links to the Royal Greenwich high level objectives

2.1 This report relates to the Council’s agreed high-level objectives as follows:
•
•
•
•

A Healthier Greenwich
A Great Place to Grow Up
Economic Prosperity for All
A Strong Vibrant and Well-Run Borough
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3.

Purpose of the Report and Executive Summary

3.1 The Cabinet on 16 December 2020 having considered the GSS Ltd and GS Plus
Ltd Annual Report for 2019/20 and Interim Report for 2020/21 agreed the
contents of the report including a decision to align the business transformation
timescales for the company with the Council’s MTFS to 2024/25. Cabinet also
agreed to refer this report incorporating the published Statement of Accounts
2019/20 for each Company (see Appendix A and B) for further consideration to
Overview & Scrutiny Committee in line with existing protocols. The scheduling of
this has been delayed by Covid-19 disruptions, hence certain sections have been
updated since the original Cabinet report.
4.

Introduction and Background

4.1. This report is a regular information item comprising of the Annual Report of the
Council’s wholly owned companies GSS and GSP. The Outturn for 2019/20 and
Audited Accounts are now reported which updates Members on the financial
positions of the companies. The report also outlines the impact to date of the
Covid-19 pandemic on the interim financial prospects for 2020/21 and the
services and plans of the companies.
4.2 The Cabinet on 20 February 2019 considered a report on the future direction of
the Company and a decision was taken to insource Fleet, Passenger and the
Cleaning and Facilities Management of RBG buildings, but move away from the
provision of Catering, Building Cleaning and ICT support to schools over a period
of transformation of up to 3 years. This action was likely to result in the closure
of the companies. This decision was ratified by both Companies’ Boards on 28
February 2019 who subsequently agreed an Implementation Business Plan
covering a 3-year period which was itself ratified by the Chief Executive, RBG, in
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance & Resources, Director of
Finance and the Director of Legal Services, reflecting the joined-up approach
between the Council and the Companies.
4.3 The previous Annual Report to Cabinet on 13 November 2019 outlined the
extensive work on service reviews, efficiency improvements and preparatory
transformation work. Ongoing RBG Corporate governance is maintained by a
Transformation Strategy Group led by the Chief Executive and additional RBG
Member oversight is achieved through the Member Working Group established
by Cabinet, which held its forth 6-monthly meeting in April 2021.
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4.4 This report provides an update of the companies’ finance and services positions
following approval by the respective Boards of the audited financial statements for
2019/20.
GSS Ltd Financial Result 2019/20
4.5 GSS made an operating deficit before tax of £0.089m in 2019/20 on a turnover of
£2.45m. This compares with a deficit of £0.076m before tax on turnover of
£2.96m in the year before.
4.6 This operating deficit was broadly in line with monitoring expectations for the
year and reflects a reduction in earnings from Gateway Agency including the initial
cost of maintaining staff at full pay when furloughed at the end of March 2020. It
also reflects costs to support the company’s transformation agenda which were
earmarked to be funded from reserves. The company’s performance to the yearend remains on track with the assumptions made for the 3-year financial plan
which provided for continued deficit positions as unsustainable external contracts
were brought to a close.
4.7 Over the years, GSS has built up reserves; at the end of 2019/20 the company’s
accumulated reserve including the financial result reported above amounted to
£0.787m.
4.8 A copy of the GSS Ltd audited accounts for 2019/20 in the prescribed format is
attached as Appendix A.
GSS Ltd Provisional Forecast 2020/21
4.9 With the latest, most extraordinary trading year now also passed, work continues
to complete the financial closedown and Audit of the Accounts. Gateway and
therefore GSS turnover as a whole continued to be under severe pressure from
further planned reductions in agency requirements of the main client GS Plus; in
anticipation of this a deficit budget of £0.138m was set for 2020/21. However, the
impact of the lockdowns and continued distancing restrictions on clients’ services
such as GSP catering and passenger transportation has severely reduced the need
for agency staff with most having been furloughed on full pay until the summer
holidays and continued at statutory levels of 80% from September to date. This
created further cost pressures on the company and is likely to result in a doubling
of the deficit position for the 2020/21 financial year, subject to Corporation Tax,
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Audit and preparation of the Statement of Accounts. Once completed these
results will be reported to the Company’s Board and subsequently following
established protocols to RBG Cabinet and Overview & Scrutiny.
GS Plus Ltd Financial Result 2019/20
4.10 GSP made an in-year operating deficit before tax of £0.370m in 2019/20 on a
turnover of £30.94m. This compares to an underlying surplus of £0.414m before
tax on a turnover of £32.65m in the year before. The 2019/20 position includes
£0.219m of one-off redundancy costs and legal expenses and a technical
requirement to add £0.133m to potential bad debt provisions. Excluding these
one-off items, the underlying position would show an in-year trading deficit of
£0.018m (see Table 1 below).
Table 1
GSP Accounts Summary 2019/20
Profit & Loss A/c – Deficit after tax
Corporation Tax /relief
Operating Deficit
Deficit consists of:
One off redundancy & legal expenses in 2019/20
Additional provision for bad debt
Underlying trading deficit 2019/20

£m
(0.337)
0.033

£m

(0.370)
(£0.219)
(£0.133)
(£0.018)

4.11 Following a significant reduction in the value of resources tied up as provision for
bad or doubtful debt in 2018/19, improved collection levels were maintained
during the course 2019/20. However, the emergence of Covid-19 and the
diversion towards urgent planning and reaction to the developing lockdown
meant that some billing and collection of invoices was delayed in the last few
weeks of the year. This resulted in higher year end balances requiring an
increased provision for bad or doubtful debt despite most of it being for low
credit risk services to RBG and schools. The actual underlying trading position
achieved was also impacted by the first national lockdown which resulted in the
net loss of around £100k catering income during the final week of the year. Were
it not for these combined issues the underlying company position should have
achieved a modest trading surplus for the year.
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4.12 Over the years, GSP has built up reserves; as at the end of 2019/20 the company’s
accumulated reserve including the financial result reported above amounted to
£2.664m.
4.13 A copy of the audited accounts for 2019/20 in the prescribed format is attached
as Appendix B.
GS Plus Ltd Provisional Forecast 2020/21
4.14 For the 2020/21 trading year which has recently ended, the GS Plus budget was
set at a deficit of £0.717m on the expectation that the retendering of catering and
cleaning services by Greenwich Community Schools Partnership (GCSP) and
other smaller procurements planned by school groups would complete, leading to
loss of relatively fixed overhead recoveries, together with pay and price increases
across remaining services. In the event, while 14 schools did complete their
planned procurements, GCSP agreed with GS Plus to delay the tender process for
up to 45 sites for at least a year due to the major impact on both parties and
potential bidders of Covid-19 disruptions. The impact of Covid-19 throughout and
around the lockdowns has been severe, creating significant catering losses despite
emergency measures to furlough staff and secure retainer funding from schools.
The continued efforts made across the company to respond to rapidly developing
situations and secure additional savings and resources has ensured that the
company, with the continued support of the Royal Borough as shareholder in
funding other RBG public service contracts for passenger, fleet, cleaning and FM is
currently forecast to end the year in a net surplus position sufficient to offset the
expected deficit forecast for GSS Ltd. This provisional position remains subject to
independent Audit, Corporation Tax and formal preparation and approval of the
Statement of Accounts. The company, despite the very considerable challenges
faced, therefore remains on track within the financial assumptions made for the 3year Implementation Business plan. Once completed these results will be
reported to the Company’s Board and subsequently to RBG Cabinet and
Overview & Scrutiny.
Companies Response to Covid-19
4.15 At the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic and the first national lockdown in March
2020 it would have been difficult at that point to comprehend the massive scale of
disruptions that were to impact so widely and for so long. On 19 March 2020 the
Company Boards considered an initial view of the implications and noted the very
significant financial and service challenges arising from the pandemic.
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Transformation work was suspended to prioritise the response to Covid-19
which at the time was expected to lead to a possible extension of the
transformation programme of at least a year.
4.16 Priority has been given to protecting the financial position of the companies and
therefore jobs, as far as possible. This included the following actions and
workstreams across GSP and GSS activities:
• Close working with RBG to provide reshaped arrangements for front line
services supporting communities in return for continued payment for publicly
funded services such as RBG building FM & cleaning, fleet and transportation.
• Made appropriate use of the Government Furlough scheme for jobs, including
agency roles, affected by loss of service income. Payments to staff were topped
up to full pay and only much later reduced to statutory levels for the few
remaining furloughed staff in line with the reductions in government support
from September 2020. This has secured over £1.7m in HMRC Furlough Grant
to support company staff. GSS/GSP enrolled the residual agency cohort on the
extended 80% funded scheme from November but as agency work
requirements will reduce going forward we have supported staff to seek other
roles including through GLLAB. During the latest lockdown catering staff
whose hours were not required by schools agreed to be placed on flexible
furlough.
• Enhanced the active management of cashflow including deferral of VAT
payments under HMRC programmes.
• Continuous review of services to achieve efficiencies and ensure the companies
cost base is realigned effectively with both the short term and underlying
changes in service needs and income trends, where possible.
Service Response to the Covid-19 Disruptions
4.17 Catering – continues to be one of the most severely affected services with school
meals initially down from 11,000 daily meals to 700 during the 1st lockdown.
While catering provided these essential free school meal, keyworker and other
community food services up to the summer holidays from a reduced network of
school catering hubs, financial losses were incurred to the end of August despite
accessing Government furlough schemes and temporary service retainer
contributions negotiated from schools. Developments in preparation for and since
the return to school in September included the following:
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• Successfully demobilised from the 8 Compass Academy and 6 Catholic Diocese
schools and implemented TUPE for all affected staff.
• Returned “Cost Plus” sites such as secondary schools back to a full cost
recovery and management fee model, returning the risk and reward back to
schools.
• Ongoing Covid-19 disruptions have caused meal numbers during the Autumn
to be around 25% below last year’s level, even allowing for ended contracts, so
the following further actions were applied:
-site staffing capacity and costs were reviewed; agency and some permanent
staff hours were furloughed.
-weekly performance monitoring of meals and working hours to review &
improve meals per labour hour achieved across each site.
-encouraged all schools to move back to hot meals from October and
promote increased pupil meal take up.
• Contingency plans for dealing with school bubble disruptions and prepared
standby food parcels for schools to supply to vulnerable children who were
unable to attend and working with RBG to provide good quality food parcels
over school holidays.
• The latest full lockdown saw total school meals of around 1,900 per day
including teaching staff. Revised, robust, emergency billing arrangements were
put in place to recover the costs of staff cover, food and fixed overheads from
each school.
Discussions reopened with the Greenwich Community Schools Partnership on the
future catering service including options to continue with GSP for the short term
given that the Tender process had already been put back by 12 months to July 2021.
The schools collectively decided to press ahead and go to the market. A tender
process was formally launched in January 2021, fully supported by GSP and by RBG
procurement services, with a contract award by schools in June 2021 and handover
to new providers by 1 August 2021. GSP continue to assist schools including the 4
Greenwich based schools not forming part of the GCSP grouping in fulfilling their
own decisions.
4.18 Cleaning – the demand for cleaning has increased with enhanced routine cleaning
regimes for reopened RBG offices and numerous requirements for ad-hoc deep
cleans, including some sites not normally cleaned by the companies. This
additional demand, which is accompanied by increased requirement for staff, PPE
and materials use, has contributed valuable additional income to offset some of
the pressures elsewhere across the companies. Potential further opportunities
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around this will be explored as capacity allows. As with Catering, discussions with
GCSP on future school cleaning arrangements and to explore all options for the
current sites have been opened but will involve a longer timescale to avoid
overlap.
4.19 Passenger Transport – has also been significantly impacted by the lockdown,
although as most services are provided to RBG, they have remained financially
stable. The transport of vulnerable children to attend school (subject to distancing
requirements limiting vehicle capacity) has been assisted by staff and vehicles
redeployed from Adults services which had been suspended. Other Covid-19
related community support included:
• The frozen community meal service extended to September, plus 155 weekly
frozen meals support to vulnerable SEN children.
• Provided drivers/assistants and vehicles to support GCDA community hubs,
school meal catering hubs and to transport volunteers to collect and deliver
medical prescriptions.
• Through the Taxi framework, negotiated arrangements on behalf of RBG for
private taxi providers stood down during lockdown and secured new rounds
and providers from September in line with DCS client requests.
• Collected & delivered 744 PC’s, numerous PPE consignments and Covid-19
information banners to various schools.
• Assisted the most vulnerable to attend Covid-91 vaccination sites.
4.20 Fleet Services – Proactively deployed staff arranging shifts to avoid virus
transmission to maintain support for essential refuse and passenger vehicles. Also
undertook the urgent testing of key RBG vehicles prior to the lockdown
withdrawal of HGV/PSV testing facilities. The subsequent return of this service
and re-opening of public access to the in-house MOT testing station has seen
business start to pick up as the interim extension of MOT test renewal dates ends
and those that were extended expired. Similarly, turnover for external vehicle
repair and servicing work had started to recover and these have remained open
during the later lockdowns.
4.21 Back Office – The companies ICT resources urgently assisted schools and
company back office services to access IT facilities remotely. Other back office
staff continued to keep essential support functions running while navigating
through the rapidly changing regulatory and service environment including: payroll
& securing and updating furlough for up to 400 staff; closing the 2019/20 accounts;
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ensuring TUPE obligations were thoroughly applied to protect staff in contracts
coming to an end; Health & Safety team providing continuous review of risk
assessments, safety systems and staff training.
Conclusion and Looking Forward
4.22 This paper has updated the continuing journey of the companies and staff so far in
responding to the unprecedented scenarios facing the various stakeholders. The
financial positions covered by this report remain on track with the working
assumptions made in the Cabinet Report of February 2019.
4.23 As outlined above the companies are actively planning for both the continuing and
new challenges that will undoubtedly face services as we move through the
uncertainties of the waves of Covid-19 and emerge from further
lockdown/restrictions. The combinations of these uncertainties on the business
transformation and the considerable financial challenges being faced by the
Council have required the timescale to be realigned with the RBG MTFS to
2024/25. It will be necessary for the companies to take stock of the revised
timescale and to respond further if the work base shrinks by reflecting this in the
cost base going forward. The companies will continue to work closely with the
shareholder to agree the direction regarding staffing and risks and maintaining the
liquidity of the companies going forward.
5.
5.1.
6.

Available Options
Not applicable to this report
Preferred Option

6.1 Not applicable to this report
7.

Reasons for Recommendations

7.1 Not applicable to this report
8.

Consultation Results

8.1 Not applicable to this report
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9.

Cross Cutting Issues and Implications

Issues
Legal,
including
Human
Rights Act

Implications
The purpose of this report is for the
Committee:
1.1 To note the Annual Report and Audited
Accounts 2019/20 and Interim Report 2020/21
for the Council’s wholly owned companies,
Greenwich Service Solutions Ltd and GS Plus
Ltd.

Sign Off
John
Scarborough,
Director of
Legal Services,
3 June 2021

1.2 To note the contents of the report outlining
the transformation activities and the response
of the companies to the Covid-19 pandemic and
the updated timescale for the transformation
agreed by Cabinet on 20 December 2020.

Finance and
other
resources
Equalities

No formal decision will be taken. As such, there
are no legal implications arising directly from
the report.
The report is presented for Overview and
Scrutiny and as such brings no new financial
implications. The financial implications arising as
a result of the Cabinet report of 16 December
2020 can be found within that report itself.
The information in this report has a remote or
low relevance to the substance of the Equality
Act. There is no apparent equality impact on
end users.

Damon Cook,
Director of
Finance,
3 June 2021
Mark
Armstrong,
Head of
Accounting &
Business
Change
(GSP/GSS
Transformation)
1 June 2021
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Climate
Change

The report is an information item so has no
direct implications to consider. The Companies
are owned by the Council and provide services
which include Fleet Management, Passenger
Transport, Catering and Building FM and
Cleaning and as such remain fully committed to
working with the Council to promote more
sustainable service solutions in response to the
Climate Emergency.

Mark
Armstrong,
Head of
Accounting &
Business
Change
(GSP/GSS
Transformation)
1 June 2021

10. Report Appendices
10.1 The following documents are to be published with and form part of the
report:
• Appendix A : GSS Annual Report & Audited Accounts 2019/20
• Appendix B : GSP Annual Report & Audited Accounts 2019/20
11. Background Papers
GS Plus Ltd & GSS Ltd – Annual Reports 2017/18 and Review of Operating
Models, Cabinet 20/2/19 - Item 17
GS Plus Ltd & GSS Ltd – Annual Reports 2018/19 and Interim Report 2019/20,
Cabinet 13/11/19 - Item 14
GS Plus Ltd & GSS Ltd – Annual Reports 2019/20 and Interim Report 2020/21,
Cabinet 16/12/20 - Item 9
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Report Author:

Mark Armstrong
Head of Accounting & Business Change (GSP/GSS
Transformation)
Tel No.: 020 8921 6202
Email: mark.armstrong@royalgreenwich.gov.uk

Reporting to:

Mandy Knowles - Acting Chief Operations Officer GSP/GSS
Ltd
Tel No.: 020 8921 8329
Email: mandy.knowles@gsplus.org

Chief Officer:

Mirsad Bakalovic – Director of Improvement
Managing Director GSP/GSS Ltd
Tel No.: 020 8921 6432
Email: mirsad.bakalovic@royalgreenwich.gov.uk
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
The directors present their strategic report for the year ended 31 March 2020.
Greenwich Service Solutions Limited (GSS Limited) is a company limited by shares, whose ultimate parent is the Royal
Borough of Greenwich, the activities of the company include:
- Education Catering
- Gateway Employment
- Building Cleaning Service
- ICT support service
REVIEW OF BUSINESS
This is the 11th full year of trading for GSS. Turnover reduced from £2.96m to £2.47m, with accumulated reserves of
£0.78m.
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This year represents the first year of the company's Transformation Implementation Business Plan following the
decision by the Cabinet of the Royal Borough of Greenwich on 20th February 2019 to "Insource Fleet, Passenger and
Facilities Management services but move away from the provision of Catering, Schools ICT and Building Cleaning
services (except RBG Building Cleaning)" over a 3 year period, which was subsequently endorsed at the company's
Board meeting of 28th February 2019. The reduction in turnover during the year reflects the commencement of the
planned withdrawal from non-RBG contracts including catering and cleaning services.
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Notwithstanding the change in strategic direction, the principal activity of the company remains the Gateway
Employment Agency and the main client is GS Plus Ltd which predominantly provides Teckal services to RBG. Credit
risk is therefore low and trade is directly influenced by the parent. The national lockdown of schools and services as part
of the response to the Covid-19 pandemic impacted on the company's services and performance at the end of 2019/20
and into 2020/21. Measures were taken to minimise the impact of this including directing agency services to assist RBG
in their support of communities through GS Plus Ltd as clients. Where this was not possible agency staff were
furloughed. As a result of these prompt actions company cashflow remains healthy supported by available reserves. We
continue to work with GS Plus, RBG and schools to plan for the return to 'new normal' operations in the Autumn.
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT
At its meeting of 28th February 2019, the Board noted that the decision is likely to result in the winding up of the
Company and is also likely to result in the continued generation of trading losses over the expected 3-year period of
transition. Quarterly updates on the progress of the revised Implementation Business Plan, including updates of the
financial forecasts covering the current and future year's position will continue to be submitted to the Board, to ensure
that the company position remains solvent and that Directors are compliant with their legal duties as Directors under the
Companies Act 2006 and otherwise.
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

........................................................................
M Bakalovic - Director

Date: .............................................
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
The directors present their report with the financial statements of the company for the year ended 31 March 2020.
DIVIDENDS
No dividends will be distributed for the year ended 31 March 2020.
DIRECTORS
The directors shown below have held office during the whole of the period from 1 April 2019 to the date of this report.
I Tasker
M Bakalovic
S A Brain
Other changes in directors holding office are as follows:
K T Scotford - appointed 20 May 2019
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IMPACT OF COVID-19
The outbreak of COVID-19 which has taken place during the year ended 31 March 2020 has resulted in a pandemic
causing extensive disruption across the globe. The UK Government enforced a lockdown from 23 March 2020. The
company's activities, as with many businesses, have been impacted. The company's reserves, generated during the
year ended 31 March 2020, the continued support from Royal Borough of Greenwich and Government support via the
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme were sufficient to enable the company to continue through lockdown until a period
where trade has recommenced.
The company expects to continue to meets its operational needs, financial and regulatory obligations. The impact of
COVID-19 is continuing to evolve at a fast pace, and therefore it is not practicable to quantify the potential financial
impact on the company at the time of writing.
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES
The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Report of the Directors and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the
company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company
will continue in business.
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS
So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined by Section 418 of the Companies
Act 2006) of which the company's auditors are unaware, and each director has taken all the steps that he or she ought
to have taken as a director in order to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the company's auditors are aware of that information.
AUDITORS
The auditors, McCabe Ford Williams, will be proposed for re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

Date: .............................................
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........................................................................
M Bakalovic - Director
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF
GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Greenwich Service Solutions Limited (the 'company') for the year ended
31 March 2020 which comprise the Statement of Profit or Loss, the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of
Cash Flows and Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows, Notes to the Financial Statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.
In our opinion the financial statements:
- give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 March 2020 and of its loss for the year then
ended;
- have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and
- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
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Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to
you where:
- the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not
appropriate; or
- the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period
of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information in the Strategic
Report and the Report of the Directors, but does not include the financial statements and our Report of the Auditors
thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
- the information given in the Strategic Report and the Report of the Directors for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
- the Strategic Report and the Report of the Directors have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF
GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Report of the Directors.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you
if, in our opinion:
- adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or
- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
- certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities set out on page three, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and
for such internal control as the directors determine necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a Report of the Auditors that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting
Council's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our Report of the Auditors.
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF
GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those
matters we are required to state to them in a Report of the Auditors and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Date: .............................................
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Ashley Phillips FCCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of McCabe Ford Williams
Statutory Auditors and Chartered Accountants
Bank Chambers
1 Central Avenue
Sittingbourne
Kent
ME10 4AE
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
31.3.20
£

31.3.19
£

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue

2,450,491

2,960,155

Cost of sales

(2,317,176)

(2,776,076)

133,315

184,079

9,439
(235,477)
(140)

(261,037)
(220)

(92,863)

(77,178)

-

(4,498)

Notes

GROSS PROFIT
Other operating income
Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses

3

OPERATING LOSS

Finance income
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX
Income tax
LOSS FOR THE YEAR

5
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Finance costs

5

3,782

5,495

6

(89,081)

(76,181)

7

(6,683)

17,981

(95,764)

(58,200)

The notes form part of these financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
31.3.20
£

31.3.19
£

(95,764)

(58,200)

-

7,325
100,743

-

-

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR
THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX

-

108,068

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR
THE YEAR

(95,764)

49,868

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

DR
AF
T

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
IAS19 (charge)/income
Pension liability transferred to RBG
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss

The notes form part of these financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER: 06778317)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 MARCH 2020
31.3.20
£

31.3.19
£

8

19,211

25,615

16

-

6,683

19,211

32,298

5,468
359,317
4,809
627,835

10,900
572,446
688,398

997,429

1,271,744

1,016,640

1,304,042

100
787,487

100
883,251

787,587

883,351

229,053

420,691

229,053

420,691

1,016,640

1,304,042

Notes
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Owned
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use
Deferred tax

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Tax receivable
Cash and cash equivalents

9
10

DR
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11

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Called up share capital
Retained earnings

12
13

TOTAL EQUITY
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

14

TOTAL LIABILITIES
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on
............................................. and were signed on its behalf by:

........................................................................
M Bakalovic - Director

The notes form part of these financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
Called up
share
capital
£
Balance at 1 April 2018
Changes in equity
Total comprehensive income
Balance at 31 March 2019

Changes in equity
Total comprehensive income

Total
equity
£

100

833,383

833,483

-

49,868

49,868

100

883,251

883,351

-

(95,764)

(95,764)

100

787,487

787,587
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Balance at 31 March 2020

Retained
earnings
£

The notes form part of these financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
31.3.20
£

31.3.19
£

(59,536)
(4,809)

(34,323)
(4,809)

(64,345)

(39,132)

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received

3,782

3,682

Net cash from investing activities

3,782

3,682

(60,563)

(35,450)

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Tax paid

1

Net cash from operating activities

DR
AF
T

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year

2

688,398

723,848

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2

627,835

688,398

The notes form part of these financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
1.

RECONCILIATION OF LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX TO CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
31.3.20
31.3.19
£
£
Loss before income tax
(89,081)
(76,181)
Depreciation charges
6,404
8,538
Administration expenses on LGPS
55
Finance costs
4,498
Finance income
(3,782)
(5,495)

Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations

(68,585)
(2,111)
(62,102)
98,475

(59,536)

(34,323)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

DR
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2.

(86,459)
5,432
213,129
(191,638)

The amounts disclosed on the Statement of Cash Flows in respect of cash and cash equivalents are in respect
of these Statement of Financial Position amounts:
Year ended 31 March 2020

Cash and cash equivalents
Year ended 31 March 2019

Cash and cash equivalents

31.3.20
£
627,835

1.4.19
£
688,398

31.3.19
£
688,398

1.4.18
£
723,848

The notes form part of these financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
1.

STATUTORY INFORMATION
Greenwich Service Solutions Limited is a private company, limited by shares, registered in England and Wales.
The company's registered number and registered office address can be found on the Company Information
page.
The presentation currency of the financial statements is the Pound Sterling (£).
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and IFRIC interpretations and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting
under IFRS. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
The company meets its day to day working capital requirements largely through its own activities but also
through financial and grant support from the Boroughs for which it operates facilities. The Directors expect this
financial support to continue for the foreseeable future and therefore consider it appropriate to prepare the
financial statements on a going concern basis. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that
would result from the withdrawal of its financial support by the local authority.
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2.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the company's accounting policies management is required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from the estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
The estimation of bad debts is based on previous history and any known factors at the time the financial
statements are approved, however due to the level of trade debtors this represents an area of significant
estimation uncertainty.
A further key source of estimation uncertainty that has a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements are the depreciation charges that are calculated with reference to the useful economic life of
tangible fixed assets and the recoverability of tax trading losses along with any related deferred tax asset.
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Revenue recognition
Income represents net sales of goods and services excluding value added tax.
Service concession arrangements
The Company has various Service Contracts with various schools within the Royal Borough of Greenwich for the
provision of meals to these schools, to which it has lease and management service contracts. The contracts
specify minimum standards for the services to be provided, with deductions from the service management fee
payable being made if facilities are unavailable or performance is below the minimum standards.
Property, plant and equipment
The buildings and equipment at the schools are used by the Company as part of the overall contractual
relationship with the school but the school maintains ultimate control of these assets. Accordingly the access
which the Company has in the use of these assets, is to enable it to operate the school canteen, so that the
Company can provide the service it is contracted to provide, not to effectively own these public service assets.
These assets are therefore not recognised on the Company's Balance Sheet.
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2.

Property, plant and equipment
Depreciation is provided at the following annual rates in order to write off each asset over its estimated useful
life.
Plant and machinery
Computer equipment

- 25% on reducing balance
- 25% on reducing balance
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Financial instruments
The company enters into basic financial instruments that result in the recognition of financial assets and
liabilities like trade and other accounts receivable and payable, loans from banks and other third parties and
loans to related parties.
a) Trade and other debtors
Trade and other debtors are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts except where the effect of
discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment losses for
bad and doubtful debts.
b) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand.
c) Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised cost are assessed at the end of each reporting period
for objective evidence of impairment. If objective evidence of impairment is found, an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between an
asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the asset's original
effective interest rate. If a financial asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.
For financial assets measured at cost less impairment, the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between an asset's carrying amount and the best estimate, which is an approximation, of the amount that the
company would receive for the asset if it were to be sold at the reporting date.
d) Trade and other creditors
Debt instruments like loans and other accounts payable are initially measured at present value of the future
payments and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Debt instruments that are
payable within one year, typically trade payables, are measured, initially and subsequently, at the undiscounted
amount of the cash or other consideration expected to be paid. However, if the arrangements of a short-term
instrument constitute a financing transaction, like the payment of a trade debt deferred beyond normal business
terms or financed at a rate of interest that is not a market rate or in case of an outright short-term loan not at
market rate, the financial asset is measured, initially and subsequently, at the present value of the future
payments discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when
there is an enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, after making due allowance for obsolete and
slow moving items.
Taxation
Current taxes are based on the results shown in the financial statements and are calculated according to local
tax rules, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted by the statement of financial position date.
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Leases
Leases are recognised as finance leases. The lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments which have not yet been made and subsequently measured under the amortised cost method.
The initial cost of the right-of-use asset comprises the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
lease payments made prior to the lease commencement date, initial direct costs and the estimated costs of
removing or dismantling the underlying asset per the conditions of the contract.
Where ownership of the right-of-use asset transfers to the lessee at the end of the lease term, the right-of-use
asset is depreciated over the asset’s remaining useful life. If ownership of the right-of-use asset does not
transfer to the lessee at the end of the lease term, depreciation is charged over the shorter of the useful life of
the right-of-use asset and the lease term.
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Grant income
Monies advanced as grants and contributions are shown as liabilities on the Balance Sheet until outstanding
conditions are satisfied. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the Income
Statement.
Government grants
During the accounting period the company was in receipt of government grants in the form of the Coronavirus
Job Retention Scheme. The grants are recognised in full as income in the period to which the associated grant
claim relates. Accordingly grants recognised in the period to 31 March 2020 relate to claims for wages costs
incurred up to 31 March 2020.
3.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Government grants

31.3.20
£
9,439

31.3.19
£
-

The outbreak of COVID-19 which has taken place during the year ended 31 March 2020 has resulted in a
pandemic causing extensive disruption across the globe. The UK Government enforced a lockdown from 23
March 2020. The lockdown required the general public to only leave their homes if absolutely necessary to do
so, schools were closed to children, other than those of key workers, and employees were requested to work
from home if they could. Where employees could not work from home, employers were required to ensure that
social distancing and other measures were in place. At the time of the lockdown there was little guidance on this
matter.
Due to the nature of the business it was necessary furlough some members of the workforce and the Company
accessed Government support via the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme.
4.

EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

Page 17

31.3.20
£
2,041,666
96,951
26,364

31.3.19
£
2,418,247
121,115
24,208

2,164,981

2,563,570

continued...
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
4.

EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS - continued
The average number of employees during the year was as follows:

Weekly paid
Monthly paid

Directors' remuneration

Finance income:
Deposit account interest
Interest income on pension scheme assets

Finance costs:
Interest on pension scheme liabilities

Net finance income

6.

31.3.19

142
33

147
52

175

199

31.3.20
£
-

31.3.19
£
2,417

31.3.20
£

31.3.19
£

3,782
-

3,682
1,813

3,782

5,495

-

4,498

3,782

997

31.3.20
£
166,715
140
6,404
7,500

31.3.19
£
241,312
220
8,538
9,000

NET FINANCE INCOME
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5.

31.3.20

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

The loss before income tax is stated after charging:

Cost of inventories recognised as expense
Leases
Depreciation - owned assets
Auditors remuneration
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
INCOME TAX
Analysis of tax expense/(income)
31.3.20
£
Current tax:
Taxation

31.3.19
£

-

(4,809)

Deferred taxation

6,683

(13,172)

Total tax expense/(income) in statement of profit or loss

6,683

(17,981)

Factors affecting the tax expense
The tax assessed for the year is higher (2019 - lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The
difference is explained below:
31.3.20
£
(89,081)

31.3.19
£
(76,181)

Loss multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19%
(2019 - 19%)

(16,925)

(14,474)

Effects of:
Expenses not allowable for tax purposes
IAS19 adjustment
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances
Deferred Tax
Reverse expenses not allowable for tax purposes in 2019
Losses available to carry forward
Reduction in bad debt provision

179
1,217
6,683
(1,201)
17,974
(1,244)

1,201
521
1,622
(13,172)
11,550
(5,229)

6,683

(17,981)

Loss before income tax

Tax expense/(income)
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7.
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
8.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and
machinery
£
COST
At 1 April 2019
Disposals
At 31 March 2020
DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2019
Charge for year
Eliminated on disposal

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 March 2020
At 31 March 2019

9.

INVENTORIES

Stocks

10.

805
(805)

53,795
-

54,600
(805)

-

53,795

53,795

805
(805)

28,180
6,404
-

28,985
6,404
(805)

-

34,584

34,584

-

19,211

19,211

-

25,615

25,615

31.3.20
£
5,468

31.3.19
£
10,900

31.3.20
£

31.3.19
£

121,444
106,034
25,839
106,000

137,629
101,097
30,354
303,366

359,317

572,446

31.3.20
£
627,835

31.3.19
£
3,166
685,232

627,835

688,398

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current:
Trade debtors
Amounts owed by group undertakings
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

11.

Totals
£
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At 31 March 2020

Computer
equipment
£

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and in hand
Bank accounts
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
12.

CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Allotted, issued and fully paid:
Number:
Class:
100

13.

Nominal
value:
1

Ordinary

31.3.20
£
100

31.3.19
£
100

RESERVES
Retained
earnings
£
883,251
(95,764)

At 31 March 2020

787,487

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current:
Trade creditors
Other taxes and PAYE taxes
Other creditors
Accrued expenses
VAT

15.
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14.

At 1 April 2019
Deficit for the year

31.3.19
£

12,262
24,562
7,141
69,722
115,366

43,226
34,937
8,478
187,888
146,162

229,053

420,691

31.3.20
£
140

31.3.19
£
220

31.3.20
£
(6,683)
6,683

31.3.19
£
6,489
(13,172)

-

(6,683)

LEASING
Other leases

Short-term leases

16.

31.3.20
£

DEFERRED TAX

Balance at 1 April
Timing differences
Balance at 31 March

Page 21

continued...

Page 79

GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
The Company previously operated a defined benefit scheme in the UK. During the previous year the defined
benefit scheme was taken over by the Royal Borough of Greenwich and accordingly the deficit on the pension
scheme is no longer a potential liability of the Company.
The amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:
Defined benefit
pension plans
31.3.20
31.3.19
£
£
-

Current service cost
Net interest from net defined benefit
asset/liability
Past service cost

Actual return on plan assets
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17.

-

(1,183)
-

-

(1,183)

-

5,681

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

Opening defined benefit obligation
Interest cost
Actuarial losses/(gains)
Transfer to RBG

Defined benefit
pension plans
31.3.20
31.3.19
£
£
176,411
4,498
(3,457)
(177,452)
-

-

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows:
Defined benefit
pension plans
31.3.20
31.3.19
£
£
71,083
5,681
(55)
(76,709)

Opening fair value of scheme assets
Interest income
Administration expenses on scheme assets
Transfer to RBG

-
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS - continued
The amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:
Defined benefit
pension plans
31.3.20
31.3.19
£
£
7,325
100,743

IAS19 (charge)/income
Transfer of liability to RBG

-

108,068

The major categories of scheme assets as a percentage of total scheme assets are as follows:

UK Equities
Other Bonds
Property
Cash
Unitised Insurance Policies
UK & Overseas Unit Trusts
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17.

Defined benefit
pension plans
31.3.20
31.3.19
9%
18%
10%
1%
37%
25%
100%

Principal actuarial assumptions at the statement of financial position date (expressed as weighted averages):

Discount rate
Future salary increases
Future pension increases
RPI increases
CPI increases

31.3.20
-

31.3.19
2.40%
3.90%
2.40%
3.40%
2.40%

The charge to other comprehensive income can be broken down as follows:
31.3.20

31.3.19

Return on plan assets excluding interest
Change in financial assumptions
Change in demographic assumptions

-

3,868
(6,654)
10,111

Total

-

7,325
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
18.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
The company was charged £94,898 (2019: £122,368) by Greenwich Service Plus Limited, a company under
common control, for management services. It also charged Greenwich Service Plus Limited £1,957,454 (2019:
£2,096,161) during the same period and at the Statement of Financial Position date the amount due by the
company was £61,774 (2019: £261,035).
The company charged £1,481 (2019: £nil) to the Royal Borough of Greenwich (including Schools), the ultimate
controlling party, during the year. The balance due from the Royal Borough of Greenwich at the Statement of
Financial Position date was £nil (2019: £1,961). The balance due to the Royal Borough of Greenwich at the
Statement of Financial Position date was £110 (2019: £nil).
ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY
The ultimate controlling party is the Royal Borough of Greenwich by virtue of holding all the company shares.
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Page 24

Page 82

GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
INCOME STATEMENT SUMMARIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

REVENUE
Sales
Agency Income

31.3.19
£

795,926
1,654,565

1,171,845
1,788,310

2,450,491

2,960,155

10,900
166,715
2,021,714
96,951
26,364
(5,468)

8,789
241,312
2,391,697
120,970
24,208
(10,900)
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COST OF SALES
Opening stock
Materials
Wages
National insurance
Pensions
Closing stock

31.3.20
£

OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Government grants

2,317,176

2,776,076

9,439

-

9,439

-

This page does not form part of the statutory financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
INCOME STATEMENT SUMMARIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
31.3.19
£

11,674
13,817

11,674
11,836

19,952
12,041
4,703
1,351
14,225
16,020
562
7,456
26,634
7,500

24,133
9,449
9,831
2,905
12,700
295
4,475
33,317
1,596
8,403
8,849
9,000

(4,964)
94,898

(27,421)
123,304

1,777
1,427

3,748
1,788

-

55

-

2,417
145

6,404

8,538

235,477

261,037

140

220

140

220

-

4,498

-

4,498
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ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Establishment costs
Rent and rates
Insurance
Administrative expenses
Wages
Telephone
Post and stationery
Travelling
Repairs and renewals
Cleaning and laundry
Protective clothing
Computer expenses
Sundry expenses
Training
Legal and professional fees
Auditors remuneration
Admin extra 1
Bad debts
Management fees
Finance costs
Bank charges
Credit card charges
Administration expenses on
pension scheme assets
Directors' remuneration
Directors' salaries
Directors' social security
Depreciation
Computer equipment

31.3.20
£

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
Leases

FINANCE COSTS
Interest on pension scheme liabilities

This page does not form part of the statutory financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE SOLUTIONS LIMITED
INCOME STATEMENT SUMMARIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
31.3.19
£

3,782
-

3,682
1,813

3,782

5,495
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FINANCE INCOME
Deposit account interest
Interest income on pension scheme assets

31.3.20
£

This page does not form part of the statutory financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
GS Plus is a company limited by guarantee, whose ultimate parent is the Royal Borough of Greenwich, the activities of
the company include:
- Education Catering
- Hospitality and retail catering
- Fleet Management and Maintenance Service
- Building Cleaning Service
- Facilities Management Service
- Passenger Services
- Schools ICT support service
REVIEW OF BUSINESS
This is the 10th full year of trading for GS Plus. Turnover reduced from £32.7m to £30.9m, with, accumulated reserves
of £2.6m.
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This year represents the first year of the company's Transformation Implementation Business Plan following the
decision by the Cabinet of the Royal Borough of Greenwich on 20th February 2019 to "Insource Fleet, Passenger and
Facilities Management services but move away from the provision of Catering, Schools ICT and Building Cleaning
services (except RBG Building Cleaning)" over a 3 year period, which was subsequently endorsed at the company's
Board meeting of 28th February 2019. The reduction in turnover during the year reflects the commencement of the
planned withdrawal from non-RBG contracts including catering, cleaning and passenger services.
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Notwithstanding the change in strategic direction, the principal client of the company is the Royal Borough of
Greenwich. Credit risk is therefore low and trade is directly influenced by the parent. The national lockdown of schools
and services as part of the response to the Covid-19 pandemic impacted on the company's services and performance at
the end of 2019/20 and into 2020/21. Numerous measures were urgently taken to minimise the impact of this including
redirecting services to assist RBG in their support of communities in return for continued contract funding and a
package was implemented with schools for contract retainer payments and the furlough of stood down staff, while
vulnerable and key worker children's school meal requirements were met from a scaled down hub operation. Cleaning
services have remained in strong demand throughout. As a result of these prompt actions company cashflow remains
healthy. We continue to work with RBG and schools to plan for the return to 'new normal' operations in the Autumn.
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT
At its meeting of 28th February 2019, the Board noted that the decision is likely to result in the winding up of the
Company and is also likely to result in the continued generation of trading losses over the 3-year period of transition. In
its meeting on 19th March 2020 the Board noted the approval by the shareholder to extend the implementation plan by
at least a year to allow for the rescheduling of tenders and the reshaping of services upon the emergence from
lockdown. Quarterly updates on the progress of the revised Implementation Business Plan, including updates of the
financial forecasts covering the current and future year's position will continue to be submitted to the Board, to ensure
that the company position remains solvent and that Directors are compliant with their legal duties as Directors under the
Companies Act 2006 and otherwise.
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

T

........................................................................
M Bakalovic - Director

DR
AF

Date: .............................................
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
The directors present their report with the financial statements of the company for the year ended 31 March 2020.
DIVIDENDS
No dividends will be distributed for the year ended 31 March 2020.
DIRECTORS
The directors shown below have held office during the whole of the period from 1 April 2019 to the date of this report.
S M Stephenson
I Tasker
M Bakalovic
G P Dillon
Other changes in directors holding office are as follows:

T

K T Scotford - appointed 20 May 2019
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DISABLED PERSONS
The Company's policy is to give full and fair consideration to applications for employment by disabled persons, having
regard for their particular aptitudes and abilities. Disabled employees receive appropriate training to promote their
career within the organisation. Employees who become disabled are retained in their existing posts where possible or
retrained for suitable alternative posts.
IMPACT OF COVID-19
The outbreak of COVID-19 which has taken place during the year ended 31 March 2020 has resulted in a pandemic
causing extensive disruption across the globe. The UK Government enforced a lockdown from 23 March 2020. The
company's activities, as with many businesses, have been impacted. The company's reserves, generated during the
year ended 31 March 2020, the continued support from Royal Borough of Greenwich and Government support via the
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme were sufficient to enable the company to continue through lockdown until a period
where trade has recommenced.
The company expects to continue to meets its operational needs, financial and regulatory obligations. The impact of
COVID-19 is continuing to evolve at a fast pace, and therefore it is not practicable to quantify the potential financial
impact on the company at the time of writing.
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES
The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Report of the Directors and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the surplus or deficit of
the company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company
will continue in business.
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES - continued
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.
STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS
So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined by Section 418 of the Companies
Act 2006) of which the company's auditors are unaware, and each director has taken all the steps that he or she ought
to have taken as a director in order to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the company's auditors are aware of that information.
AUDITORS
The auditors, McCabe Ford Williams, will be proposed for re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
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T

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

........................................................................
M Bakalovic - Director

Date: .............................................
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF
GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Greenwich Service Plus Limited (Limited by Guarantee) (the 'company') for
the year ended 31 March 2020 which comprise the Statement of Profit or Loss, the Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement
of Cash Flows and Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows, Notes to the Financial Statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.
In our opinion the financial statements:
- give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 March 2020 and of its deficit for the year then
ended;
- have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and
- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
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Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to
you where:
- the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not
appropriate; or
- the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period
of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information in the Strategic
Report and the Report of the Directors, but does not include the financial statements and our Report of the Auditors
thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
- the information given in the Strategic Report and the Report of the Directors for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
- the Strategic Report and the Report of the Directors have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF
GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Report of the Directors.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you
if, in our opinion:
- adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or
- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
- certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

T

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities set out on pages four and five, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and
for such internal control as the directors determine necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a Report of the Auditors that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting
Council's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our Report of the Auditors.
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF
GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those
matters we are required to state to them in a Report of the Auditors and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

T

Ashley Phillips FCCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of McCabe Ford Williams
Statutory Auditors and Chartered Accountants
Bank Chambers
1 Central Avenue
Sittingbourne
Kent
ME10 4AE

DR
AF

Date: .............................................
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
31.3.20
£

31.3.19
£

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue

30,936,611

32,650,765

Cost of sales

(28,918,328)

(31,101,460)

GROSS SURPLUS

2,018,283

1,549,305

Other operating income
Administrative expenses

406
(2,404,300)

(2,074,746)

(385,611)

(525,441)

-

(1,411,000)

Notes

4

Finance income

4

DEFICIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

5

Income tax
DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR

15,783

998,565

(369,828)

(937,876)

33,162

(73,643)

(336,666)

(1,011,519)

DR
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Finance costs

T

OPERATING DEFICIT

6

The notes form part of these financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
31.3.20
£

31.3.19
£

(336,666)

(1,011,519)

-

3,157,000
16,293,000

-

-

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR
THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX

-

19,450,000

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR
THE YEAR

(336,666)

18,438,481

DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR

DR
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Actuarial gain/(loss)
Pension liability transferred to RBG
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss

The notes form part of these financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE) (REGISTERED NUMBER: 07065923)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 MARCH 2020
31.3.20
£

31.3.19
£

7

95,566

257,023

8
9

204,037
4,228,400
19,537
3,969,631

201,702
4,821,337
3,083,840

8,421,605

8,106,879

8,517,171

8,363,902

Notes
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Tax receivable
Cash and cash equivalents

10

EQUITY
Retained earnings

T

TOTAL ASSETS

TOTAL EQUITY
LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
TOTAL LIABILITIES
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

2,663,655

3,000,321

2,663,655

3,000,321

13

-

13,695

12

5,853,516

5,349,886

5,853,516

5,363,581

8,517,171

8,363,902

DR
AF

11

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on
............................................. and were signed on its behalf by:

........................................................................
M Bakalovic - Director

The notes form part of these financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
Retained
earnings
£

Total
equity
£

Balance at 1 April 2018

(15,438,160)

(15,438,160)

Changes in equity
Total comprehensive income

18,438,481

18,438,481

Balance at 31 March 2019

3,000,321

3,000,321

(336,666)

(336,666)

2,663,655

2,663,655

Changes in equity
Total comprehensive income
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Balance at 31 March 2020

The notes form part of these financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
31.3.20
£

31.3.19
£

870,078
(70)

337,749
(364,256)

870,008

(26,507)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Interest received

15,783

(286,693)
24,565

Net cash from investing activities

15,783

(262,128)

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Tax paid

1

T

Net cash from operating activities

885,791

(288,635)

3,083,840

3,372,475

3,969,631

3,083,840

DR
AF

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year
2

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2

The notes form part of these financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Increase in inventories
Decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables

(224,154)
(2,335)
592,937
503,630

1,022,242
(44,212)
990,788
(1,631,069)

Cash generated from operations

870,078

337,749

T

2.

RECONCILIATION OF DEFICIT BEFORE INCOME TAX TO CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
31.3.20
31.3.19
£
£
Deficit before income tax
(369,828)
(937,876)
Depreciation charges
161,457
256,683
Pension charge less cash contributions
1,262,000
Admin expenses on pension scheme assets
29,000
Finance costs
1,411,000
Finance income
(15,783)
(998,565)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

DR
AF

1.

The amounts disclosed on the Statement of Cash Flows in respect of cash and cash equivalents are in respect
of these Statement of Financial Position amounts:
Year ended 31 March 2020

Cash and cash equivalents
Year ended 31 March 2019

Cash and cash equivalents

31.3.20
£
3,969,631

1.4.19
£
3,083,840

31.3.19
£
3,083,840

1.4.18
£
3,372,475

The notes form part of these financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
1.

STATUTORY INFORMATION
Greenwich Service Plus Limited (Limited by Guarantee) is a private company, limited by guarantee, registered in
England and Wales. The company's registered number and registered office address can be found on the
Company Information page.
The presentation currency of the financial statements is the Pound Sterling (£).
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and IFRIC interpretations and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting
under IFRS. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

T

The company meets its day to day working capital requirements largely through its own activities but also
through financial and grant support from the Boroughs for which it operates facilities. The Directors expect this
financial support to continue for the foreseeable future and therefore consider it appropriate to prepare the
financial statements on a going concern basis. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that
would result from the withdrawal of its financial support by the local authority.
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2.

Revenue recognition
Income represents net sales of goods and services excluding value added tax, to customers during the year.
Service concession arrangements
The Company has Service Contracts with various schools within the Royal Borough of Greenwich for the
provision of meals to these schools owned by the Authority to which it has lease and management service
contracts. The Authority has the right under the contracts to specify the price charged. The contracts specify
minimum standards for the services to be provided, with deductions from the service management fee payable
being made if facilities are unavailable or performance is below the minimum standards.
Receipts
The Company, in most cases, receives an agreed payment from the Authority each year which may, in certain
cases, be adjusted each year by inflation and can be reduced if the Company fails to meet availability and
performance standards in any year, but which is otherwise fixed.
Property, plant and equipment
The buildings and plant at the centres are leased to the Company as part of the overall contractual relationship
with the Authority but the Authority maintains ultimate control of these assets. Accordingly the access which the
Company has in the use of these assets is to enable it to provide the service it is contracted to provide, not to
effectively own these public service assets. These assets are therefore not recognised on the Company's
Balance Sheet.
Depreciation is provided at the following annual rates in order to write off each asset over its useful life:
Improvements to property - straight line over 3 years
Plant and machinery
- straight line over 3 years
Motor vehicles
- straight line over 3 years
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Financial instruments
The company enters into basic financial instruments that result in the recognition of financial assets and
liabilities like trade and other accounts receivable and payable, loans from banks and other third parties and
loans to related parties.
a) Trade and other debtors
Trade and other debtors are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts except where the effect of
discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment losses for
bad and doubtful debts.
b) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand.

T

c) Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised cost are assessed at the end of each reporting period
for objective evidence of impairment. If objective evidence of impairment is found, an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between an
asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the asset's original
effective interest rate. If a financial asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.
For financial assets measured at cost less impairment, the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between an asset's carrying amount and the best estimate, which is an approximation, of the amount that the
company would receive for the asset if it were to be sold at the reporting date.
d) Trade and other creditors
Debt instruments like loans and other accounts payable are initially measured at present value of the future
payments and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Debt instruments that are
payable within one year, typically trade payables, are measured, initially and subsequently, at the undiscounted
amount of the cash or other consideration expected to be paid. However, if the arrangements of a short-term
instrument constitute a financing transaction, like the payment of a trade debt deferred beyond normal business
terms or financed at a rate of interest that is not a market rate or in case of an outright short-term loan not at
market rate, the financial asset is measured, initially and subsequently, at the present value of the future
payments discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when
there is an enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, after making due allowance for obsolete and
slow moving items.
Taxation
Current taxes are based on the results shown in the financial statements and are calculated according to local
tax rules, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted by the statement of financial position date.
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Employee benefit costs
The company operates a defined benefit scheme. The cost of providing the benefits is accounted for each year
with actuarial valuations being carried out at each balance sheet date. The net deficit or surplus on the scheme
is carried in the statement of financial position, comprising the present value of the defined benefit obligation at
the balance sheet date less the fair value of scheme assets. Actuarial gains and losses are charged to retained
earnings in full in the period during which they occur.

T

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the company's accounting policies management is required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from the estimates. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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The estimation of bad debts is based on previous history and any known factors at the time the financial
statements are approved, however due to the level of trade debtors this represents an area of significant
estimation uncertainty.
Further key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements are the depreciation charges that are calculated with reference to the useful economic life
of tangible fixed assets and the recoverability of tax trading losses along with any related deferred tax asset.
3.

EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

31.3.20
£
14,454,803
788,563
1,145,803

31.3.19
£
16,321,899
871,320
1,327,806

16,389,169

18,521,025

31.3.20

31.3.19

779

858

31.3.20
£
109,550

31.3.19
£
51,605

The average number of employees during the year was as follows:

Directors' remuneration

The above remuneration relates to all directors in total.
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
4.

NET FINANCE INCOME

Finance income:
Deposit account interest
Corporation tax interest
Interest income on pension scheme assets

Finance costs:
Interest on pension scheme liabilities

5.

DEFICIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
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The deficit before income tax is stated after charging:

Cost of inventories recognised as expense
Depreciation - owned assets
Auditors remuneration

6.

INCOME TAX

31.3.19
£

15,777
6
-

24,565
974,000

15,783

998,565

-

1,411,000

15,783

(412,435)

31.3.20
£
2,563,785
161,457
29,200

31.3.19
£
2,877,441
256,687
15,190

31.3.20
£

31.3.19
£

T

Net finance income

31.3.20
£

Analysis of tax (income)/expense

Current tax:
Taxation
Underprovision previous year

(19,537)
70

80,988
-

Total current tax

(19,467)

80,988

Deferred taxation

(13,695)

(7,345)

Total tax (income)/expense in statement of profit or loss

(33,162)

73,643
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
6.

INCOME TAX - continued
Factors affecting the tax expense
The tax assessed for the year is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The difference is
explained below:
31.3.20
£
(369,828)

31.3.19
£
(937,876)

Deficit multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19%
(2019 - 19%)

(70,267)

(178,196)

Effects of:
IAS 19 adjustments
Deferred tax
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances
Expenses not allowable for tax purposes
Reversal of provisions taxed in prior years
Underprovision in prior year

(13,695)
24,492
26,362
(123)
69

328,320
(7,345)
3,211
33
(72,380)
-

(33,162)

73,643

7.

DR
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Tax (income)/expense

T

Deficit before income tax

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Improvements
to
property
£

Plant and
machinery
£

Motor
vehicles
£

Totals
£

76,116

889,478

67,157

1,032,751

DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2019
Charge for year

50,744
25,372

657,827
136,085

67,157
-

775,728
161,457

At 31 March 2020

76,116

793,912

67,157

937,185

-

95,566

-

95,566

25,372

231,651

-

257,023

31.3.20
£
204,037

31.3.19
£
201,702

COST
At 1 April 2019
and 31 March 2020

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 March 2020
At 31 March 2019

8.

INVENTORIES

Stocks
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
9.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current:
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

10.

At 31 March 2020

T
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RESERVES

At 1 April 2019
Deficit for the year

12.

31.3.19
£

2,628,797
564,704
1,034,899

1,726,048
591,382
2,503,907

4,228,400

4,821,337

31.3.20
£
6,993
3,962,638

31.3.19
£
6,993
3,076,847

3,969,631

3,083,840

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and in hand
Bank accounts

11.

31.3.20
£

Retained
earnings
£
3,000,321
(336,666)
2,663,655

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current:
Trade creditors
Amounts owed to group undertakings
Other taxes and PAYE taxes
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income
VAT
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31.3.20
£

31.3.19
£

696,683
106,034
172,145
394,644
3,878,504
605,506

963,962
101,097
275,768
366,333
3,010,000
632,726

5,853,516

5,349,886

continued...
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
13.

DEFERRED TAX

Balance at 1 April
Credit to profit and loss
Balance at 31 March

31.3.19
£
21,040
(7,345)

-

13,695

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The amounts recognised in surplus or deficit are as follows:

T

The Company previously operated a defined benefit scheme in the UK. During the previous year the defined
benefit pension scheme was taken over by the Royal Borough of Greenwich and accordingly the deficit on the
pension scheme is no longer a potential liability of the Company.

DR
AF

14.

31.3.20
£
13,695
(13,695)

Current service cost
Net interest from net defined benefit liability
Past service cost

Actual return on plan assets

Defined benefit
pension plans
31.3.20
31.3.19
£
£
2,409,000
(1,640,000)
-

769,000

-

3,051,000

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
Defined benefit
pension plans
31.3.20
31.3.19
£
£
55,533,000
2,409,000
385,000
1,411,000
2,118,000
(777,000)
(3,198,000)
(57,881,000)

Opening defined benefit obligation
Current service cost
Contributions by scheme participants
Interest cost
Experience loss/gain
Benefits paid
Change in demographic assumption
Transfer to RBG

-
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS - continued
Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows:
Defined benefit
pension plans
31.3.20
31.3.19
£
£
37,811,000
1,147,000
385,000
3,051,000
(777,000)

T

Opening fair value of scheme assets
Contributions by employer
Contributions by scheme participants
Interest income
Benefits paid
Administration expenses on pension scheme
assets
Transfer to RBG

DR
AF

14.

-

(29,000)
(41,588,000)

-

-

The amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:

Actuarial gains/(losses)
Transfer of liability to RBG

Defined benefit
pension plans
31.3.20
31.3.19
£
£
3,157,000
16,293,000
-

19,450,000

The major categories of scheme assets as a percentage of total scheme assets are as follows:
Defined benefit
pension plans
31.3.20
31.3.19
9%
18%
10%
1%
37%
25%

UK Equities
Bonds
Property
Cash
Unitised Insurance Policies
UK & Overseas Unit Trusts

100%
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
14.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS - continued
Principal actuarial assumptions at the statement of financial position date (expressed as weighted averages):
31.3.20
-

Discount rate
Future salary increases
Future pension increases
CPI increase
RPI increase
15.

31.3.19
2.40%
3.90%
2.40%
2.40%
3.40%

ULTIMATE PARENT
The ultimate parent is the Royal Borough of Greenwich.
RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

T

16.

DR
AF

During the year the company made sales to Royal Borough of Greenwich of £17,405,402 (2019: £18,383,902)
and made payments to them of £7,280,144 (2019: £5,018,749). At the year end the net amount owing to the
Royal Borough of Greenwich was £3,614,651 (2019: £2,492,523).
The Company also made sales to schools within the Royal Borough of Greenwich totalling £10,454,714
(2019:£11,006,569) and at the date of financial position the amount owing from these schools totalled
£1,393,939 (2019: £1,346,980).
The Company traded with Greenwich Service Solutions Limited a company under common control and charged
revenue of £94,898 (2019: £122,428). In the same period charges were made by Greenwich Service Solutions
Limited of £1,957,454 (2019: £2,096,161) of which £15,312 (2019: £1,008) is shown in creditors.
17.

LIMITED BY GUARANTEE

The company is limited by guarantee. At 31 March 2020 there were five members, each of whom, on winding
up, has undertaken to contribute an amount not exceeding £1.
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
INCOME STATEMENT SUMMARIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

REVENUE
Contracts

31.3.19
£

30,936,611

32,650,765

30,936,611

32,650,765

3,254,642
109,550
13,200
19,250
14,345,253
775,363
1,126,553
98,651
2,073,700
6,173,263
928,903

3,645,259
51,605
5,434
7,740
16,270,294
865,886
1,320,066
98,198
2,091,288
5,909,930
835,760

28,918,328

31,101,460

406

-

406

-

DR
AF

T

COST OF SALES
Purchases
Directors' salaries
Directors' social security
Directors' pension contributions
Wages
National insurance
Pensions
Plant repairs and maintenance
Vehicle repairs & maintenance
Contract and hire
RBG charges for services

31.3.20
£

OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Sundry receipts

This page does not form part of the statutory financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
INCOME STATEMENT SUMMARIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
31.3.19
£

82,417
21,047
12,637

99,640
30,294
12,994

22,236
72,910
44
742,721
289,795
115,991
31,130
211,346
8,608
156,360
18,592
215,967
2,520
508
37,752
17,003
225
29,200

30,019
95,246
2,202
741,437
303,348
106,159
29,929
163,850
45,801
186,093
(84,475)
305,732
477
823
47,071
13,341
205
15,190

25,371
136,085

25,372
231,311

132,543

(376,456)

21,292

20,143

-

29,000

2,404,300

2,074,746

-

1,411,000

-

1,411,000

DR
AF

T

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Establishment costs
Rent
Rent and rates
Light and heat
Administrative expenses
Telephone
Post and stationery
Marketing
Motor expenses
Insurance
Repairs and renewals
Protective clothing
Computer expenses
Sundry expenses
Cleaning and security
Other provisions
Legal and professional fees
Staffing costs
Security
Training fees
Subscriptions
Medical costs
Auditors remuneration
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
Improvements to property
Plant and machinery
Admin extra 1
Bad debts
Finance costs
Bank charges
Administration expenses on pension scheme
assets

31.3.20
£

FINANCE COSTS
Interest on pension scheme liabilities

This page does not form part of the statutory financial statements
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GREENWICH SERVICE PLUS LIMITED
(LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)
INCOME STATEMENT SUMMARIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
31.3.19
£

15,777
6
-

24,565
974,000

15,783

998,565

DR
AF

T

FINANCE INCOME
Deposit account interest
Corporation tax interest
Interest income on pension scheme assets

31.3.20
£

This page does not form part of the statutory financial statements
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OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

DATE
30 June 2021
ITEM NO.
7

TITLE
Review by the Community Safety & Environment
Scrutiny Panel – Royal Borough of Greenwich’s
CCTV Services
CHIEF OFFICER
CABINET MEMBER
Director of Housing & Safer Communities
Community Safety &
Enforcement
1.

Decision Required
The Committee is asked -

1.1

To endorse the recommendations arising from the Review by the Community
Safety & Environment Scrutiny Panel (listed below at Section 8).

1.2

To agree that the Review report and its recommendations be submitted to
the Chief Executive.

2.

Links to the Royal Greenwich high level objectives

2.1

This report relates to the Council’s agreed high level objectives as follows:
•
•
•
•
•

A Healthier Greenwich
A Safer Greenwich
A Great Place to Grow Up
A Cleaner, Greener Greenwich
A Strong Vibrant and Well-run Borough

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The overarching aim of deploying CCTV is to reduce social offences and
crimes by deterrence, monitoring the scene (reactive surveillance) and
detection (proactive surveillance).

3.2

The Royal Borough of Greenwich CCTV team comprises 17 operators and
one manager. It is one of only seven London Boroughs who have received the
surveillance camera commissions third party certification mark and is wellregarded by Royal Borough of Greenwich staff and the Metropolitan Police
Service (MPS). It has excellent levels of operation with planned staffing in
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place continuously and any faults are repaired rapidly. There are growing
opportunities for increased revenue such as charging for access requests from
insurance companies and great potential for increased Integrated
Enforcement activity with new technologies such as the addition of ANPR.
3.3

The police view CCTV as a critical tool in their fight against crime and
disorder, and that supports their work in a variety of ways. In addition,
evidence from intervention studies incorporating an additional outcome
measure to recorded crime statistics suggests that CCTV may be more
effective in terms of increased crime detection than it is in terms of
deterrence, particularly in the case of violent crime. More intelligence
surveillance systems using emerging technology could also assist with earlier
threat identification and reduce pressure on operators.

3.4

The findings of psychological experiments suggest that evidence captured on
CCTV may lead to the most successful and reliable outcome in terms of
securing a conviction, when circulated in the media, through provoking
identification by members of the public familiar with the offender. The extent
to which CCTV improves public feelings of safety remains unclear due to
conflicting results of prior- and post-intervention surveys. Anecdotal evidence
suggests there are many additional benefits of CCTV that go beyond any
impact it may have on crime.

4.

Background

4.1

Scrutiny has responsibility for examining the work of the Council and its
partners, in relation to all aspects of service provision.

4.2

The In-Depth Scrutiny – Project Statement to review of the Royal Borough of
Greenwich CCTV provision was agreed by the Community Safety and
Environment Scrutiny Panel at its meeting of 27 June 2019. (Appendix A).
The Members who would form part of the review working group were also
proposed and agreed at this meeting; Councillors Khaireh, Cousins and Hills.
Unfortunately, Council Hills subsequently had to give apologies for attending
the evidence gathering meetings.

4.3

The main purpose of the review was to consider the CCTV provision in
terms of:
• CCTV Control room – working practices and challenges
• Provision of and appropriate positioning of CCTV cameras to meet
current and evolving need.
• Financial aspects; income streams, maintenance / renewal costs.
• Partnership working
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• Connections with Planning and Arboriculture
• Health & Safety
• Enforcement of Traffic Contraventions by CCTV
4.4

The Members working group conducted several evidence gathering meetings
which are referenced in paragraph 6, below

5.

Current CCTV Provision

5.1

The CCTV service is an integral part of the Councils Safer Spaces strategy
and Integrated Enforcement model.

5.2

The CCTV operative’s monitor over 700 cameras located around the
Borough’s town centres, housing estates, Heritage Sites and the
Greenwich/Woolwich Foot Tunnels. Also, the help points located in the
tunnels with the lifts feeding live images directly to the CCTV Control Room.

5.3

All CCTV operators are vetted by the Metropolitan Police Vetting Unit –
Non-Police Personnel – Level 1, which is completed every 3 years. They are
all also Tavcom trained in Surveillance of Open Public Spaces NVQ CRO
levels 1 and 2. The CCTV Manager is trained in Tavcom Managing a Control
Room NVQ CRO 3 and 4.

5.4

The CCTV Control Room is staffed 24/7, 365 days of the year by at least two
members of staff working in 8 ½ hour shifts.

5.5

Between April 2018 and March 2019 the Council CCTV Control Room were
responsible for 322 arrests; from March 2019 to February 2020 the CCTV
control room have been responsible for 405 arrests.

5.6

The current CCTV equipment maintenance contract expires in 2020. Given
the expiration of the maintenance contract and advances in CCTV equipment,
the Assistant Director Community Safety & Environment is taking this
opportunity to review the current equipment provision and working
practises. This is review is running alongside the Scrutiny Review and will
incorporate the Scrutiny review findings.

6.

Review Investigation and Findings

6.1

Following a meeting of the member lead working group on 11 July 2019 to
establish the remit of the review and proposed lines of enquiry and Initial
evidence gathering meeting was arranged for 26 July 2019.
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6.2

The meeting considered the various aspects of CCTV provision in order to
identify the key focus areas of the review. The information provided by
officers enabled Members for formulate a programme of activities to gather
evidence to conduct the review. (Appendix B)

6.3

Members were also presented with details of the number of static CCTV
cameras and their locations. Officers informed Members on the logic behind
their current locations of CCTV units, to allow Members to understand the
complexity of the system.

6.4

CCTV Control room – working practices and challenges

6.4.1 The Members working group visited the CCTV Control Room on 23
September 2019.
6.4.2 The CCTV Control Room operatives are responsible for answering the Met
Radios for the newly formed Borough Command Unit and relaying to Police
the types of incidents they are seeing as well as dealing with police enquiries.
6.4.3 There is also a radio link, within the CCTV Control Room dedicated to the
Town Shop Watch scheme used by the Town Wardens and Town Centre
Police, as well as the security guards. The Town Shop Watch radios covering
Woolwich and Eltham are in constant use from the security guards regarding
assistance with shop lifters.
6.4.4 Members were advised that CCTV images are backed up to a main server,
securely located in the same building as the Control Room. However, if for
any reason the operatives were locked out of the Control Room building
there would be no access to the images. A second storage server is
proposed to be located in the Woolwich Centre and will be addressed as
part of the review the current equipment provision and working practises.
6.4.5 Unless there is a specific request from the police or there is a major incident
the images recorded by the CCTV are retained for 31 days, after which they
are automatically deleted.
6.4.6 The Met Police made 633 requests for copies of recorded images in the
period April 2019 to February 2020. These images take, on average, a team
member 1 hour to download per camera. When there is a serious crime
incident, on average to download onto an external flash drive would take an
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operator up to 4 hours depending on how many cameras have been
requested.
6.4.7 Currently the CCTV Control Room supplies DVD copies of images to
Insurers, upon request free of charge. The Control room began monitoring
the number of requests in October 2019. Between October 2019 to end of
April 2020 170 request were received and 30 DVDs were provided in
response to these requests.
6.5

CCTV cameras

6.5.1 The location of CCTV Cameras is based on statistical data, at the time of the
installation of the system and in line with the code of conduct. The CCTV
service seek to annually review the locations as part of their privacy impact
assessment processes.
6.5.2 The exact location of CCTV cameras is not published publicly, however the
main areas of coverage are the Boroughs Town Centres and identified ‘hot
spots’.
6.5.3 The current location of CCTV cameras is being considered as part of the
Departmental review the current equipment provision and working practises,
along with the recommendations of this Scrutiny review, in respects of the
Council’s use of CCTV.
6.5.4 The CCTV unit is also exploring the possibility to increasing the number of
mobile CCTV cameras, which support the investigation of Enviro-crime and
wider Integrated Enforcement action. However, any such additional outlay
would need to be achieved within the revenue budget.
6.6

Finances

6.6.1 Like most other Local Authorities, Greenwich is experiencing financial
pressure and whilst other Boroughs have the Royal Borough however
remains committed to delivering a modern public CCTV service on a 24/7
basis, 365 days per year whilst keeping running costs within the budget
envelope.
6.6.2 The CCTV service currently operates with a revenue budget of around
£850k per annum with an additional c.£80K budget per annum to maintain
cameras stock.
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6.6.3 The CCTV service is investigating ways offsetting some costs across the
wider service area were being considered, specifically the introduction of a
new, reasonable fees & charges policy relating to the provision of footage for
civil proceedings and insurance claims.
6.6.4 The Head of Safer Spaces has undertaken a benchmarking exercise against
other Boroughs and recommended that the charging for images to be
provided to Insurance companies be brought in. The Council’s Legal
Department is currently considering this proposal in line with any GDPR
implications.
6.7

Partnership Working
Metropolitan Police Service

6.7.1 Bexley Council no longer monitoring the CCTV feeds in their Borough.
Approaches were made to take on monitoring of their system but was not
taken up. There have been some issues with tracking incidents across the
Borough boundary, particularly in areas such as Abbey Wood – Wilton Road.
The Met Police review the images recorded on the Bexley system on a needs
basis.
6.7.2 The main operational partnership is with the Metropolitan Police Service and
direct radio communication with the Police via the Airwave and Town Centre
radio systems is operated within the Control room. This enables
communication between the CCTV Control Room, the Metropolitan Police
Service Central Command Centre (CCC) and police officers on the ground.
6.7.3 It is also possible for the CCTV operative to transmit live CCTV images into
the CCC.
6.7.4 The CCTV Control room have a service level agreement with the Met Police
and close working relationship between Police Officer and CCTV Operators
had been established as part of the Police 3 Borough Merger.
6.7.5 The Membership working group were concerned that, whilst assured there
was an obvious good working relationship, which they did not wish to
impeach, they were concerned that the partnership was not equal. They
raised concern that, due to the efficient work of the Councils CCTV
operatives the police may be directing more police resources into Lewisham
and Bexley Borough, whilst also closing police stations and holding units
within the Borough. They were concerned at the pressure this could place
on the Councils CCTV provision and operatives.
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External Partners
6.7.6 The Royal Borough of Greenwich CCTV Partnership Group meets every
four months. It is attended by the Head of Service level or Senior Manager
and external partners of organisations who use the Councils CCTV or have
significant CCTV coverage themselves.
6.7.7 The aim of the Royal Borough of Greenwich CCTV Partnership Group is to
bring together relevant external stakeholders in order to improve
information sharing, working relationships and effectiveness of our public
space CCTV services. Details in relation to this meeting are set out at
appendix C
6.7.8 The first meeting of the Safer Spaces CCTV Partnership Group was
scheduled for 2nd April 2020 and then Bi Monthly thereafter. However, due
to the coronavirus pandemic, this meeting had been postponed to a date to
be confirmed later in the year.
Interdepartmental partners
6.7.9 As part of the launch of Safer Spaces Strategy a Safer Spaces CCTV Steering
Group has been established and is scheduled to meet on a Bi Monthly basis.
The Safer Spaces CCTV Steering Group is chaired by the Head of Service for
Safer Spaces and attended by Head of Service officers or Senior Manager’s.
6.7.10 The aim of the aim Safer Spaces CCTV Steering Group is to bring together
internal stakeholders in order to maximise the efficiency and effectiveness of
our public space CCTV service. Details in relation to this meeting are set out
at appendix C
6.7.11 The first meeting of the Safer Spaces CCTV Steering Group was scheduled
for 2nd April 2020 and then Bi Monthly thereafter. However, due to the
coronavirus pandemic, this meeting had been postponed to a date to be
confirmed later in the year.
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6.8.

Linkages with planning /redevelopment

6.8.1 The CCTV Members working group met with the Assistant Director of
Planning & Building Control on 10 October 2019, during which a number of
issues were identified, including the demolition of buildings which hosted
CCTV cameras, without consultation with or notification to the CCTV
Control Room. The development and design, including landscaping of new
build which damaged CCTV conduits or resulted in the loss of camera
sightlines.
6.8.2 Members noted the example given of the Woolwich Centre where the
landscaping of the new development impacted on the sight line of a camera
due to the planting of a tree adjacent to the main entrance doors. Whilst the
tree was still small overtime it would completely obscure the CCTV view of
the doors and Members could see that, when in leaf, it was already having an
impact.
6.8.3 Officers accepted that there was a need to find a way of populating the
cabling services, such as water, gas and electricity maps provided to
developers with details of the CCTV conduits and cabling routes, to ensure
developers would avoid damaging the CCTV conduits and cables.
6.8.4 Members noted that that a number of Council Departments were routinely
consulted on planning applications, but this did not include the CCTV unit.
Officers accepted that, whilst the review may result in formal proposals they
would start consulting the CCTV unit on major applications and those within
the Woolwich, Greenwich and Eltham town centres, as a matter of course.
6.8.5 At the final evidence gathering meeting of 5 March 2020, the Head of Services
- Safer Spaces advised the Members working group that the CCTV unit was
being consulted on a number of proposed developments.
6.8.6 The provision of and sharing of information in relation to the location of
cameras and infrastructure, such as cabling, that may be directly effective as
part of an application was an area that would be looked at more closely as
part of the ongoing Departmental review of the CCTV infrastructure. This
was an area that the Head of Safer Spaces would work on with the Assistant
Director of Planning & Building Control.
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6.8.7 Members were surprised to learn that large new developments were not
required to link into or work with Councils CCTV system or Control Room.
Further, that no S106 monies were ring fenced specifically to CCTV
provision.
6.9

Arboriculture issues - Trees and vegetation

6.9.1 The Members working group met with the Head of Parks Estates and Open
Spaces, Senior Engineer Street Trees, Arboriculture Supervisor and Officer
on 17 October 2019.
6.9.2 Members were made aware of the conflict between supporting the Councils
Greener Greenwich objective and support of action to combat the Climate
Change with the concerns of camera obstruction by foliage.
6.9.3 A number of issues came to light in respect of the sight lines of cameras being
obscured by tree foliage, particularly in the summer. However, there were
also issues with the lopping and cutting back of trees, which would only
promote more vigorous growth. The moving of trees would be financially
prohibitive and not in line with the Councils environmental projects.
6.9.4 Members accepted that there was a need to balance the Councils priorities
to ensure the safety of its residents with its priorities to reduce Carbon and
create a green borough.
6.9.5 It was felt that there was a need for improved cross departmental working to
be established to ensure that any new tree planting or replacement planting
would not cause an obstruction to the CCTV sign lines.
6.9.6 It was considered that the CCTV unit should be consulted as part of any new
landscaping involving tree planting, particularly in the Town Centres and that,
as part of an upcoming internal departmental review of the CCTV locations,
consideration be given to the appropriate location of the camera.
6.10 Health & Safety
CCTV Control Room Staff Welfare
6.10.1 The CCTV Control Room operatives witness extreme incidents of violence,
via the monitoring screens, which many would find distressing. This can be
ITEM NO.: 7

Page 124

both stressful and a traumatic experience and could not be under-estimated.
The CCTV control room has an excelled attendance level.
6.10.2 All CCTV Operators are provided with training to enable them to better
identify the impact of trauma on themselves or their colleagues. The traumainformed approach is applied to the day to day working of the Control Room
and the CCTV Operators had reported positive feedback on this to the
CCTV Manager.
6.10.2 All CCTV operatives have monthly 1-2-1 meetings with the Control room
manager, during which any concerns can be identified, pro-active screening for
the signs of post-traumatic stress can be undertaken and a plan of action to
support the staff member agreed.
6.10.3 Additional training opportunities to improve personal and wider team
performance will continue to be explored and a number of additional training
opportunities are being identified to support Operatives.
6.10.4 Members note the case of an Operative witnessing an extremely violent
incident and, after some time was able to get support through Clinical
Supervision. However, this was not budget for and, therefore, difficult to
secure.
Other Council Staff
6.10.5 All the CCTV operatives had undertaken trauma-informed training enabling
Operators to better understand personal factors and experiences which may
underpin criminal and anti-social behaviour. This has enabled Operators to
better identify and respond to incidents whilst understand how enforcement
and outreach staff are engaging with the individuals to reduce their
vulnerability and unacceptable behaviour.
6.10.6 As well as CCTV monitoring, the Safer Spaces CCTV Team also support
Council enforcement teams through radio communications and GPS tracking.
Other functions undertaken include out of hours alarm monitoring for the
Calderwood Car park within Woolwich Town Centre and facilitate contact
with members of the public via help points situated in local foot tunnels and
other key locations.
6.10.7 The Head of Services – Safer Spaces was working at developing links with
other departments, such as Housing, Licensing and enforcement to encourage
them to make the CCTV Control room of activities where the control room
could assist by monitoring the area the staff were working in.
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6.11 Enforcement of Traffic Contraventions by CCTV
6.11.1 Council of 17 July 2019 resolved to adopt the civil enforcement powers
granted to the Council by the London Local Authorities and Transport for
London Act 2003 relating to moving traffic contraventions from the
Metropolitan Police with effect from 30th December 2019 (“the Appointed
Day”).
6.11.2 That all moving traffic contraventions including bus lanes and bus stops / bus
stands would be enforced and would not be limited to the contraventions
listed in the Parking Strategy (appended at Appendix 1 to the Cabinet report
dated 6th December 2017) which defines elven key objectives.
6.11.3 80 sites have been initially identified as enforcement areas, which cover
violation of turn restrictions, yellow box and school parking violation
hotspots. The scheme will be piloted with 20 sites, distributed across the
Brough, and the programme of insulation of the CCTV monitoring units is
being finalised with the provider. At this point in time a firm commencement
date of initiation of the scheme is not confirmed.
6.11.4 The provision of CCTV cameras and issuing of enforcement violation penalty
notices will be a stand-alone system with no direct connection to the CCTV
Control Room. This position will be reviewed as part of the Departmental
review and updating of CCTV cameras and equipment.
7.

Direction of travel

7.1

Due to the age of the CCTV equipment and advances in technology the
Assistant Director of Community Safety & Environment and Head of Services
– safer communities are undertaking a departmental review of the CCTV
Service, with the recommendations and findings of the CCTV Scrutiny review
have and will feed into.

7.2

The Departmental review is looking at equipment, reviewing camera locations
as well as staff rotas, information back up provision and emergency risk
control.

7.3

It is anticipated that the new CCTV arrangements, including a revamped
Control room and, back up servers would be brought on line Between
September and December 2020, dependant on the coronavirus pandemic
position.
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8.

Recommendations

8.1

That, as part of the Councils Wellbeing for staff policy, CCTV Control room
staff be offered Clinical Supervision, as or when required, as part of the
Health & Safety support package.

8.2

That the Council maximises publicity in regard to the presence of and
successful uses of CCTV in assisting with police, wardens, enforcement,
environmental services, to deal with crime in the Borough.

8.3

That consideration be given to including the provision of CCTV in new
developments, where appropriate/possible, through planning condition or
funding available through the Council through S106 agreement.

8.4

That any major planning development being considered within the Borough
and effecting Town Centres, be required to consult with the CCTV
designated officer and their comments be given weight.

8.5

That the CCTV designated officer be consulted as part of any new tree
planting and or landscaping programmes, and their comments given weight.

8.6

That the Council, via the CCTV designated officer, continues to maintain and
develop close working relationships the Police as well as private partners,
including TfL and local developer, to ensure strategic monitoring to enable
the use of CCT to the greatest effect in combating crime and promoting
community safety.

8.7

That the Cabinet Member for Community Safety and Children’s services, with
the Assistant Director of Community Safety be requested to undertake a
review of the equality of the police partnership and service level agreement.

8.8

That any income, resulting from the charging for the provision of images to
Insurers and the public, be ring fenced to the CCTV Control Room.

8.9

That the Scrutiny Panel accept a report, as part of the 2021-22 work
programme to review the CCTV provision and monitor the implementation
of the Panel’s recommendations and Departmental Review
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9.

Options

9.1

To not endorse the recommendations

9.2

To endorse the recommendations and submit them to the Chief Executive

10.

Cross-Cutting Issues and Implications

Issue
Legal including
Human Rights
Act

Finance and
other resources
including
procurement
implications
Equalities

Community
safety

Implications
The purpose of this report is to provide the
Panel with information and evidence
gathered as part of the review of CCTV
provision in the borough. No formal
decision will be taken. As such, there are
no legal implications arising directly from
the report.
There are no financial implications arising
directly from the report.

Sign-off
Azuka Onuorah
Head of Legal
Services
18/08/2020

Decision-makers are reminded of the
requirement under the Public Sector
Equality Duty (s149 of the Equality Act
2010) to have due regard to (i) eliminate
unlawful discrimination, harassment,
victimisation and other conduct prohibited
by the Act, (ii) advance equality of
opportunity between people from different
groups, and (iii) foster good relations
between people from different groups. The
decisions recommended through this paper
could directly impact on end users. The
impact has been analysed and does not vary
between groups of people going about their
lawful business.
(b) Section 17, Crime and Disorder Act
1998
“17(1) Without prejudice to any other
obligation imposed on it, it shall be the duty
of each authority to which this section
applies to exercise its various functions

Jean Riddler
Committee
Officer
26/05/2021

ITEM NO.: 7

Damon Cook,
Director of
Finance,
03/09/2020

Assistant
Director,
Community
Safety &
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with due regard to the likely effect of the
exercise of those functions on, and the
need to do all that it reasonably can to
prevent, crime and disorder in its area.”
11.

Environmental
Health

Report Appendices

11.1 The following documents are to be published with and form part of the
report:
• Appendix A: In-Depth Scrutiny Work – Project Statement.
• Appendix B: Initial evidence gathering meeting notes.
• Appendix C: Internal & External Partners CCTV group meeting details
12.

Background Papers
Minutes of the Corporate Finance and Scrutiny Panel 17 September 2020
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Report Author:
Tel No.
Email.

Jean Riddler – Corporate Governance Officer
020 8921 5857
jean.riddler@royalgreenwich.gov.uk

Reporting to:
Tel No.
Email.

Nassir Ali –Scrutiny Manager
020 8921 6160
Nassir.ali@royalgreenwich.gov.uk

Chief Officer:
Tel No.
Email.

Katrina Delaney - Director of Communities and Environment
020 8921 6101
katrina.delaney@royalgreenwich.gov.uk
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APPENDIX A
In-Depth Scrutiny Work - Project Statement
Project Name
Project Sponsor(Chair)
Project Lead Member/Officer
Date agreed by Chairs

CCTV
Councillor Adel Khaireh

1. Purpose of this joint scrutiny work
The purpose of this in-depth scrutiny is to:
Ensure that the RBG’s CCTV services across the Borough are effective and to
identify best practice in supporting the Councils Corporate Plan 2018-2022,
particularly in relation to creating A Safer Greenwich.
2. Specific Objectives
Objectives:
To
• To understand all aspects of the current provision and future scope of CCTV
provision by the RBG. To include but not limited to image storing, disposal
requirements, equipment used.
• To understand the implications of any reduction in CCTV provision by
neighbouring Boroughs, which form part of the Police 3 Borough Merger
(Greenwich, Bexley and Lewisham).
• To assess the effectiveness of CCTV in preventing and resolving crime;
including but not limited to enviro crime, housing fraud, breaches of licensing
conditions within the Borough.
• To understand the implication of data protection and other legal
requirements relating to CCTV and the sharing of information gathered as a
result of its use.
• To examine the efficiency of the Council CCTV systems, both in terms of
infrastructure and use, and whether improvement to this are possible.
• To identify other measures which could support and improve public
confidence in community safety and the financial implications
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APPENDIX A
Objectives of the In-Depth Scrutiny:
To identify the roles and responsibilities of the Council in all aspects of current
CCTV use to take a tough approach to anti-social behaviour and how the Council is
working with the police, schools and businesses involving our local communities at
every opportunity.
3. Tasks to be done
Scope:
To achieve its Objectives the following may be undertaken;
• Desktop research.
• Receive report/s from Officers on the various CCTV Provisions.
• Meet with officers, supervisors and leaders to understand and examine the
process and challenges in RBG.
• Meet with public, third sector providers and other organisations to gather
evidence
• Consider the implications of the GDPR regulations on the use and viewing of
CCTV images.
• Consider if there are options for revenue income
• Understand the implications of environmental improvement schemes i.e. tree
planting, on the sight lines and effective use of CCTV
• Understand the implications of planning development’s on the potential loss
of CCTV locations.
• Analyse evidence received provided to draw conclusions and offer
recommendations.
4. Proposed Project Group Membership and Roles
Councillor Adel Khaireh - Chair of the CS&E SP
Sean McDermid - Assistant Director of Community Safety & Environment
Lorraine Hancock - CCTV Manager
Dave Downs - CCTV Manager
Jean Riddler - Corporate Governance Officer / Scrutiny Support Officer
Other parties to be guided by the findings as the In-Depth Scrutiny is conducted.
5. Resource Implications
Funding required to:
a) arrange transport to undertake visits to sites (if required)
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APPENDIX A
Project Timeframe and Milestones
Task

Scope

Date

Agree Scope by Project Team

Chair & SP

27 June 2019

Panel to receive reports at its
meeting’s in 2019/20

Officers to present
As and when
information report/s on
required
identified pieces of work
Meetings to be arranged as TBC
required

Members to meet with Service
Managers and Officers
Members to decide if they wish to
undertake visit to the RBG CCTV
Control Room
Members to decide if they wish to
undertake visit to Benchmarking LA
CCTV Control Room
Draft report

Final report

Fact finding

TBC

Fact finding

TBC

A report with findings,
TBC
conclusions and
recommendations to be
considered at the last
meeting of the municipal
Year
The final report to be
Date to be
presented to Overview and confirmed
Scrutiny Committee in
2019/20
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Notes of actions in relation to CCTV Scrutiny
Meeting 1 – 26 July 2019
Meeting – Initial evidence gathering meeting.
In attendance:

Councillors Khaireh (Chair) and Cousins
(Apology Councillor Hills)
RBG Officers; Sean McDermid, Mirsad Bakalovic, Richard Cornell, Dawn Squires,
Lorraine Hancock, David White, Jean Riddler

Issue considered
Mapping of current CCTV
Location & provisions

Response
Documents provided of current locations. 707 cameras 95% of which working all year
round. Outages reflected on service performance log sheet and resolved quickly (usually 24
hours)
Action: Benchmark with other authorities as to the number of Cameras RBG have adequate.
RBG CCTV is the only borough in London to received ISO accreditation.

Finance

£80,000 for main cameras, increasing to £90,000 – if get new system next year the budget
may not stretch to all new cameras and there would be a need for a rolling programme,
within existing budgets.
Images of incidents are provided, free of charge to insurer, taking up officer time.
Action: Financial budget to be considered as part of the review recommendations,
dependent upon the information resulting from the investigations into a new CCYV system.
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Action: charging for CCTV images to insurer to be benchmarked against other Local
Authorities
Hot spot mapping

ASAB information from Police and reported crime database
Fly tipping via enviro crime / housing officers
Hot spots change – CCTV fixed locations
Actions: Evidence gathering to inform through the Review process

Fly tipping ASAB, hot spot

Enviro-Crime team / Environmental health have 5 – relatively new deployment – driven by
intelligence but public and cross department working – where and when to go – particular
issues in areas of significant HMO’s
Use of Mobile Cameral has reduced level of fly tipping.
Actions: Evidence gathering to inform through the Review process

What sort of incidents
picked up by CCTV
CCTV Control room
capacity to retain and review
CCTV
Effectiveness of existing
CCTV system

Actions: CCTV Control Room Monthly monitoring reports pick up
Images held for 31 days, unless the Operator or the police feel the incident sever enough to
be retained beyond this to support further legal action.
CCTV System been in service for a long time and not able to add capacity.
Review with view for future proofing – officers looking at options, including cloud based
Consider increase in mobile units to address hotspot.
Actions: Evidence gathering to inform through the Review process
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Mobile Cameras

CCTV Control room currently one and bidding for a second.
Enviro-Crime team / Environmental health have 5
The cameras have to stream to a laptop rather than live through the CCTV Control Room.
Mobile camera would usually be located at a sport for no more than 24 hours.

Link with private & partners
CCTV and Partnership
working

Police – the CCTV control room has a dedicated live image feed to the police and had seen
an increase in requests, from the police, of live image feeds and incident recordings since 3
Borough Police Merger. This had put additional pressure on CCTV control room staff.
However, the CCTV control room are now only dealing with one police contact point and
one police radio opposed to, the previous three.
Future consideration may be given to co-location working, between the CCTV Control
Room and Police.
Possible increased pressure of CCTV to pick up criminal activity, due to decrease on foot
police, but not possible to measure this. The Police BCU invest in the Woolwich Town
Centre.
O2 – previous sharing arrangements of CCTV images existed, however O2 had moved to
using a new generation CCTV system which could not be supported by the existing RBG
CCTV system.
Housing developers maintain their own security systems for major development areas, such
as the Royal Arsenal Riverside development and Kidbrooke Redevelopment.
There are pilots in USA, such as use of Petrol Station CCTV to support Police (Project
Green Knight) – seen a reduction in crime.
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Current RBG CCTV not connective with IP CCTV (modern CCTV equipment used by most
companies)
Actions: Links with and development of working relationships with partners via reestablishment of the Partnership working group to be investigated and reviewed as part of
the Review process.
CCTV Equipment upgrade &
integration

The Cameras themselves are capable, though any that require replacement should be
replaced by digital cameras.
It is the back end that requires upgrading, at 7 years old and any new system would need to
support that existing camera feeds and digital/ IP feeds. Consideration of whether to use I
Cloud or internal secure storage for imaged – cloud storage can allow image sharing, with the
police and other parties, via a link
Integrated lamppost tech – wish list – enviro lighting, loudspeakers, CCTV and some echarging point.
Actions: Evidence gathering to inform through the Review process

Camera obstructions

10% obstructed, for all or part of the year by foliage.
Need to develop better understanding and working relationship with agriculture and new
developments to mitigate and avoid future issues.
Financial issues over cost of tree cutting as well as environmental issues.
Action: Arrange an evidence gathering meeting with Officer responsible for tree
maintenance
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Re-positioning of cameras

Expensive and not within exiting budget parameters. Also, not always possible to find
another location to affix camera to.

Neighbouring Boroughs

Bexley Council has extensive CCTV system but no longer runs a 24/7 monitoring team,
RBG could tie into these and monitor, if Bexley agreed.
Awareness a number of Local Authorities no longer provide active CCTV monitoring –
reactive service only.
Action: Benchmark status of CCTV monitoring in other Local Authorities

Planning issues

Loss of CCTV camera points due to developer cutting through or blocking off CCTV ducts,
as part of developments, also where a building is redeveloped and the CCTV location is not
re-established on the building.
Action: Arrange an evidence gathering meeting with Planning Officer

Staff H&S

What is being done to support to staff who witness events; nigh time economy, staff safety.
Would body worn CCTV units by staff such as street cleaners, environmental health officers,
etc. eliminate disputes, provided evidence for court hearing and act a deterrent so as to
protect staff.
What arrangements exist for officers carrying out Our of hours service, to let the CCTV
control rom know when & where they are going so that, where possible, CCTV can monitor
Actions: Evidence gathering to inform through the Review process & Arrange visit to CCTV
Control Room
Page 139

Highways -

Parking Enforcement teams have bodycams, which were not live streamed but downloaded
images, which were used to prepare evidence.
TFL have own CCTV control system for highways
Proposals going before Members for Highways CCTV – FNP for some traffic orders – 20
Cameras, phased in over 6 months, some fixed at areas of regular breaches, such as Blackwall
Tunnel, other mobiles and will be moved in relation to levels of compliance.
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Community Safety & Environment Scrutiny Panel – Review of CCTV
2019/20
The aim of the Royal Borough of Greenwich CCTV Partnership Group
is to bring together relevant external stakeholders in order to improve
information sharing, working relationships and effectiveness of our public
space CCTV services. In doing so, to:
•
•
•
•

Communicate relevant partner updates and local emerging issues in
order to problem solve as a group where possible.
Horizon scan to ensure combined CCTV services are best placed to
deliver outstanding performance across the borough for the safety and
security of all residents.
Promote the CCTV service’s role in ensuring the Royal Borough is a
safe place to live, work and to visit
Keep abreast of and consider benefit of technological advances and best
practice both regionally, nationally and internationally

External partners include representatives from; (this list may grow as we
explore membership etc.)
Peabody
TFL
Berkeley
KnightDragon
O2
Coastguard
MET Police

The aim of Safer Spaces CCTV Steering Group is to bring together
internal stakeholders in order to maximise the efficiency and effectiveness of
our public space CCTV service. In doing so, to:
•
•
•

Ensure there is a robust and ambitious CCTV strategy for
the Royal Borough, and to drive delivery against the
agreed objectives and outcomes
Provide an overview of CCTV performance including
income optimisation and accreditation
Discuss and develop CCTV related strategy policy,
processes and proposals
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•
•
•
•
•

Escalate CCTV service related issues and concerns for
discussion and resolution
Identify and explore any legal or financial issues or
implications (e.g. RIPA) for the CCTV service.
Horizon scan internally and externally to ensure the
CCTV service remains best placed to deliver outstanding
performance
Promote the CCTV service’s role in ensuring the Royal
Borough is a safe place to live, work and to visit
Keep abreast of and consider benefit of technological
advances and best practice both regionally, nationally and
internationally

Attendees
Head of Safer Spaces
CCTV Manager
EH Community Protection Manager (Noise/Nuisance/ASB)
Safer Communities Team Representative
Planning Representative
Highways Representative
Licensing Representative
Parks and Open Spaces Representative
Street Services Representative
Legal Representative
Finance Representative
ICT Representative
Comms Representative
Police Representative
Estates Representative
CCTV Estates Maintenance
David Hodges (performance / analytics)
Data Sharing /GDPR Representative
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OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
TITLE
Safer Neighbourhood Panels Review Report
CHIEF OFFICER
Director of Housing & Safer Communities

1.

DATE
30 June 2021
ITEM NO. 8
CABINET MEMBER
Community Safety and
Enforcement

Decisions Required
The Committee is asked -

1.1

To endorse the recommendations arising from the Review by the Community
Safety & Environment Scrutiny Panel (listed below at Section 5)

1.2

To agree that the Review report and its recommendations be submitted to
the Chief Officer of Police of their crime and disorder functions.

2.

Links to the Royal Greenwich high level objectives

2.1

This report relates to the Council’s agreed high level objectives as follows:
•

A Safer Greenwich

3.

Introduction and Background

3.1

The Council’s Constitution (Part 3E) states “The Community Safety and
Environment Scrutiny Panel is responsible for the review and/or scrutiny of
decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the discharge by
the Council or of the relevant Chief Officer of Police of their crime and
disorder functions.”

3.2

At the meeting on the 17 September 2021, the Community Safety and
Environment Scrutiny Panel agreed carry out an in-depth review on the
effectiveness of Safer Neighbourhood Panels. The Project Plan was circulated
and agreed by Panel Members on 16 November 2020.

3.3

It was agreed that the review group would consist of the Chair of the Panel,
the Community Safety Policy and Performance Manager and the Scrutiny
Manager.
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4.

The Review

4.1

Safer Neighbourhood Panels provide an important mechanism for community
engagement in reducing crime and disorder in Greenwich. The aim of this
scrutiny review has been to assess current levels of performance and provide
some practical recommendations for improvement.

4.2

The review considered evidence on the current operation of panels from
three surveys:
•
•
•

A questionnaire sent to all councillors
A questionnaire sent to all Police Sergeants and Teams
A survey carried out by the Greenwich Safer Neighbourhood Board
covering the 17 Panels

4.3

The Police are already developing an improvement plan to improve the
effectiveness of panels across the borough and the Greenwich Safer
Neighbourhood Board are reviewing and supporting each panel.

4.2

Based on the findings of the Scrutiny Review it is recommended that the
improvement plan should include action in the following key areas:
•
•
•
•

Ensuring that there is a Panel effectively operating in every ward
Ensuring that Panels are representative
Improving Community Engagement
Improving the effectiveness of panel meetings

5.

Recommendations

5.1

The recommendations arising from the review are as follows:
R1

That the MPS Basic Command Unit (BCU) with support from the
Greenwich Safer Neighbourhood Board (GSNB) develop an Action
Plan with a timetable for ensuring panels are effectively operating
panels in every ward in Greenwich and consider the implications of
the boundary review.

R2

BCU, GSNB and the Council work together to develop a borough
wide campaign to promote greater awareness of the work of SNP’s
with the aim of recruiting a wider range of members from all sections
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of the community. This should include Greenwich Information,
Websites, and Social media.
R3

SNP’s to pro-actively recruit members from all sections of the
community reaching out to community groups, tenants / residents,
faith groups, monitor progress, and take action to improve
representation.

R4

Develop innovative engagement methods for engaging a wider range of
residents outside of formal meetings recognising that some groups
including younger people may not want to attend formal meetings so
alternative options including use of social media and outreach events
may be more effective.

R5

Develop more partnership working at ward level to facilitate more
active participation of councillors in ward panels.

R6

Review arrangements for the time, location and venue of ward panel
meetings to improve participation including support for using
technology for virtual meetings.

R7

That the BCU / GSNB publish a Ward Panel Handbook with clear
guidance on good practice on running panels effectively and organise
formal training for panel members.

R8

That the BCU and GSNB be asked to provide an update on
improvements in panel arrangements across the borough by February
2022 taking account of the recommendations of the scrutiny review
and changes to ward boundaries to be introduced in May 2022.

6.

Options

6.1

To not endorse the recommendations.

6.2

To endorse the recommendations and submit them to the Chief Officer of
Police of their crime and disorder functions.
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7.

Cross-Cutting Issues and Implications

Issue
Legal including
Human Rights
Act

Finance and
other resources
including
procurement
implications
Equalities

Climate
Change

Implications
The purpose of this report is to provide the
committee with an update on the review of
the effectiveness of the Safer
Neighbourhood Panels. No formal decision
will be taken. As such, there are no legal
implications arising directly from the report
This is a scrutiny report and as such there
are no financial implications arising.

Sign-off
Azuka Onuorah
Head of Legal
Services
24th May 2021

The decisions recommended through this
paper have a remote or low relevance to
the substance of the Equality Act. There is
no apparent equality impact on end users.
The decisions recommended through this
paper have a remote or low relevance to
the Greenwich Carbon Neutral Plan.

Nassir Ali,
Scrutiny
Manager
18 May 2021
Nassir Ali,
Scrutiny
Manager
18 May 2021
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Damon Cook,
Director of
Finance,
18 May 2021
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8.

Appendices

8.1

The following documents are to be published with and form part of the
report:
• Safer Neighbourhood Panels Review Report
• Appendix 1 – Project Statement
• Appendix 2 – Ward Panel Framework
• Appendix 3 – Councillors Survey
• Appendix 4 – Police Survey
• Appendix 5 – Safer Greenwich – 2019 review of SNP’s

Report Author:
Tel No.:
E-mail:

Nassir Ali, Scrutiny Manager
020 8921 6160
nassir.ali@royalgreenwich.gov.uk

Reporting to:
Tel No.:
Email:

Veronica Johnson, Head of Corporate Governance &
Democratic Services
020 8921 5004
veronica.johnson@royalgreenwich.gov.uk

Chief Officer
Tel No:
Email:

Katrina Delaney, Director of Communities and Environment
020 8921 6101
katrina.delaney@royalgreenwich.gov.uk
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Community Safety & Environment Scrutiny Panel
Review of Safer Neighbourhood Panels
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1. Purpose of the review
2. Background
3. Methodology
4. Findings and Recommendations
5. Ensuring that there is a Panel effectively operating in every ward
6. Ensuring that Panels are representative
7. Improving Community Engagement
8. Improving the effectiveness of panel meetings
9. Conclusion

Appendices
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1.

Purpose of review

1.1

The purpose of this in-depth scrutiny is to review and evaluate the
contribution of Safer Neighbourhood Panels to reducing crime and AntiSocial Behaviour in Greenwich and make recommendations for
improvement.

2.

Background

2.1

There is a statutory obligation for the police to obtain the views of
residents about crime and disorder in their neighbourhood and to
provide them with information. Safer Neighbourhood Ward Panels
(SNP’s) were established as a mechanism for doing this and facilitating
two-way communication between residents and neighbourhood police
teams. Ward panels also reflect the Mayor of Londons’ commitment to
provide a local engagement structure that gives Londoners a greater
voice and scrutiny of policing at a local level. Ward Panels exist in every
London Borough and are the primary ward-level mechanism for local
consultation and scrutiny of policing. The Metropolitan Police (MPS) are
responsible for setting up SNP’s and the format is “owned” by them.
However, the Mayor of London Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC)
has tasked Safer Neighbourhood Boards in each Borough with
monitoring MPS support for the delivery of ward panels. Where ward
panels are not in place or not functioning the SNB can ask the MPS to
take action to address this.

2.2

The Community Safety and Environment Panel at their meeting on 17th
September 2020 agreed to carry out an in depth scrutiny review to
address concerns regarding the effectiveness of panels and
inconsistencies across the borough. The terms of reference were set in
the attached Project Statement – Appendix 1.

3.

Methodology

3.1

In carrying out this scrutiny review the Project Team collected evidence
from the MPS Basic Command Unit (BCU), Greenwich Safer
Neighbourhood Board (GSNB), MOPAC, Safer Neighbourhood Police
Teams and Ward Councillors.

3.2

The MPS have now developed a Ward Panel Framework (Appendix 2)
which provides guidance to all BCU’s in London and this is being
developed by senior leadership in Greenwich, Lewisham and Bexley to
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improve the effectiveness of panels across the three boroughs. It
provides comprehensive guidance but is in the early stages of
implementation.
3.3

The main evidence on the current operation of panels came from three
surveys:
• a questionnaire sent to all councillors (appendix 3)
• a questionnaire sent to all Police Sergeants and Teams (appendix 4)
• a survey carried out by the GSNB covering the 17 Panels (appendix
5)

4.

Findings / Recommendations

4.1

The results of the surveys indicate that there are inconsistencies in the
performance of panels across the borough and a number have ceased to
function. Out of 17 panels only 5 are performing well, 7 need some
additional support to improve and 5 require major changes or reconstitution. There are often low levels of attendance at many panel
meetings. The BCU and GSNB recognise the need for changes to
address these problems and are working together to develop an
improvement plan taking into account the good practice recommended
in the Ward Framework supported with clearer guidance to all panels.
Based on the results of the Scrutiny Review it is recommended that the
improvement plan should include action in the following key areas :

5.

Ensuring that there is a Panel effectively operating in every
ward

5.1

The results from the questionnaires confirm that a number of Panels
have ceased to operate and other are not performing effectively. The
impact of the Covid pandemic has obviously had a severe impact in
hindering efforts to re-establish and improve panels. If the situation is to
improve there needs to be a clear plan of action to ensure effective
arrangements in every ward and priority given to re-establishing those
panels that have ceased to function. The introduction of new ward
boundaries in May 2022 will create additional challenges which will need
to be taken into consideration next year.
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Recommendation 1
That the BCU with support from the GSNB develop an Action
Plan with a timetable for ensuring panels are effectively
operating panels in every ward in Greenwich and consider the
implications of the boundary review.
6.
6.1

Ensuring that Panels are representative
Improvements in panel membership are required to ensure that they
reflect local communities within neighbourhoods including gender, age,
Black, Asian & Minority Ethnic groups, representatives of faith groups
and any group forming a large section of the community such as
students, young people and the LGBTQ+ community. Younger people
are noticeably under-represented on panels yet levels of youth crime
highlights the need to increase participation and engagement with young
people.
Recommendation 2
BCU, GSNB and the Council work together to develop a
borough wide campaign to promote greater awareness of the
work of SNP’s with the aim of recruiting a wider range of
members from all sections of the community. This should
include Greenwich Information, Websites, and Social media.
Recommendation 3
SNP’s to pro-actively recruit members from all sections of the
community reaching out to community groups, tenants /
residents, faith groups, monitor progress, and take action to
improve representation.

7.

Improving Community Engagement

7.1

It is important that all panels communicate effectively with the wider
community. Many residents may be unaware of the work of ward panels
and a range of communication mechanisms need to be used to share
information with residents. This can include websites, newsletters, social
media, and placing information in public spaces which are visited by the
wider public.

7.2

Evidence from MOPAC confirmed that most boroughs experience
difficulties getting residents involved with community police engagement.
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Some residents may attend meetings when they are concerned about a
specific problem but often do not wish to take on additional
volunteering responsibilities with a panel. Social media and websites may
provide a more convenient way of engaging residents. The Police have
already had some success with using Ward Surveys to engage with a
broader range of residents rather than just panel members. Results from
surveys should be collated and fed back into ward panel meetings to
inform their decision making on priorities.
7.3

Although not everyone wants to attend formal panel meetings it is
important to allow public attendance at some meetings to give the wider
community an opportunity to see the panel at work, hear from the local
police team and ask questions. There are currently different approaches
about whether panel meeting are open or closed to the public and some
clearer guidance would help consistency. Hosting panel meetings in
different parts of a ward may encourage more attendance as will holding
meetings at different times of the day and on different days. Additional
day time meetings may enable participation of those who would
otherwise be unable to attend. Technology should be used to enable
access for those unwilling or unable to attend in person (due to
disability, illness or care commitments). There has already been some
success with some panels holding meetings virtually on platforms such as
Zoom or Microsoft Teams. However, more support is needed to ensure
that all ward panels are able to do this for all or part of their meetings.

7.4

The survey results show that many councillors are not engaged with the
work of their local ward panel and do not attend meetings. The
participation of councillors in ward panels would enable them to
contribute their local knowledge to problem solving ,encourage
community groups to get involved, identify opportunities for joint
working with the police as well as refer non policing issues to Council
departments. Before the Covid emergency the Council, Police and
GSNB had been collectively working to enhance partnership working at
ward level and had planned an event in March 2020 which had to be
postponed due to the pandemic. There is now an opportunity for
further work to enhance partnership working at neighbourhood level
and encourage councillor participation in ward panels.
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Recommendation 4
Develop innovative engagement methods for engaging a wider
range of residents outside of formal meetings recognising that
some groups including younger people may not want to attend
formal meetings so alternative options including use of social
media and outreach events may be more effective.
Recommendation 5
Develop more partnership working at ward level to facilitate
more active participation of councillors in ward panels.
Recommendation 6
Review arrangements for the time, location and venue of ward
panel meetings to improve participation including support for
using technology for virtual meetings.

8.

Improving the effectiveness of panel meetings

8.1

The survey results indicate there have been some difficulties with the
administration of panel meetings including adequate notification of
meetings , distribution of agendas / minutes, the priority setting process
and establishing clear roles and responsibilities. These problems reduce
the level of participation and the effectiveness of meetings. The Ward
Framework provides comprehensive guidance and the BCU proposal to
publish a Panel Handbook would help communicate these standards to
all panels so there was greater consistency across the borough.

8.2

It is already a requirement for each panel to be chaired by a community
member but consideration should be given to having a Vice Chair for
each panel , who can deputise and support the Chair. Following a review
in Tower Hamlets it was recommended that each panel should establish
a post of Vice Chair which should also be given specific responsibility for
engaging with seldom heard residents. All panels should have a Secretary
to assist the Chair with the administration of meetings and recording
decisions. It is sometimes difficult to find a community member willing to
do this so it is important that the Safer Neighbourhood Team offer
some administrative support to enable the panel to operate if there are
vacancies.
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8.3

In addition to having a Chair, Vice Chair and Secretary there may be
further opportunities to utilise the skills and experience of panel
members by giving them designated responsibilities to share the
workload. This could include liaising with different groups/organisations
in the ward or younger residents.

8.4

If all panel members are to be effective then they would benefit from
relevant training covering a range of issues including: panel
responsibilities , how to use police and partnership data ; setting ward
priorities and problem solving.
Recommendation 7
That the BCU / GSNB publish a Ward Panel Handbook with
clear guidance on good practice on running panels effectively
and organise formal training for panel members.

9.

Conclusion

9.1

Safer Neighbourhood Panels provide an important mechanism for
community engagement in reducing crime and disorder in Greenwich.
The aim of this scrutiny review has been to assess current levels of
performance and provide some practical recommendations for
improvement. The BCU are already developing an improvement plan to
improve the effectiveness of panels across the borough and the GSNB
are reviewing and supporting each panel. It is hoped that the
recommendations can support this work and enhance the Council’s
support for panels.
Recommendation 8
That the BCU and GSNB be asked to provide an update on
improvements in panel arrangements across the borough by
February 2022 taking account of the recommendations of the
scrutiny review and changes to ward boundaries to be
introduced in May 2022.
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In-Depth Scrutiny Work - Project Statement
Project Name
Project Lead Member/Officer
Date agreed

Review of Safer Neighbourhood Panels
Councillor David Stanley/Aysev Ismail
16/11/2020

1. Purpose of Review
The purpose of this in-depth scrutiny is to review and evaluate the contribution of
Safer Neighbourhood Panels to reducing crime and ASB in Greenwich and make
recommendations for improvement.
2. Specific Objectives
1. Review existing arrangements for the 17 Safer Neighbourhood Panels to assess
their effectiveness in engaging local residents in reducing crime and ASB
2. Review the arrangements for community engagement including levels of
participation and diversity
3. Review structure, governance, administrative support and funding
4. Assess the contribution of Panels in identifying local priorities for policing and
monitoring progress
5. Make appropriate recommendations for improvement and greater consistency
across the borough
3. Tasks to be done
1. Survey to collect information on arrangements for the 17 Panels
2. Desk top research on best practice from other local authorities, police and
MOPAC
3. Interviews with key stakeholders responsible for the delivery and oversight of
the panels, as well as the crime & disorder within the Borough
4. Consultation with Safer Neighbourhood Panels, Police Teams and ward
Councillors
5. Analyse evidence received to make recommendations where appropriate, and
identify/recognises areas of good practice

(Appendix A)
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4. Project Team
Councillor David Stanley - Chair of the CS&E SP
Aysev Ismail - Community Safety Policy and Performance Manager
Nassir Ali - Scrutiny Manager

5. Resource Implications
Officer time from Scrutiny Unit and Community Safety
6. Project Timeframe and Milestones
Task

Scope

Date

Agree Scope by Project Team

Chair & SP

Questionnaires, research and
interviews

Fact finding

26th November
2020
January/February
2021

Project report

Update on progress and
future work

March 2021

Interim report

A draft report with initial
findings and conclusions

June 2021

Final report

Final report with
recommendations

(Appendix A)

September 2021
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Protective Marking
FOIA Exemption
Suitable for Publication Scheme? Y/N
Title and Version
Purpose
Relevant to
Summary
Author and Warrant/Pay Number
Creating BOCU/Branch & Unit
Date Created
Last update
Review Date

Not Protected
N
N
Ward Panel Framework - version 5
To provide a framework for Ward Panel inception and operation
Neighbourhood Superintendents, Chief Inspectors and Inspectors
and All Safer Neighbourhood Teams
A Framework of guidelines to assist Safer Neighbourhood Teams in
setting up and working with ward panels
Ch/Supt Stuart Bell, Insp John Evans, PS Angela Knight
CPIC – Safer Neighbourhoods
December 2020
15 December 2020
15 May 2021

Ward Panel Framework
1. Introduction
There is a statutory obligation on police under section 34 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011
to obtain the views of those within a neighbourhood about crime and disorder in that neighbourhood and for
police to provide information on policing within that neighbourhood. Ward panels therefore are an important
and ever relevant mechanism to facilitate this two-way provision of information and consultation.
Ward panels contribute to two of the operational priorities within the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS)
strategy 2018-2025:
•
•

Focus on what matters most to Londoners and
Mobilise partners and the public.

Ward panels also reflect the Mayor’s mission and action plan, providing a vital local engagement structure that
gives Londoners a greater voice. They actively contribute to the MPS engagement action plan and core
commitments, developing and embedding strong local relationships and providing a local pathway to
community focused engagement. Every one of London’s wards will have a ward panel, meeting regularly, where
the police can be scrutinised at a neighbourhood level, agree priorities and share local concerns.
A ward panel that functions effectively will feed information and emerging issues directly to local officers,
helping to shape and deliver local priorities and inform supervisors. Evidence-based ward panel decisions should
inform, influence and involve both the community and police officers as part of a continuous cycle of feedback,
review and action.
Ward panels provide a key local accountability mechanism for the MPS and the Commissioner and allow scrutiny
of policing at a local level.
2. The purpose of a ward panel
Ward panels will be the primary ward-level mechanism for local consultation.
They have the following aims:
1) To ensure the local community is closely involved in setting the ward level priorities for the ward and
Safer Neighbourhood Team (SNT)
2) To support activity on the ward priorities
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3) To scrutinise the work of the SNT
4) To encourage and support community members to become more closely involved in problem solving
and crime prevention
5) To support the SNT in building trust and confidence within the wider community
6) To be representative of their community and have considerable reach within the community
7) To assist the police in increasing community engagement, for example through community contact
sessions
8) To support groups within the ward that have a focus on crime prevention and community safety, such
as Neighbourhood Watch.
3. Ward panel functions
A) Setting ward priorities
Guidance on the number and type of priorities set by each ward is under review and will be published separately.
Regardless of the number and type of priorities the core principles below should be applied by panels.
To inform the setting of ward priorities, ward panel members should examine the ward crime/ASB profile
alongside information from community engagement and activity by both police and partners. Information
examined should include results of surveys and concerns voiced by the community at public events and
meetings.
The process of setting ward priorities will be supported by the SNT through the provision of information about
criminal activity across the ward and crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB) statistics and trends. SNT officers will
also provide updates on their actions taken regarding any existing priority in order for the panel to make
informed decisions about whether the priority is in need of amending or replacing.
Priorities should not be generic; they should address a specific problem. If a decision cannot be reached through
discussion, a vote should be taken. SNT officers should explain how ward priorities complement the broader
neighbourhood priorities and MPS policing priorities in their work. Officers should also clarify what would be
achievable within available resources and set a timescale for achievement or feedback to the community.
In addition to setting ward priorities, the panel should be fully involved in deciding the type of action that should
be taken on their concerns and have an input into the problem-solving approach.
B) Scrutinising the work of the SNT
To enable the ward panel to scrutinise its work, the SNT should provide the ward panel with data on crime and
ASB as well as information on its activities, time spent on the ward and any changes in team membership.
C) Supporting the SNT in building trust and confidence in local policing
Ward panels should collate issues and concerns from across the ward. This information will enable SNTs to
consider and act upon the views of the wider group of residents. The ward panel should also convey to residents
the subsequent actions the SNT have taken. This two-way communication should assist in building trust and
confidence.
Ward panel members should provide and seek feedback from the community on the factors affecting confidence
in policing and assist the SNT with developing initiatives that impact on the key measures of confidence in local
policing, such as “Feeling well informed”, “Agree police are dealing with things that matter” and “Knows how to
contact their local officer”.
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D) Ensuring the ward panel is as representative as possible
Ward panels should seek to proactively and positively influence levels of representation within the panel, with
the aim for their membership to reflect the socio-demographic characteristics of the ward. There should be a
mixed group of gender, age, Black, Asian & Minority Ethnic representatives, and representatives of faith groups
and any group forming a large section of the community such as students, young people and the LGBTQ+
community. With a small panel where this may be difficult to achieve, panel members should be active across
the different communities that make up the ward and reflect the views and voices of those communities
wherever possible.
E) Increasing community engagement
Ward panels provide opportunities for the community to engage with the police and other partners about the
things that matter most in the area where they live. By feeding in information from the wider community and
reporting back to the community, ward panel members increase community engagement with policing. Ward
panel members should involve as many community members as possible in this two-way communication.
Ward panel members, through their contacts and influence, should also cascade crime prevention and wider
police engagement messaging through the means they decide most appropriate to achieve as wide a reach as
possible. They should then inform the SNT of any relevant feedback.
Ward panels should support the effectiveness of community contact sessions by considering information on
their take-up and impact, then contributing community suggestions for different locations and times/events of
high footfall that together reach the wide range of community members. Information collected at these sessions
should be fed back to the ward panel.
F) Supporting neighbourhood watches in the ward
The networks and influence of ward panel members should complement any established networks and influence
of neighbourhood watch coordinators. Ward panels should support a reciprocal relationship with
neighbourhood watches for the purposes of crime prevention and community safety concerning local policing.
4. Membership of a ward panel
Breadth
Ward panels should have the representation and breadth of skills to ensure that they can fulfil their functions
effectively. The panel should be formed of local people who live, work and/or study in the ward and be drawn
from all parts of the ward to prevent a focus on one area at the exclusion of others. A suitable number would
be between 12 and 25 members. For smaller ward panels, members should be able to consult widely across the
community.
Core membership:
•
•

Local residents/businesses - representatives from significant demographic groups; young people;
tenant and resident associations; residents of different housing types; local community groups; local
societies and associations; educational representatives; local traders and business groups;
Local partners - neighbourhood watch; health professionals; housing representatives (with no voting
rights); local authority officers, such as the antisocial behaviour/crime prevention officer (with no voting
rights); significant partners (such as charities, outreach providers and youth workers - with no voting
rights); ward councillors (with no voting rights).
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Membership by those who take a wider view or represent an organisation or group should be encouraged. It
can help ensure that ‘single issue’ or non-inclusive members do not dominate discussion at panel meetings.
SNT officers and ward panel members should be proactive in recruiting representation from across the sociodemographic characteristics of the ward and all areas in the ward. Without this, the panel could lose the trust
of sections of the community.
Chair
The ward panel chair provides the strategic direction and leadership for the panel. The chair should be a
community member who resides, or works or studies predominantly, in the ward. The chair, or a nominated
deputy, should attend all meetings. The chair should be aware of all potential conflicts of interest to their role
and act accordingly should one become apparent by registering that conflict of interest, abstaining, delegating
the chair responsibilities for that decision or stepping down.
Secretary
It is recommended that a volunteer should be sought to take the role of secretary to assist the chair and panel
with administration and keeping a record of each meeting.

Tenure
Ward panel members should aim to be involved for at least a year with an advised tenure of 2-3 years, when
the possibility of extension can be reviewed. Panels should aim for an appropriate mix of experienced and newly
engaged members of the community and include succession planning for the role of chair.

Councillors
The ward panel would benefit from the involvement of the local ward councillors who can observe the process
and contribute their local knowledge of problems, but they should not be party to any ‘voting’ around the
selection of a ward priority. This is to ensure that any priority is free from any criticism that it is politically driven.
For the same reason, councillors should not be ward panel chairs.
Young people
To increase participation of young people, youth advisory groups and safer school officers should be approached
and innovative engagement methods and social media should be used. Instead of expecting young people to
take part in ward panel meetings, targeted community police engagement events could be held. They may
include regular ‘Question Time’ sessions, where young people can question MPS officers directly. Should a young
person become a panel member, an appropriate risk assessment must be completed and written parental
permission sought if the person is under the age of 18. Transport to and from the venue must also be considered
alongside virtual opportunities to attend via electronic platforms.
5. Ward panel meetings
Administration
•
•

Meetings should take place at least every three months.
The ward panel chair and the SNT must agree the date, time and location of each meeting well in
advance.
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

An SNT officer should attend each ward panel meeting.
The ward panel chair should chair meetings and be responsible for setting the agendas of meetings.
A ward panel member should keep a record of attendance and the agreed priorities and actions.
Although the mechanism of ward panels is provided by the police and supported by the SNT, the ward
panel should lead on fulfilling its functions.
SNTs should provide information required in a timely manner.
SNTs should assist the ward panel where required with provision of a venue, support with community
engagement and recruitment of future panel members.
SNTs should help store and distribute required information and records, compliant with General Data
Protection Regulations (GDPR), through maintained circulation lists on the AirSpace system.
The ward panel should choose whether a panel member takes the role of GDPR data controller.
A record should be kept of ward panel membership, including changes of panel members. After
establishing the panel, it must be clear to members and the community how changes to panel
membership will be made. The DWO should retain a central copy of records of membership and
meetings for reference and distribute the records of meetings to all attendees and the safer
neighbourhood board (SNB).
The functions of the panel, panel membership and meetings should be broadly promoted across the
ward through a variety of means and in formats suitable for all sections of the community.

Agenda
Meetings should include feedback on actions and priorities identified at the previous meeting, information on
policing activity and its impact, crime data, community concerns, reviewing and updating ward priorities and the
type of action to be taken, evaluating and suggesting community contact sessions, and agreeing dates for the
next one or two meetings.
Provision of data and reports
The Dedicated Ward Officer (DWO) or supervisor for the ward will provide the ward panel with up to date and
relevant data, information and reports in order for the ward panel to fulfil its priority setting and scrutiny. This
should include data on crime and ASB since the last meeting, trends and comparisons taken from a variety of
internal and open source databases. Reports should include brief information on types of recent offence or ASB
and hotspot areas in the ward.
Provision of survey results
The use of Ward Panel Surveys (WPS) enables DWOs to engage with a broader section of the ward than the ward
panel members. The “Voice Your Concerns” facility on the ward pages of the MPS website allows local people
to select and vote on the crime and ASB they are most concerned about. Results from these surveys should be
collated and fed back into the ward panel meeting to inform the panel’s decision making.
Accessibility
Ward panel meetings should be accessible and open to all members. The meetings, information presented and
venues should be accessible. Technology can be used to enable access and to support those who are unable to
attend in person (due to disability, illness or care commitments). Ward panel meetings, or parts of meetings,
may be held virtually on platforms appropriate for the panel such as Zoom or Microsoft Teams, which include a
dial-in option.
Public attendance
It is important that ward panels allow public attendance at some meetings. This gives the community the
opportunity to see the panel at work and hear directly from the SNT about its activity and local crime.
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Community members can also ask questions of the panel and the police. The panel can use this opportunity to
recruit new members.
6. Setting up a ward panel
Panel inception
As a step towards setting up a new ward panel, it may be useful for some existing community leaders to form
an interim panel, possibly with a well-known community leader taking the lead as chair. This should be a shortterm arrangement until further community members come forward. As more community members become
involved, the panel may develop by a process of nominations. If this approach is taken, opportunities should
exist for interim members to remain involved after they have left the panel, for example through inclusion in
the ongoing community consultation and engagement process.
New members
If there are insufficient panel members, new members can be sought through social media request, newsletters,
residents’ associations or community notice boards. Alternatively, an open invitation could be sent to specific
groups or invitations could be made in person at community events or venues.

Structure
As with many community groups some members will request a formal arrangement, others will prefer a less
structured approach. Whatever the system chosen for the panel meetings, the members must agree on how
decisions will be made to prevent bias or personal opinions from influencing priorities selected by the group.
Setting ground rules will be an essential part of the first meeting and should be recorded, reviewed as required
and shared with new members.
7. Support from the Safer Neighbourhood Team
MOPAC has tasked SNB to monitor MPS support for the delivery of ward panels and community contact sessions.
Ward panels are initiated by the MPS and the format is “owned” by the MPS, however panels are chaired and
led by a member of the community. Once priorities have been chosen, SNTs should commit their available tasking
patrol time to problem solving and activities that address them. This should be supported by the Basic Command
Unit (BCU) senior leadership team.
An SNT representative should attend all meetings and normally be a police constable or more senior officer who
will provide a policing input with data and feedback on progress, results and key messages. The ward panel must
meet regularly, about every two to three months, ideally in person but alternatively via online platforms such as
Microsoft Teams or Zoom. Where possible, the chair and SNT should consider having input from guest speakers
on topics relevant to the issues within the ward at the time. SNTs should offer invitations to panel members to join
proactive police activity such as weapon sweeps, ride alongs or walk alongs, and operational days of action.
At each meeting, police should provide local crime figures, any relevant updates to ward profiles and progress
on the previous priorities set, as well as updates on ongoing local work. The meetings provide an opportunity
for the public to scrutinise the work of the police, to offer feedback and to agree upon a new priority. Feedback
should continue informally throughout the year with the chair and Key Individual Networks and not be limited
to the quarterly ward panel meetings.
Note – information and data provided to the public should be presented in an easy-to-read format, meaningful and comparable over time.
It should be aligned to the operational priorities in the MPS strategy (The Met’s Direction) and the Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan.
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Terms of reference
Terms of Reference (ToR) should be used to set out the parameters within which the ward panel will operate
and its relationship with the relevant SNT. In consultation with their neighbourhood inspector, ward panel chairs
within a borough may wish to agree on one shared TOR. Guidance on the contents of a ToR are provided in
Appendix 1.
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Appendix 1 - Guidance on terms of reference (ToR)
In broad terms, the ToR should set out the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

The aims
The membership (who/which partners and the appointment process)
The role of ward panel members (and of specific roles, e.g. chair/secretary)
Secretarial support (who provides it and on what basis)
The frequency of meetings
A code of conduct for members

A more formal constitution template can also be provided if required.
Aims of the **Borough Name** ward panel
The **Borough Name** ward panel will;
1) To ensure the local community is closely involved in setting the ward level priority for the ward and Safer
Neighbourhood Team (SNT)
2) To support activity on the ward priorities
3) To scrutinise the work of the SNT
4) To encourage and support community members to become more closely involved in problem solving and
crime prevention
5) To support the SNT in building trust and confidence within the wider community
6) To be representative of their community and have considerable reach within the community
7) To assist the police in increasing community engagement, for example through community contact
sessions
8) To support groups within the ward that have a focus on crime prevention and community safety, such as
Neighbourhood Watch.
Note: The above aims align with those laid out in this ward panel framework. There may be other areas of
policing specific to a borough that ward panels would like to see explicitly addressed in the aims of their panel.
Membership of the **Borough Name** ward panel
Suggested size maintained between 12 and 25 members to ensure it remains effective.

Core Membership
•

Local residents/businesses
o Representatives from significant demographic groups
o Young people
o Representatives of local tenant and resident associations
o Residents of different housing types
o Representatives of local community groups, societies and associations
o Educational representatives (if there is a school/college/university in the ward)
o Small and medium enterprises and local traders
o Representatives from large industrial estates (If appropriate to the ward)

•

Local “Partners”
o Neighbourhood Watch
o Health professionals
o Housing representatives (if the ward has public housing)
o Local authority officers such as the anti-social behaviour/crime prevention officer (with no voting rights)
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o Significant partners (such as charities, outreach providers and youth workers with no voting rights)
o Ward councillors (with no voting rights)
The role of members in the **Borough Name** ward panel
You may want to state explicitly:
a) The process to select them
b) Their tenure (which should not be more than 3 years but can be reviewed)
c) Their remit and responsibilities
d) Conflicts of interest
e) De-selection criteria
The role of the chair, vice-chair, secretary in the **Borough Name** ward panel
You may want to state explicitly:
a) The process to select them from amongst the members
b) Their remit and responsibilities
Note: Example role profile templates are available if required
Meetings of the **Borough Name** ward panel
You will need to state
a) The frequency of meetings
b) Whether some or all meetings will be held in public or allow public access. The ward panel framework states
that ward panels should allow public attendance at some meetings.
c) You may want to have a set agenda. If so, state the standing items in the ToR. The ward panel framework
lists contents for an agenda,
d) The processes for considering requests to attend by non-members
A statement for members to sign that they will abide by the TOR and code of conduct.
Code of conduct for members of the **Borough Name** ward panel
Most public bodies will have codes of conduct. Example code of conduct templates are available if required
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Councillors Questionnaire – Findings
We received responses from 21 councillors who represent 16 of the 17
Wards. No response was received from Shooters Hill Ward councillors.

1. Are you invited to attend meetings of your Safer Neighbourhood Ward
Panel?

Yes - 16

24%

No - 5

76%

76% of the councillors who responded were invited to meetings of their
respective Safer Neighbourhood Ward Panel. Those that were not invited
include Members from the following:
Kidbrooke with Hornfair, Abbey Wood, Blackheath & Westcombe and
Glyndon.
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2. How often do you attend panel meetings?

Regularly - 10

19%

Sometimes - 7
Never - 4
48%

33%

81% of the councillors who responded attended Safer Neighbourhood
Panel meetings.
3. Is panel membership representative of local communities?

Yes - 12
No - 9

43%
57%
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4. If the answer to question 3 is no, which groups are under represented?
Responses included:
•
•
•
•

Younger people
Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME)
Faith Groups
Disabled groups

5. Is information from ward panels shared with local communities?

Yes - 12
No - 9

43%
57%

57% of the councillors who responded were of the view that information
from ward panels was shared with the local community. The 9 councillors
who disagreed were from the following wards: Kidbrooke with Hornfair,
Abbey Wood, Woolwich Common, Glyndon, Eltham South and
Coldharbour & New Eltham.
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6. How effective are ward panels in helping the police engage with local
communities?

Very effective - 5
Fairly effective - 10

24%
28%

Not effective - 6

48%

72% of the councillors who responded were of the view that wards panels
were very/fairly effective in helping the police to engage with local
communities. The ward panels that were viewed as “not effective” by
councillors were: Kidbrooke with Hornfair, Charlton, Glyndon, Woolwich
Common and Eltham South.
7. What changes would improve the effectiveness of Safer Neighbourhood
Ward Panels?
Responses included:
• Better Communication with a wider range of residents to explain
what panels do and the actions taken.
• Improved representation from all sections of local communities.
• Wider range of engagement activities other than formal panel
meetings e.g. newsletters, social media, street surveys, community
events.
• Better notification of meetings and circulation of minutes recording
action agreed on ward priorities.
• Review timing and location of meetings to enable more people to
attend.
• Opening more meetings to all residents to enable them to participate
in identifying problems, share information and discuss solutions.
• More active participation from ward councillors.
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• Improved guidance for panel members and formal training.
• Proactive intervention from Police when panels are failing to include
temporary administration pending appointment of officers.
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Sergeants Questionnaire – Findings
We received responses for all 17 Safer Neighbourhood Panels.
1. How often does the Ward Panel meet?

Monthly - 0

6%

Bi-Monthly - 1
Quarterly - 12

23%

Other - 4

71%

•
•
•
•

Other:
Greenwich Peninsula – “Panel is being re-built to re-start in March 2021”
Abbey Wood – “Currently there is no ward panel. One is in the process of
being set up.”
Thamesmead Moorings – “No Ward Panel at the moment”
Kidbrooke with Hornfair – No comment

2. Does the panel have a clear terms of reference?

18%

Yes - 14
No - 3

82%
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Abbey Wood, Greenwich Peninsula and Thamesmead Mooring do not have
a clear term of reference.
3. Do Panel members understand the terms of reference and their own role?
Members from Ward Panels that have a clear term of reference have an
understating of their roles, except for those from Kidbrooke with Hornfair
Ward.
4. Are panel members provided with any training?
Panel members are not provided training for any of the ward panels.
5. Are agenda and minutes sent out to members before meetings?

24%

Yes - 13
No - 4
76%

Minutes are sent out to members before meetings of all active panels,
except for Coldharbour and New Eltham. Greenwich Peninsula, Abbey
Wood & Thamesmead Moorings are currently inactive.
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6. Who records the decisions of Panel meetings?
Chair
Secretary
Panel Member
Minute Taker
Not recorded

5
3
2
4
3

The Police also record the decisions of Middle Park & Sutcliffe and
Kidbrooke with Hornfair Ward Panels.
7. Do you or your team provide any administrative support for panel
meetings?

35%

Yes - 11
No - 6
65%

The following Panels receive no administrative support from the Police:
Greenwich West, Eltham South, Eltham North, Abbey Wood, Thamesmead
Moorings, Greenwich Peninsula. The last 3 Panels are currently not active.
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8. How would you describe the attendance at panel meetings?

24%

High - 4

35%

Moderate - 7
Low - 6
41%

The Ward Panels with low attendance are as follows:
Eltham West, Middle Park & Sutcliffe, Greenwich Peninsula, Coldharbour &
New Eltham, Abbey Wood and Thamesmead Mooring.
9. Have any virtual meetings been held?

Yes - 10
No - 7

41%
59%

The following Ward Panels have not met virtually:
Eltham South, Kidbrooke with Hornfair, Coldharbour & New Eltham,
Plumstead, Glyndon, Thamesmead Moorings, Greenwich Peninsula and
Abbey Wood. The last 3 ward panels are currently inactive.
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10. Is panel membership representative of the local community?

12%

Yes - 2
No - 15
88%

Woolwich Riverside and Plumstead Ward Panels are representative of their
local community.
11. If No, what groups are underrepresented?
Black & Ethnic Minority Groups
Young People
Local Residents

7
6
2

Residents from Sutcliffe are underrepresented on the Middle Park &
Sutcliffe Ward Panel.

Page 176

12. Are ward panel meetings open to other residents?

24%

Yes - 13
No - 4
76%

Charlton, Glyndon, Shooters Hill, Woolwich Common ward panels are not
open to other residents.
13. What ward priorities were set in 2020?
Eltham West

Vehicle crime, drugs and general Anti-Social Behaviour

Middle Park &
Sutcliffe

Vehicle crime, burglary and general Anti-Social Behaviour

Woolwich
Riverside

Drug dealing on Milne Estate, Anti Social Behaviour - John
Wilson Street, Vehicle crime, burglary, drugs in Kingsman
Street.

Greenwich
West
Blackheath &
Westcombe
Kidbrooke with
Hornfair

Burglary, Robbery, Cycle enabled crime.

Coldharbour &
New Eltham
Eltham South

1 - Burglary, 2- ASB, 3 - Drugs

Eltham North

Burglary, Theft of/ Theft from Motor vehicle

Burglary, Drug related ASB and Theft from Motor Vehicles
Drug related ASB, Motor Vehicle Crime, Burglary

Burglary, ASB on Eltham High St. Shoplifting
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Woolwich
Common

Burglary, Motor Vehicle Crime, Violence with injury & ASB

Plumstead

Burglary, Drugs, and ASB

Glyndon

Drugs, ASB, Vehicle crime

Shooters Hill

Burglary, Motor Vehicle Crime, Violence with injury & ASB

Charlton

Burglary, Motor Vehicle Crime, Violence with injury & ASB

Greenwich Peninsula, Abbey Wood & Thamesmead Moorings ward panels are
currently inactive.

14. What information was used to set these priorities?
All active ward panels use crime statistics and local concerns to set out
priorities.
15. How is information from panel meetings shared with local communities?
Eltham West

Twitter

Middle Park &
Sutcliffe

Twitter

Woolwich
Riverside

Members are encouraged to connect with their networks
and share information, we have a Facebook page and
information which we can disseminate to the wider public
we do so.

Greenwich West

minutes from meeting

Blackheath &
Westcome

Westcombe Park has a newsletter in which much of the
subject matter is shared. NHW leads attending cascade to
their members.
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Coldharbour &
New Eltham

Social media and at local resident meetings.

Eltham South

Ward Panel AGM and Public meeting

Plumstead

Social media, and email

Glyndon

Greenwich Council are invited to the meetings. Enviro
crime, ASB officers

Not shared or unknown:
Kidbrooke with Hornfair, Eltham North, Woolwich Common, Charlton,
Shooters Hill, Abbey Wood & Thamesmead Moorings, Greenwich
Peninsular. The last 3 Panels are currently inactive.

16. How effective are panel meetings in helping Safer Neighbourhood Teams
engage with communities?

Very effective - 3

23%

18%

Somewhat effective - 9
6%

Somewhat ineffective - 1
53%

Very ineffective - 4

The 5 panels that are somewhat/very ineffective in helping SNT’s to engage
with communities:
Coldharbour & New Eltham, Eltham South, Eltham North, Greenwich
Peninsula and Abbey Wood. The last 2 Panels are currently inactive.
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17. How effective are panel meetings in problem solving?

18%

Very effective - 3

23%

Somewhat effective - 8
Somewhat ineffective - 2

12%
47%

Very ineffective - 4

The 6 Panels that somewhat/very ineffective at problem solving:
Kidbrooke with Hornfair, Eltham South, Eltham North, Glyndon, Abbey
Wood and Greenwich Peninsula. The last 2 Panels are currently inactive.
18. What changes would improve the effectiveness of panel meetings?
Eltham West

Better range of age group

Middle Park &
Sutcliffe

Try to engage younger members

Woolwich
Riverside

Being open to all the community, we find essential to
the running of a panel and engaging with the panels in
between meetings to keep them updated on the ward
issues. Engagement and consistency is essential also
for a better ward panel

Greenwich
West
Greenwich
Peninsula
Blackheath &
Westcombe

None
Panel is being re-built to re-start in March 2021

Two way share of information. More feedback from the
panel as to results or perceived impact of police
actions
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Kidbrooke with
Hornfair

Task panel members with two-way conversations to
feed back to their neighbours but also not wait until a
meeting to contact SNT with issues of feedback on
Police activities

Coldharbour &
New Eltham

A larger number of ward panel members

Eltham South

Remove them and allow the team to reach out to
residents in their own way, as each team is different,
by using twitter, next door, zoom and meetings, street
briefings.

Eltham North

Remove them and let teams communicate with
residents in their own way as they are all different. e.g.
Twitter, zoom meetings, conference calls, email etc

Woolwich
Common

It has been more challenging without Face to Face
meetings

Plumstead

More members being aware of IT

Abbey Wood

Set up a ward panel

Glyndon

The ward panel has a chairman who runs each
meeting. They seem reluctant for new members to join.
They have to decide if they want the residents to join to
the panel. The chairman is also very limited with social
media platforms. These meetings are not advertised

Thamesmead
Moorings
Shooters Hill
Charlton

In the process of creating a new panel.
It has been more challenging without Face to Face
meetings
It has been more challenging without Face to Face
meetings
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19. How effective are the community surveys in engaging with communities?

Very effective - 5

23%

Somewhat effective - 6

30%

Somewhat ineffective - 2
Very ineffective - 4
12%

35%

65% of sergeants believed that community surveys were somewhat/very
effective in engaging with local communities.
20. How do you use the community survey responses to inform priority
setting and to tackle crime/ASB on the ward?

Eltham West

Some of the answers were discussed in the panel
and helped us set our priorities.

Middle Park &
Sutcliffe

used responses to raise issues in the meetings

Woolwich
Riverside

It is very good to see the results mirror what is
already brought up at the panel and so therefore
reinforces the commitment to choose the priorities
that are for all the community and not just for
those that attend.

Greenwich
West

Taking the data and mapping and applying it to
priorities.

Greenwich
Peninsula

Panel is being re-built to re-start in March 2021
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Blackheath &
Westcombe

This is very early in our set up however I hope to
reach more of the residents directly affected by
ASB thus providing a better insight to the issues
be able to tackle these more effectively

Kidbrooke
with Hornfair

I hope to increase the number of working families,
younger residents and as a result the BAME
communities who for various reasons struggle to
attend meetings regularly. I aim to have more
regular contact with the panel to engage and drive
community activity involving the police, this has
been difficult during lockdown.

Coldharbour
& New Eltham

Look at where problems have accrued & target
these areas with regular foot & mobile patrols

Eltham South

Due to having to get permission from residents to
send out the survey (GDPR) the response to the
survey has been very limited. We only had 15
responses. Information gained was used to target
patrols in ASB hotspot areas that were identified.

Eltham North

Due to GDPR we had a very small response. Any
information we have been given we target our
patrols accordingly

Woolwich
Common

policing plans implemented to address the issues

Plumstead

These are brought up at Ward Panel Meetings,
discussed and joint decisions made

Abbey Wood

Not used

Glyndon

Glyndon SNT still need to set up an account. Can
you provide us with how we set one up please
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Thamesmead
Moorings

Not used

Shooters Hill

policing plans implemented to address the issues

Charlton

policing plans implemented to address the issues
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Safer Greenwich
2019 Review of Safer Neighbourhood Panels

2nd Draft (Amended 25th January 2020)
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The Vision of this Review
The Vision
That all Greenwich Safer
Neighbourhood Panels work
in partnership with their
Safer Neighbourhood
Teams and be recognised
as excellent
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Introduction
Safer Greenwich (SG) is a Charity responsible for the running of Greenwich Safer
Neighbourhood Board (SNB). Both of these organisations have been in existence
since 2016. The SNB is funded by the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime
(MOPAC.
One of the functions of the SNB laid down by MOPAC is to support Safer
Neighbourhood Panels (SNP). The responsibility for the SNB is to ensure that every
ward has a function Panel and to support those who need help and support.
In the preparation of this Review Safer Greenwich worked with the Chairs of the
Safer Neighbourhood Panels, Police and Council. SG recognises that all the Panels
are independent and have a strong working partnership with the police.

Why did we decide to carry out the Review?
In 2017 Safer Greenwich carried out a light touch Review, this identified that some
panels needed support. This Review sets out how we approached the task.

Eileen Glover
Chair Safer Neighbourhood Board
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Executive Summary
This Review took place between November 2018 to November 2019. There had
been a light touch Review in 2017 and this had identified that a number of the SNP
in the Borough were in decline with falling membership two had disappeared entirely.
This established that any new Review would need to be more in-depth. Four main
Questions were asked:
(1) How did the Panels begin?
(2) How and why have they evolved the way they have?
(3) What is the present situation?
(4) What are the steps needed to revive and rejuvenate the panels?
We approached the first questions by reading available documents then interviewing
past Chairs and members of Panels established at this time.
The second question looked at how the police involvement with panels changed
during the years and the effect that this had on the way the panels evolved. We
also looked at SNP across London.
The third question examined the current position by visiting all the panels. A
questionnaire was developed. There were meeting at New Scotland Yard (NSY).
Talks with local Police to identify how they saw the panels working. We also
developed the informal Chairs Lunch in to a more formal Chairs Forum.
Lastly, question four is a work in progress. In consultation with Panel Chairs
individually and at the Chairs Forum and including the police and council (these are
the Partners) we will be looking at what steps the partners think will revive and
rejuvenate panels.
Where are we now (January 2020). To support the Panels SG have upgraded their
website, this now includes a tool box of initiatives that have been used to rejuvenate
panels. It is hoped that the next Chairs Forum meeting will revolve round workshops
with the Safer Neighbourhood Teams (SNT). This meeting will be looking at working
relationships between Panels and their SNT. We will be working towards a
Conference for the Partners in September 2020.
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Methodologies
To understand Neighbourhood Panels to-day we examined how contact between
local communities and the Police in the past. In 2005 the picture changed with the
setting up of SNT followed up by SNP being formed. (Appendix 1 this will be
attached to the final Review)
Detailed in-depth work started from the formation of SNP in 2006. Telephone
interviews with past panel Chairs and panel members to understand the
development of the panels. The point of drift from the ordinal concept was identified
and the intervention of a police to re-vamp the panels in 2014 and its impact was
reviewed. (Appendix 2 this will be attached to the final Review)
To help us support the SNP who are struggling we developed a score card to judge
the health of the panels. This was divided in to two cores.

Core 1 Standard elements
1. A Constitution
2. Officers, Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary
3. Set Priorities
4. Minutes/Agenda
5. List of Panel Members
6. Regular Contact with SNT
7. Number of Meetings (Minimum of 4 in a year)
8. Public Access
9. Number of Panel Members
10. Diversity of panel membership

The second core covers how Panels engage with their local communities.
The scoring is waited in favour of Core 2. How a Panel engages is up to the
individual panel
Core 2 Community Engagement
•
•
•
•
•
•

Public Meeting
Full Public Access to Panel meetings (must be advertised)
Members reflects geographic areas of the ward
Members involved in community events
Contact information e-mail list
This not a definitive list
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The last part of the score card is the level panels are graded at this from 1 to
3 with 1 being the top level within the level there is a sub level from top, mid,
or low this determined by the number of member attending meetings ( this
includes apologies to meeting). A list of members does not count it must be
attendees and apologies.

Levels
Level (1) based on Panel Membership of 10 to 15+
Level (2) based on a membership of 6 to 9
Level (3) based on a membership of 3 to 5
The grading is arrived at by adding the scores from core 1 and 2, interviews
with panel members and visits to the individual panels
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Safer Neighbourhood Panel Review 2019
This Review started by researching how Communities and Police worked together in
the past. We looked at how communities worked with the police in Greenwich and
how they evolved prior to 2006. After 2006 informal working groups were
regularised and organised by the police with the objective to set local Priorities,
gather intelligence from local neighbourhoods and work in partnership with SNTs.
At the time the SNP were set up there were other Neighbourhood Renewal initiatives
on the Council Estates with training like leadership and problem solving. This
supported Housing Panels and it all helped in many areas to create interest and
involvement by residents in their local areas. Residents involved in the Council
Housing Panels members gravitated to the SNP. In other areas Residents
Association and Neighbourhood Watches formed the back bone for membership of
SNP. These new panels were set up by the Police in 2006 with police choose the
members and with all members having to be vetted by the police. The police set the
Agenda took the Minutes, decided when and where the panels met.
Between 2006 and 2012 the impact of the reduction of Police resources meant that
the police involvement in the panel’s weekend and the panels drifted, developing in
different ways fitting with their neighbourhood and ward. There are 17 wards in
Greenwich at one time there were Panels in every ward to-day two have cease to
function.
In 2014 the Police suddenly decided to take interest in SNP again their aim was to
review and revamp the panels. The aim was to get all the panels working the same
way. This meant working to a constitution (2006) meeting between established
dates with four meetings a year. They also decided that SNT would no longer
service the Panels meaning that the panels would have to take their own minutes &
agendas.
To say that these revelations were not well received would be an understatement.
The problem was that in their traditional way the Police had already decided how the
panels were going to operate they did not consult the Panel Chairs. The Police had
not recognised in the intervening years the Panels had developed independence.
The result was that the majority of the Panels simply ignored the police proposals.
In 2019 New Scotland Yard (NSY) started another Review (Appendix 3 this will be
attached to the final Review) the panels again. As usual they did not include or
consult the Safer Neighbourhood Boards (SNB) or SNP. There is a pan London
Organisation LPC2 who represent all the SNBs across London they finally managed
to get NSY to listen to the value of consulting SNBs. Unfortunately, there has been
no evidence of a change and only minimal consultation or feedback.
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We have reached 2019 and it look like yet again the SNBs and in turn the SNPs
were faces with what amounted to a fate a compley with the decision and courses of
action and direction already decided by the police. Have the Police at NSY listened
to the comments and concerns raised at the meetings them with LPC2? As of
January 2020, we have seen no evidence they have.
Based on the evidence gathered by this Review the SNP in Greenwich should
concern refreshing the way they work with the SNT and how they engage and
include the local the community. Today we stand at a crossroad, if the Panels are
going to survive the police will have to recognise that the panels have gained
independence. To be effective and relevant the panels need to work in close
partnership with the SNT and the local community. This Review has looked at the
past and how we reached the current position and how panels could move into the
future. In the next section of this document there are the results of our survey of the
SNP along with our findings and Recommendations we hope Panels will use these
to refresh their panels. The final draft of this Review will include comments from the
Panel Chairs, Police and an Action Plan in the Conclusion.
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Ward Panel Summary Table
No
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17

Panel
Abbey Wood
Blackheath & Westcombe
Charlton
Coldharbour & New Eltham
Eltham North
Eltham South
Eltham West
Glyndon
Greenwich West
Kidbrook with Hornfair
Middle Park & Sutcliffe
Peninsular
Plumstead
Shooters Hill
Thamsmead
Woolwich Common
Woolwich Riverside

Core 1 Core 2
0
1
5
3
1
8
4
5
3
0
8
10
3
0
3
0
10
10
2
0
2
1
5
3
5
5
8
8
2
0
4
1
10
10

Total
1/20
8/20
9/20
9/20
3/20
18/20
3/20
3/20
20/20
2/20
3/20
10/20
10/20
16/20
2/20
5/20
20/20

Level
3
2
2
2
3
1
3
3
1
3
3
2
2*
1
3
3*
1

Individual Ward Profiles
Abbey Wood (1)
Currently there is no Ward Panel in this Ward. There has been a pop-up meeting of
our NHW Project to generate interest in NHW which was such a success and
identified four residents who are interested in setting up a Ward Panel. Following this
a successful Community meeting has taken place and an inorgral panel meeting is
set for February at which the community will choose officers to run the panel. Safer
Greenwich has agreed to support a ward panel for at least three meetings.

Level 3 (intensive care)
Blackheath & Westcombe (2)
This Panel has a great deal of potential to get to level 1.

Level 2 (Top Rank)
Charlton (3)
Currently this panel is in the lower Level 3. However, we understand that the Chair is
standing down in January a new Chair could refresh the panel.

Level 3 (Lower Rank)
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Coldharbour & New Eltham (4)
This Panel is in the middle range of level 2. This panel has potential. The panel
meetings are held in the Hub at the Mound and this is rather small. The other
problem is that the Chair does need some support getting on e-mail currently the
Eltham South Panel keeps him informed and does any consultation responses.

Level 2 (Mid Rank)
Eltham North (5)
We have not managed to fully engage with this panel. We did attend a rebotten
meeting of the panel. Since then the panel membership has dropped to five.
Recently we have been able to give details of a resident wanting to join the panel.

Level 3 (Lower Rank)
Eltham South (6)
There is a need to consolidate membership after a number of members moved away

Level 1 (Mid Rank)
Eltham West (7)
We had difficulty contacting this panel however we have recently established new
links and are supporting a re-juviation of the Panel with a Community Engagement
meeing in February followed by an AGM. We will continue to support the panel if
requested.

Level 3 (intensive care)
Glyndon (8)
Membership is round the 5 level in need of fresh blood.

Level 3 (Lower Rank)
Greenwich West (9)
This is a very well run Panel. It has a healthy membership which covers the
geographic area of the ward. It has a number of NHW co-ordinators who are
members which helps it with its knowledge of the Ward and makes up for the fact
that the meetings are closed to the public. However it has to be noted that there is
an historic reason for the closed meetings.

Level 1 (TopRank)
Kidbrooke with Hornfair (10)
Due to the ill health of the chair this panel does need support. On the plus side the
chair is very engaged with the Chairs Forum and SNB meetings and we will be able
to regenerate the panel in the spring of 2020

Level 3 (Lower Rank)
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Middle Park & Sutcliffe (11)
Unfortunately, the Chair of this Panel has had family commitments this make
communication difficult. The membership is down to 5 attending. We have spoken
to the Chair and offered support which has been well received and will be followed
up

Level 3 (intensive care)
Peninsular (12)
New Chair and given time this will be a strong panel it is a difficult Ward due to the
design of some of the flatted accommodation.

Level 2 (Mid Rank)
Plumstead (13)
Due to this ward being a hot spot for some crime incidents the panel has a good
attendance by the public however this can bring its own problems. The Chair is
trying to instigate some new initiatives in community engagement. A panel which
has potential.

Level 2 (Top Rank)
Shooters Hill (14)
A well established Panel well chaired and engaged members. However it could get
too comfortable could look to inviting new members. The community engagement is
covered by the operation of a mailing list with over 200 contacts

Level 1 (Lower Rank)
Thamesmead (15)
Recently it has been established that there is a Ward Panel and we will be
undertaking some intensive work in the ward and will offer support to the Chair

Level 3 (Intensive Care)
Woolwich Common (16)
The panel membership is elderly however it does have NHW members and is
actively involved in Community Events has potential could move up the Rakings to
Level 1

Level 2 (Mid Rank)
Woolwich Riverside (17)
This panel has a new chair and has been rejuvenated membership ranges from 25
top 10. The panel runs small focused meetings on specialist areas like burglary,
they also have a number of NHW members and the area could be described as
challenging

Level 1 (Top Rank)
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Findings
General Findings
During this Review we looked at SNPs across London we found that they mirrored
SNP in Greenwich with some panels doing well and others in need of support. We
also found by reading the documentation published by the Police and MOPAC
illustrated a lack of understanding of the structure of SNP that exists now. The SNP
in Greenwich is function and providing community involvement with the SNTs but
most panels could benefit from a refresh.
Across London there are hundreds of Volunteers engaging with the police in SNPS a
Snapshot picture shows that they have developed in very different way to suit the
wards they represent. The danger is that sometime the prime reason for the SNP
gets forgotten

Findings in Greenwich
The key to effective SNP is Partnership working with the SNT, Council and the
Community. Our other main finding was that the construction that the panel’s work
under needs to have strong guidance on the running of the panel for example the
need for officers to stand for only three years with a year break is important to the
reinvigoration of panels.
To make Partnership effective all the panels need to be in the Level 1 or 2 ranking.
We have spent two years studying SNP in Greenwich of the possible 17 Panels 15
were identified working. To understand how they functioned they were judged
against a set of standard criteria. The picture that emerged was just how different
each panel operated. Agaist the criteria four panels reach level one another six
were level two and five at leve three. A number in level three were highlighted as in
need of intensive care.
Over the course of this Review we have attended meetings at NSY and had
meetings with local police including 1 to 1 discussions. However, we have concerns
about how information is cascaded between Police Officers. There has also been
extensive correspondence on the subject of how the police see SNP and partnership
working and as yet we are still getting mixed messages. . There have been a
number of documents laying out their thinking but no feedback on our comments.
These documents have not provided a local vision for how partnership working can
be developed in Greenwich. The police have carried out their own SNP Review this
was done by the SNTs giving an assessment of their panel. The result was a narrow
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view of their panel at a superficial level. The grading given to each panel did not
accurately reflect how the individual panels worked.
A strong finding of the Chairs Forum was the need for consistency of contact from
SNTs. The Review highlighted the inconsistency in how individual SNTs interact
with their panel.
After two years we still has no clear picture of how NSY and our local police see
SNPs effectively working in Partnership.
We would make a recommendation that first priority should be to raise all the panels
to level one and two. We feel that this could be achieved by June 2020. Our second
Recommendation is that a Conference could be held in September 2020 with the
theme of Partnership Working and Community Engagement.
The following Points have been identified for consideration:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The purpose of the Panels has to be clearly understood by all the Partners
The independence of the Panels has to be recognised by all the partners
A constitution with strong guidance on how panels should work with how long
officers can serve.
Strong Partnership working between the SNP needs to be developed with
Police.
The Review identified five panels graded as level three to be effective all
panels need to be at level one or two.
To achieve strong panels and effective working all panels should consider
adopting the core elements of the grading
To strengthen links with the community panels could consider creating a
Community Engagement Plan
Good communication with the SNTs and the Panel Chairs between meetings.
It is important to consider how diversity of the Panel is and how the voices of
young people can be heard in setting local Priorities.
There is a need to consider how a panel address public access to Panel
meetings.
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Conclusion
The Conclusion will be added to the 3rd and final draft of this Review and will include
the comments of the Chairs of the SNP and any comments from Partners.
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OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

DATE
30 June 2021

ITEM NO:
9

TITLE
Forward Plan
CHIEF OFFICER
Director of Communities & Environment

WARD (S)
All
CABINET MEMBER
Leader of the Council

1.

Purpose of the Report

1.1

To note the upcoming executive decisions set out in the Forward Plan for the
period June 2021 – September 2021, as set out at Appendix 1, and to
determine any items for scrutiny.

2.

Background

2.1

The Council reintroduced a Forward Plan in late 2015 to further improve
transparency in decision making and to ensure that all Members and the
public had greater notice of upcoming business. This followed proposals put
forward by Overview and Scrutiny councillors that were welcomed by the
Leader.

2.2

The publication of the Forward Plan is in addition to the requirements of the
revised 2012 Access to Information Regulations and is published monthly. It
coincides with the publication date for the required Access to Information
Notices for Cabinet and also gives an indication of non-key decisions to be
taken by Cabinet and individual Cabinet Members.

2.3

Publication of the Forward Plan is in addition to the following transparency
measures:
• All councillors are notified of an upcoming key decision to be taken by
a Cabinet Member or Chief Officer and sent a link to the published
report;
• All councillors are notified when a Cabinet Member or Chief Officer
has taken a key decision and are notified of the call in arrangements;
• Party Group Leaders, Party Whips, the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny
Committee, Scrutiny Panel Chairs and where relevant, ward
councillors, are informed of upcoming non-key decisions to be taken by
Cabinet Members and subsequently all councillors are notified of the
decision and the call in arrangements; and
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• With regard to Cabinet, all councillors are notified both of matters
included on the Cabinet’s agenda in advance of the meeting and when
the discussion has been taken, together with the call in arrangements.
3.

Report

3.1

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 17 September 2015
considered a report titled ‘Improving the Effectiveness of Scrutiny – Action
Plan Update’, which included items relating to decision making. It was felt
that there should be more consultation and information before decisions are
made and that decision making timescales were often too short to enable
Members to comment and respond. An improved Forward Plan and predecision scrutiny were considered to be ways of improving the current
arrangements.

3.2

The Committee agreed that the Forward Plan be considered at its meetings
on a regular basis in order to identify any decisions that it felt should be
subject to scrutiny; the plan for June – September 2021 (inclusive) is set out
at Appendix 1.

3.3

The Forward Plan, as presented, is to be considered as a view of the
scheduling of decisions at a particular time. This scheduling of business is a
continuous process and it can be expected there will have been changes to
the Forward Plan since the time of publication. The current status of these
decisions can be viewed on the Council’s website.

4.

Comments of the Director of Legal Services

4.1

There are no additional legal comments.

Background Papers
None other than previously published Committee papers
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Report Author:
Tel No.:
E-mail:
Reporting to:
Tel No.:
Email:

Veronica Johnson – Head of Corporate Governance and
Democratic Services
020 8921 5004
veronica.johnson@royalgreenwich.gov.uk
Stuart Godfrey, Assistant Director
(Communications and Democratic Services)
0208 921 5124
stuart.godfrey@royalgreenwich.gov.uk
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FORWARD PLAN June 2021 to September 2021
The Forward Plan is published to meet the requirement of The Local Authority (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and
Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 and to ensure that 28 Days’ Notice of Upcoming Key Decision is
given. Where it has not been possible to meet the 28 Days’ notice period a separate notice will be published in line with
Regulations 10 and 11.
Key decisions are executive decisions which are likely to:
(i) result in the Council incurring or making significant expenditure or savings, having regard to the budget for the
service or function concerned; or
(ii) have a significant effect on communities living or working in more than one ward.
Cabinet and Cabinet Member Non-Key Decisions are also included on the Plan.
All matters will be decided on the basis of a written report from the relevant Chief Officer.
Contact Officer
Toyin Shobowale, Committee Services Officer
Writing: The Town Hall, Wellington Street, London SE18 6PW
Telephone: 020 8921 5035
Email: toyin.shobowale@royalgreenwich.gov.uk
Anthony Soyinka, Committee Services Manager
Writing: The Town Hall, Wellington Street, London SE18 6PW
Telephone: 020 8921 2230
Email: anthony.soyinka@royalgreenwich.gov.uk
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Cabinet Member
Councillor Danny Thorpe
Councillor Denise Scott-McDonald
Councillor Adel Khaireh
Councillor Sarah Merrill
Councillor Matthew Morrow
Councillor Anthony Okereke
Councillor Linda Perks
Councillor Jackie Smith
Councillor Miranda Williams
Councillor Mariam Lolavar

Portfolio
(Leader and Chair of Cabinet) specific responsibility for Community and Corporate Services
(Deputy Leader and Vice-Chair of Cabinet), Regeneration and Good Growth
Culture and Communities
Environment, Sustainability and Transport
Children and Young People
Housing
Finance and Resources
Community Safety and Enforcement
Health and Adult’s Social Care
Business and Economic Growth

Chief Officers
Debbie Warren
Florence Kroll
Mirsad Bakalovic (Interim)
Damon Cook
Simon Pearce
Jamie Carswell
Pippa Hack
John Scarborough
Mirsad Bakalovic
Steve Whiteman

Directorate
Chief Executive (CE)
Director of Children’s Services (DCS)
Director of Communities and Environment (DCE)
Director of Finance (DoF )
Director of Health and Adult Services (DHAS)
Director of Housing and Safer Communities (DHSC)
Director of Regeneration, Enterprise and Skills (DRES )
Director of Legal Services (DoL)
Director of Improvement (DoI)
Director of Public Health (DHAS)

FORWARD PLAN June 2021 to September 2021
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Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Contact Officer

Wardname

Adoption of
Woolwich CAMS

Cabinet

22 Sep 21

Regeneration, Rebecca Duncan
All
Enterprise and Rebecca.Duncan@royalgreenwi
S
ch.gov.uk

No

Adoption of
Woolwich Town
Centre SPD

Cabinet

14 Jul 21

Regeneration,
Enterprise and
S

No

Agreement to the Cabinet
Borough Wide
Transport Strategy

17 Nov 21

Regeneration, Ryan Bunce, Transport Strategy All
Enterprise and Manager
S
Ryan.bunce@royalgreenwich.go
v.uk
020 8921 8023

Yes

Appropriation for
Planning Purposes
of Reifield Road
from the General
Fund to the
Housing Revenue
Account

Councillor Danny
Thorpe

30 Jul 21

Regeneration, Duncan Broe
All
Enterprise and Duncan.Broe@royalgreenwich.g
S
ov.uk

No

Appropriation for
Planning Purposes
part of the site at
Kidbrooke Park
Road from the
General Fund to
Housing Revenue
Account

Councillor Danny
Thorpe

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Duncan Broe
All
Enterprise and Duncan.Broe@royalgreenwich.g
S
ov.uk

No

All
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Key
Decision

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Contact Officer

Wardname

Approval of
consultation on
Local Plan Review
Big Themes
(Regulation 18)

Councillor Sarah
Merrill

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Lauren Brown, Planning Policy All
Enterprise and Officer
S
Lauren.Brown@royalgreenwich.
gov.uk
020 8921 3673

Yes

Award of a
Pippa Hack
contract for the
provision of
lamppost electric
vehicle charging
points and
associated services

10 Jun 21

Regeneration, Ryan Bunce, Transport Strategy All
Enterprise and Manager
S
Ryan.bunce@royalgreenwich.go
v.uk
020 8921 8023

Yes

Award of Contract
for Royal Borough
of Greenwich
Banking &
Merchant Acquirer
Services

Damon Cook

30 Jun 21

Finance and
Julian Gocool, Finance Manager All
Legal Services (Treasury & Pension Fund
Investment)
julian.gocool@royalgreenwich.g
ov.uk
020 8921 6015

Yes

Award of Contract Damon Cook
for the Provision of
Postal Goods and
Services

30 Jun 21

Finance and
Sue King, Financial Support
Legal Services Services Manager
Sue.king@royalgreenwich.gov.u
k
020 8921 5206

Yes

Award of Holiday
Councillor Danny
Activity Fund
Thorpe
Grants Programme

30 Jun 21

Children's
Services

No

Mike Keary, Lead Commissioner All
mike.keary@royalgreenwich.gov
.uk
020 8921 8245
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Key
Decision

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Contact Officer

Wardname

Award or Repairs Councillor Sarah
and Improvement Merrill
Contract at
Woolwich OTH and
Woolwich former
library GLLAB
building refurb and
increased use

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Kevin Orford, Programme
Woolwich, Riverside
Enterprise and Manager
S
kevin.orford@royalgreenwich.go
v.uk
020 8921 3367

Yes

Award Report for Jamie Carswell
the Installation of
Rising and Lateral
Mains Years 2 and
3

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Babatunde Olugbode
All
Babatunde.Olugbode@royalgree
nwich.gov.uk

Yes

Budget approval
Councillor Miranda
and Contract
Williams
Award Report for
the appointment of
Design & Build
main works
contractor for
Royall Hill
development

02 Jun 21

Regeneration, Duncan Broe and Ahmed Farah Greenwich, West
Enterprise and Duncan.Broe@royalgreenwich.g
S
ov.uk;
Ahmed.Farah@royalgreenwich.g
ov.uk;

Yes

Catherine Grove – Councillor Danny
Lease to Lady
Thorpe
Delves
Broughton/Double
Tree Hilton

30 Jun 21

Regeneration,
Enterprise and
S

No

CCRA Reconnecting Councillor Danny
Neighbours – Post Thorpe
Covid

04 Jun 21

Communities
and
Environment

All

Sarah Murphy
Charlton
Sarah.Murphy@royalgreenwich.
gov.uk
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Key
Decision

No

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Charlton Riverside Cabinet
Opportunity Area –
Infrastructure
agreement

14 Jul 21

Regeneration, David Falco, Regeneration &
Woolwich, Riverside
Enterprise and Development Manager
S
david.falco@royalgreenwich.gov
.uk
020 8921 2993

Yes

Community
Centres: Options
for leases and
maintenance

Cabinet

14 Jul 21

Regeneration, Jeremy Smalley, Assistant
Various
Enterprise and Director Regeneration
S
Jeremy.smalley@royalgreenwic
h.gov.uk
020 8921 2244

Yes

Community Land
Trust (CLT)
Procurement
Process

Pippa Hack

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Nicola York
Abbey, Wood, Blackheath,
Enterprise and Nicola.York@royalgreenwich.go Westcombe
S
v.uk

Yes

Consultation on
Draft Woolwich
CAMS

Councillor Sarah
Merrill

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Rebecca Duncan
All
Enterprise and Rebecca.Duncan@royalgreenwi
S
ch.gov.uk

No

Consultation on
Westcombe Park
Conservation Area
proposed Article 4
Direction

Councillor Sarah
Merrill

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Rebecca Duncan
All
Enterprise and Rebecca.Duncan@royalgreenwi
S
ch.gov.uk

No

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Devinder Gainda, Project
Middle, Park, and, Sutcliffe
Enterprise and Manager
S
devinder.gainda@royalgreenwic
h.gov.uk
020 8921 3109

Yes

Contract Award for Councillor Denise
Engineering Works Scott-McDonald
at Eltham Hill
School

Contact Officer

Wardname
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Key
Decision

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Contact Officer

Wardname

Contract Award
Jamie Carswell
Report for 3rd
Party Enforcement
Services in support
of Safer Spaces

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Sean McDermid
All
Sean.McDermid@royalgreenwic
h.gov.uk

Yes

Contract Award
Report for
Construction of
Hidden Homes

Jamie Carswell

30 Aug 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Christopher Parker
All
Christopher.Parker@royalgreen
wich.gov.uk

Yes

Contract Award
Jamie Carswell
report for contract
2727: Fire
Resisting Doorsets
(Escape Routes)

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Daniel Greenwood - Head of
All
Strategic Asset Management
Daniel.greenwood@royalgreenw
ich.gov.uk
020 8921 2341

Yes

Contract Award
Jamie Carswell
report for contract
2728: Fire Safety
(Common Parts)

30 Jun 21

Children's
Services

Daniel Greenwood - Head of
All
Strategic Asset Management
Daniel.greenwood@royalgreenw
ich.gov.uk
020 8921 2341

Yes

Contract Award
Jamie Carswell
report for contract
2730: Whole Block
Insulation (Pilot)
Projects

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Daniel Greenwood - Head of
Plumstead
Strategic Asset Management
Daniel.greenwood@royalgreenw
ich.gov.uk
020 8921 2341

Yes

Contract Award
Jamie Carswell
report for contract
2733: Flat Roof
Edge Protection

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Daniel Greenwood - Head of
Various
Strategic Asset Management
Daniel.greenwood@royalgreenw
ich.gov.uk
020 8921 2341

Yes
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Key
Decision

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Contact Officer

Wardname

Contract Award
Jamie Carswell
report for contract
2735: General
Roofing and
Associated Works

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Daniel Greenwood - Head of
Various
Strategic Asset Management
Daniel.greenwood@royalgreenw
ich.gov.uk
020 8921 2341

Yes

Contract Award
Jamie Carswell
report for contract
2743: Repairs and
Renewal of
Communal Heating
and Hot Water
Apparatus

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Daniel Greenwood, Head of
Various
Strategic Asset Management
daniel.greenwood@royalgreenw
ich.gov.uk
020 8921 2341

Yes

Contract Award
Jamie Carswell
Report for contract
2762: Langton
Way Adaptation
Work

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Daniel Greenwood
daniel.greenwood@royalgreenw
ich.gov.uk
020 8921 2341

Yes

Contract Award
Cabinet
Report for
contractor to build
Council homes at
Kidbrooke Park
Road

16 Jun 21

Regeneration, Duncan Broe
Blackheath, Westcombe
Enterprise and Duncan.Broe@royalgreenwich.g
S
ov.uk

Yes

Contract Award
Report for Damp
Rectification Work

Jamie Carswell

30 Aug 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Christopher Parker
All
Christopher.Parker@royalgreen
wich.gov.uk

Yes

Contract Award
Report for Door
Entry Installation

Jamie Carswell

30 Aug 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Mark Cawley
All
Mark.Cawley@royalgreenwich.g
ov.uk

Yes
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Key
Decision

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Contract Award
Pippa Hack
report for the
phase 2
decontamination at
Kidbrooke Park
Road

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Duncan Broe
All
Enterprise and Duncan.Broe@royalgreenwich.g
S
ov.uk

Yes

Contract Award
Jamie Carswell
Report for work to
Homeless People’s
Units

30 Aug 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Yes

Contract Standing
Orders Exemptions &
Variations

Cabinet

16 Jun 21

Finance and
William Jabang
Legal Services William.Jabang
@royalgreenwich.gov.uk

Contract Variation
with Imperial Civil
Enforcement
Solutions for
Procurement of
Additional CCTV
Enforcement
Cameras

Pippa Hack

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Kevin Hagan
All
Enterprise and Kevin.Hagan@royalgreenwich.g
S
ov.uk

Yes

14 Jul 21

Health and
Adults
Services

Yes

Developing a new Cabinet
model of day
opportunities for
people with
Learning Disability
– Decision to
consult on options

Contact Officer

Wardname

Christopher Parker
All
Christopher.Parker@royalgreen
wich.gov.uk
All

Karen Starkey
All
Karen.Starkey@royalgreenwich.
gov.uk
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Key
Decision

No

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Development
Financing of
Meridian Home
Start

Cabinet

14 Jul 21

Regeneration, Nick Simons, Housing New
All
Enterprise and Supply Manager
S
Nick.simons@royalgreenwich.go
v.uk
020 8921 6182

Yes

Discretionary Rate Councillor Danny
Relief 2021/22
Thorpe

30 Jun 21

Finance and
Trevor Holt
Legal Services Trevor.Holt
@royalgreenwich.gov.uk

Yes

Dispersal of Grant Councillor Danny
Funding - Welcome Thorpe
Back Fund

11 Jun 21

Regeneration, Patricia Salami
Enterprise and Patricia.Salami@royalgreenwich.
S
gov.uk

No

Drinking Fountain Councillor Danny
– Blackheath Royal Thorpe
Standard

04 Jun 21

Communities
and
Environment

No

DWP Restart
Programme Contract

09 Jun 21

Regeneration, Claire Hedderman
All
Enterprise and Claire.Hedderman@royalgreenw
S
ich.gov.uk

Yes

Elverson Road (EV) Councillor Sarah
Controlled Parking Merrill
Zone Review of
Parking Provisions

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Ryan Nibbs
Greenwich, West
Enterprise and Ryan.Nibbs@royalgreenwich.go
S
v.uk

No

Engagement of a
Jamie Carswell
partner to form a
Joint Venture to
install and operate
fibre infrastructure
within the Borough

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Yes

Debbie Warren

Contact Officer

Wardname

All

Sarah Murphy
All
Sarah.Murphy@royalgreenwich.
gov.uk

Nick Walker, Senior Strategic
Procurement Business Partner –
Housing and Safer Communities
nick.walker@royalgreenwich.go
v.uk
020 8921 3627
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Key
Decision

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Financial &
Councillor Danny
Payments Systems Thorpe
Replacement

29 Jul 22

Finance and
Kelly Scotford
All
Legal Services Kelly.Scotford@royalgreenwich.
gov.uk

Yes

Greenwich Living
Cabinet
Options - Outcome
of consultation with
service users and
families to
consolidate the
service

14 Jul 21

Health and
Adults
Services

Alix Laws
All
Alix.Laws@royalgreenwich.gov.
uk

Yes

Greenwich to
Woolwich
temporary
cyclewaycoordination and
funding

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Graham Nash
All
Enterprise and Graham.Nash@royalgreenwich.
S
gov.uk

Yes

HAS Consolidated Councillor Danny
Direct Awards for Thorpe
Accommodation
Based Support for
Learning Disability

30 Jun 21

Health and
Adults
Services

All

Yes

HAS Direct Award
for Mental Health
High Support
Accommodation

Councillor Danny
Thorpe

30 Jun 21

Health and
Adults
Services

Karen Starkey
All
Karen.Starkey@royalgreenwich.
gov.uk

Yes

Home Care and
Councillor Danny
Extra Care Support Thorpe
Tender

05 Jan 22

Health and
Adults
Services

Stuart Nichols, Service Manager, All
Commissioning
stuart.nichols@royalgreenwich.g
ov.uk
0208 921 4940

Yes

Pippa Hack

Contact Officer

Wardname
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Key
Decision

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Contact Officer

Wardname

Hospitality
Councillor Danny
Recovery Grants
Thorpe
(ARG Discretionary
Funding)

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Patricia Salami
All
Enterprise and Patricia.Salami@royalgreenwich.
S
gov.uk

Yes

Housing Building
Safety – Annual
Report

Cabinet

20 Oct 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Martin Cooke
Martin.Cooke
@royalgreenwich.gov.uk

All

Yes

Housing Capital
Programme 202224

Cabinet

14 Jul 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Edward Ehiorobo
All
Edward.Ehiorobo@royalgreenwi
ch.gov.uk

Yes

Introduction of
floating car club
operators in the
Royal Borough of
Greenwich

Councillor Sarah
Merrill

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Mohammed Chibou, Principal
All
Enterprise and Transport Planner
S
Mohammed.Chibou@royalgreen
wich.gov.uk
020 8921 8905

No

Making of CPO for
Woolwich Leisure
Centre Scheme

Cabinet

20 Oct 21

Regeneration, Chris Read
Woolwich, Riverside
Enterprise and Chris.Read@royalgreenwich.gov
S
.uk

Yes

Maryon Park
Playground
Enhancement

Councillor Danny
Thorpe

04 Jun 21

Communities
and
Environment

No

Mental Health
Accommodation
and Support

Sarah McClinton

30 Jun 21

Health and
Adults
Services

All

Stuart Nichols, Service Manager, All
Commissioning
stuart.nichols@royalgreenwich.g
ov.uk
020 8291 4940
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Key
Decision

Yes

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Parking and
Kerbside
Management
Strategy

Cabinet

20 Oct 21

Regeneration, Ryan Bunce, Transport Strategy All
Enterprise and Manager
S
Ryan.bunce@royalgreenwich.go
v.uk
020 8921 8023

Yes

Parking Design –
Work Programme
2021 / 2022

Pippa Hack

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Paul Nevard
All
Enterprise and Paul.Nevard@royalgreenwich.go
S
v.uk

Yes

Payroll & HR
System
Replacement

Councillor Danny
Thorpe

28 Oct 22

Finance and
All
Legal Services Kelly.Scotford@royalgreenwich.
gov.uk
Kelly Scotford

Yes

Payroll & HR
System
Replacement

Councillor Danny
Thorpe

28 Oct 22

Finance and
Kelly Scotford
All
Legal Services Kelly.Scotford@royalgreenwich.
gov.uk

Yes

Pension & Pension Councillor Danny
Payroll System
Thorpe
Replacement

28 Oct 22

Finance and
Kelly Scotford
All
Legal Services Kelly.Scotford@royalgreenwich.
gov.uk

Yes

Proposed changes
to the provision of
enforcement on
Council Estates

14 Jul 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Yes

Cabinet

Renewal of the
Jamie Carswell
communal heating,
hot water and cold
water services at
Ernest Dence

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Contact Officer

Wardname

All

Key
Decision

Sean.McDermid@royalgreenwic
h.gov.uk
Sarah Butler, H2020 Sharing
Greenwich, West
Cities Programme Coordinator
sarah.butler@royalgreenwich.go
v.uk
020 8921 8923
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Yes

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Contact Officer

Wardname

REPAIRS &
INVESTMENT:
VARIATION
REPORT for 118 128 GAVESTONE
ROAD UNDERPINNING
WORKS

Jamie Carswell

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Daniel Greenwood, Head of
Middle, Park, and, Sutcliffe
Strategic Asset Management
Daniel.greenwood@royalgreenw
ich.gov.uk
020 8921 2341

Yes

Repairs &
Investments
Scheme 2674:Variations on
Frances Street &
Samuel Street
Project

Jamie Carswell

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Daniel Greenwood - Head of
Woolwich, Riverside
Strategic Asset Management
Daniel.greenwood@royalgreenw
ich.gov.uk
020 8921 2341

Yes

Repairs and
Jamie Carswell
Investment:
198/200
SIBTHORPE ROAD;
29 PLUM LANE &
115 RIEFIELD
ROAD:
Underpinning and
Remedial Works

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Daniel Greenwood - Head of
Plumstead
Strategic Asset Management
Daniel.greenwood@royalgreenw
ich.gov.uk
020 8921 2341

Yes

Report to Re-direct Jamie Carswell
Particular budgets

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Joyce Onono
All
Joyce.Onono@royalgreenwich.g
ov.uk

Yes
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Key
Decision

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Resolution to adopt Cabinet
Part V of The
London Local
Authorities Act
2000 to Implement
a Street
Entertainment
Policy

16 Jun 21

Regeneration, Gerard Antony, Markets &
All
Enterprise and Street Trading Manager
S
Gerard.antony@royalgreenwich.
gov.uk
020 8921 3824

Yes

Revenues and
Benefits System
Replacement

29 Oct 21

Finance and
Kelly Scotford
All
Legal Services Kelly.Scotford@royalgreenwich.
gov.uk

Yes

Review of
Debbie Warren
parliamentary and
local government
polling districts and
polling places –
2021 interim
review

30 Jun 21

Communities
and
Environment

James Pack
James.Pack@royalgreenwich.go
v.uk

Yes

Review of
Statement of
Gambling Policy

Cabinet

17 Nov 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Ian Andrews, Head of Trading All
Standards & Commercial
Environmental Health
ian.andrews@royalgreenwich.go
v.uk

No

Royal Arsenal –
Buildings 40 and
41 - Letting
arrangements”
WCD Trust Lease

Councillor Danny
Thorpe

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Richard Atkins, Senior Valuer
Woolwich, Riverside
Enterprise and Richard.Atkins@royalgreenwich.
S
gov.uk
020 8921 3522.

Councillor Danny
Thorpe

Contact Officer

Wardname
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Key
Decision

Yes

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Royal Borough of Jamie Carswell
Greenwich Air
Quality Action Plan

30 Jun 21

Royal Borough of
Greenwich
Community
Protection Teamchanges to the
provision of out of
hours response
service (including
noise)

Cabinet

Royal Borough of
Greenwich
Construction
Management Plan
monitoring
proposals

Wardname

Key
Decision

Housing and
Safer
Communities

All

Yes

14 Jul 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

All

Yes

Jamie Carswell

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Ella Smallcombe
All
Ella.Smallcombe@royalgreenwic
h.gov.uk

Yes

Royal Borough of Jamie Carswell
Greenwich Housing
Stock Modelling
and Integrated
Database

30 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

All

Yes

Royal Borough of
Greenwich
Safeguarding
Adults Board
Annual Report
2020-21

14 Jul 21

Health and
Adults
Services

Cabinet

Contact Officer

Helen Bonnewell, Safeguarding All
Adults Board Manager
Helen.Bonnewell@royalgreenwi
ch.gov.uk
020 8921 2378
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No

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Safeguarding
Cabinet
Adults Board
Annual report 2020
-21

14 Jul 21

Health and
Adults
Services

Scheme and
Councillor Sarah
Estimate report for Merrill
the Youth Hub
Provision & The
Point Relocation
project

Contact Officer

Wardname

Key
Decision

All

No

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Dean Bresnahan
All
Enterprise and Dean.Bresnahan@royalgreenwic
S
h.gov.uk

No

Selective Licensing Cabinet

16 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Yes

Strategic Cycle
Councillor Sarah
Routes - Greenwich Merrill
Park to Shooters
Hill Phase 2 and
Eltham to
Greenwich Park

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Mario Lecordier, Interim
Enterprise and Assistant Director
S
mario.lecordier@royalgreenwich
.gov.uk
020 8921 4777

Supply of
Damon Cook
Enforcement
Agency Services to
The Royal Borough
of Greenwich

30 Jun 21

Finance and
Cathy Howell, Head of Debt &
All
Legal Services Financial Support Services
cathy.howell@royalgreenwich.g
ov.uk
020 8921 5266

Yes

Traffic
Cabinet
Management
Orders for Housing
Estates

16 Jun 21

Housing and
Safer
Communities

Yes

Ella Smallcombe, Acting Head of Glyndon, Plumstead, Shooters, Hill,
Environmental Health
Woolwich, Common, Woolwich,
ella.smallcombe@royalgreenwic Riverside
h.gov.uk
020 8921 2119

Richard Parkin, AD Housing
Richard.parkin@royalgreenwich.
gov.uk
020 8921 3065
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Blackheath, Westcombe, Charlton,
Yes
Eltham, North, Eltham, South, Eltham,
West, Greenwich, West, Kidbrooke,
with, Hornfair, Middle, Park, and,
Sutcliffe

Matter to be
decided

Who the decision
will be taken by

When the
decision will
be taken

Directorate

Contact Officer

Wardname

Tramshed Lease
Arrangements

Councillor Danny
Thorpe

30 Jun 21

Regeneration, Michael Frankish
All
Enterprise and Michael.Frankish@royalgreenwic
S
h.gov.uk

Yes

Transfer of
Apprenticeship
Levy Funds
2021/22

Councillor Danny
Thorpe

04 Jun 21

Regeneration, Fiona Apio-Matanda
All
Enterprise and Fiona.ApioS
Matanda@royalgreenwich.gov.u
k

No

Winter Gardens,
Avery Hill Park,
Proposed
Acquisition

Cabinet

17 Nov 21

Regeneration, Michael Frankish
All
Enterprise and Michael.Frankish@royalgreenwic
S
h.gov.uk

Yes

Woolwich Estate
Development
Agreement: Deed
of Variation

Cabinet

14 Jul 21

Regeneration, Nick Simons
All
Enterprise and Nick.Simons@royalgreenwich.go
S
v.uk

Yes

Woolwich
Cabinet
Exchange (formally
Spray Street
Development)
Deed of Variation
to the Conditional
Land Sale
Agreement (CLSA)

14 Jul 21

Regeneration, David Falco, Regeneration &
Woolwich, Riverside
Enterprise and Development Manager
S
David.falco@royalgreenwich.go
v.uk
020 8921 2993

Yes

Woolwich Works – Councillor Danny
Buildings 17/18
Thorpe
and 19 – Letting to
Punchdrunk –
Revised Terms

24 Jun 21

Regeneration, Richard Atkins and Sarah Abley, Woolwich, Riverside
Enterprise and Head of Communications
S
Richard.Atkins@royalgreenwich.
gov.uk

No
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Key
Decision

